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Transmittal certificate

Joy Burch MLA
Speaker
Legislative Assembly for the ACT
London Circuit
Canberra ACT 2601

Dear Madam Speaker

Re: Office of the Legislative Assembly Annual Report 2019-2020

I am pleased to submit for your information and presentation to the Legislative Assembly for the 
ACT this annual report of the Office of the Legislative Assembly (the Office) for the year ended 
30 June 2020.

Pursuant to section 7B of the Annual Reports (Government Agencies) Act 2004, the Office is 
required to prepare a report that includes an account of its management during the reporting
year. As you are aware, the Office is not required to comply with annual report directions made 
by the minister in accordance with section 8 of the Act; nonetheless, the Office endeavours to do
so wherever appropriate.

I commend the report to you and trust that you find it informative.

Tom Duncan
Clerk

Legislative Assembly for the ACT

October 2020
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The Clerk’s overview 2019-2020 
Like all other organisations, the Office of the Legislative Assembly has needed to make significant 
changes to its operating procedures during this reporting period, in response to the coronavirus 
pandemic. For the Assembly, this has included a revised sitting calendar and seating 
arrangements in the chamber, closing the building to the public, and working from home 
arrangements for members and staff.  

Despite the considerable challenges this has presented, the Office has achieved a number of 
significant objectives in the reporting period, including: 

• refreshing the design and navigation of the Assembly’s primary website; 

• ongoing capital works projects; and 

• business improvement projects to develop new digital systems and workflows and improve 
the way the Assembly’s archived records are maintained. 

In the first half of the reporting period, prior to the pandemic, the Assembly (via the Office) co-
hosted the Australasian Study of Parliament Group (ASPG) annual conference, together with our 
colleagues at Parliament House. The conference was attended by delegates from around 
Australia and New Zealand, including staff from the Office. The theme of the conference was 
‘Parliaments navigating disruption’, and the sessions gave an interesting insight and generated 
useful discussions into how disruption is impacting on our broader environments. 

Looking ahead, the Office’s priorities for 2020-2021 include: 

• preparations for the Tenth Assembly, including induction of new members and their staff, 
and making arrangements for office accommodation and sittings; 

• the finalisation of new HR payroll and induction systems; 

• the implementation of digital Assembly projects; 

• the finalisation of the members’ entrance and HVAC building works; 

• further work associated with the government office block next to the Assembly building, 
which is opening in early 2021; and 

• the finalisation of the second edition of the Companion to the standing orders of the 
Legislative Assembly for the Australian Capital Territory. 

I thank all Office staff for their dedication and hard work in supporting the Assembly during the 
past year, and for meeting the challenges presented to us during the global pandemic. I know 
that members, their staff and the wider ACT public sector recognise the Office’s contribution to 
the good governance of the Territory. 

Tom Duncan 
Clerk 

 

 

 

2019-2020 at a glance 
COVID-19 

Against the backdrop of the global pandemic, the Office developed and implemented a range of 
strategies to manage the array of health and safety and business continuity risks confronting the 
Assembly and its committees, including: 

• the design of additional purpose-built furniture and recording equipment to facilitate 
physical distancing requirements to be observed during sittings of the Assembly; 

• the development of alternative arrangements for committee proceedings, including the 
conduct of remote public hearings; 

• adoption of room limits, deployment of hand sanitiser and implementation of additional 
cleaning across the precincts;  

• deployment of signage across the precincts advising on physical distancing and isolation 
requirements and good hygiene practices; and 

• implementation of home-based working arrangements.  

Legislation 

The Office facilitated the presentation of 52 executive bills and seven private members’ bills in the 
Legislative Assembly and arranged for the notification of 54 passed bills. The Office also processed 
391 items of subordinate legislation. 

Questioning the executive 

The Office supported members in their scrutiny of the executive, processing 588 questions on 
notice. During the reporting period, 1,336 questions without notice were asked (includes 
supplementary questions without notice). 

Committees 

The Office supported nine standing committees and five select committees, which presented 49 
reports. During the reporting period 288 committee meetings were held, 188 submissions were 
received, and 651 witnesses gave evidence. Three select committees tabled their reports and 
were dissolved during the reporting period, one was disestablished, and one was continuing its 
inquiries as at 30 June. The year saw the successful introduction of committee proceedings 
conducted entirely over videoconferencing applications to facilitate social distancing during the 
COVID-19 pandemic. 

Ensuites and kitchenette upgrade 

The Office completed the last phase of a project that commenced in 2018-2019 to update a 
number of Assembly building ensuites and kitchenettes that had reached the end of their useful 
life. This phase of the work included the updating of three ensuites and 11 kitchenettes, and was 
completed at a total cost of $248,000.  
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Members’ entrance security upgrade 

The Office completed the first phase of the upgrade to the members’ entrance to the Assembly 
building, which included remodelling the attendants’ station and lobby area, and the installation 
of speed gates. This phase of the work was completed at a total cost of $367,000. The second 
and last phase of the project includes the laying of new pavers on the southern and western 
colonnades of the Assembly building, and the building of a secure vestibule as the main entry to 
the members’ entrance. The total budget for this project (including phase one works) is 
$900,000. 

Assembly building HVAC upgrade 

The Office commenced this upgrade project, which includes heating, ventilation and cooling 
(HVAC) plant and equipment for the ground floor of the Assembly building. The project is 
currently underway, with the planning, design and procurement phases of the project complete. 
It is anticipated that the full project will be completed no later than February 2021. The total 
budget for this project is $832,000. 

Education program 

The pandemic disrupted regular business, resulting in a significant reduction in people visiting 
the Assembly and the suspension of school excursions and regular programs from March 2020. 

Assembly library 

The library underwent a staffing restructure, migrated to a new library management system, 
launched a new webpage, streamlined book purchasing and print journal purchasing operations 
and upgraded its digital repository. 

Revised website 

The structure of the Legislative Assembly website was redesigned to make the site easier to use, 
and the site was given a new look and feel with the implementation of new style sheets and 
graphic design.  

The search functionality of the website was enhanced to give users more control over the search 
parameters and deliver better search results. 

New payroll system (HROnline) 

The office evaluated a number of options to replace the payroll system that had operated for 
several decades and implemented the Aurion system, which has the functionality for online 
lodgement and approval of time sheets and leave requests. 

Assembly archival project 

The Office’s project to review its ‘retain as Territory archive’ records and to develop a digitisation 
strategy continued, with Office staff making steady progress in removing contaminants from the 
collection and enabling repacking to ensure that the records are stored in an ideal manner. These 
measures will prolong the life of most of these paper records, delaying the need for digitisation. 

  

 

 

Digitising workflows 

The Office evaluated workflow software for the lodgement and answering of questions in the 
Assembly and its committees and for the effective administration of committee workflows. Staff 
assessed the capabilities of an off-the-shelf-product and participated in a number of workshops 
to determine what would need to be modified to ensure the system met the Assembly’s 
requirements. 

Hansard 

Preliminary trials of speech-to-text transcription software were undertaken before the 
coronavirus outbreak, but the amended Assembly sitting pattern and altered working 
arrangements precluded further trials during the reporting period. 

One staff member represented the ACT at the Australasian Pacific Hansard Editors Association 
conference in Sydney in January 2020, where delegates reported on their experience of 
emerging transcription and publishing software, as well as shared staffing and language 
challenges. 

Photo 1: Australasian Pacific Hansard Editors Association 2020 conference delegates, 
Parliament of New South Wales (Source: Department of Parliamentary Services, NSW 
Parliament) 
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ACT Integrity Commission 

The Office continued to assist the ACT Integrity Commissioner with administrative 
responsibilities during the majority of the reporting period. This included assisting with 
coordinating the recruitment of a Chief Executive Officer, securing temporary accommodation 
for the commission, as well as providing human resource and financial support services. 
Assistance to the commission by the Office concluded in early February 2020.  

ANZACATT 

As reported in last year’s annual report, the Office was scheduled to host the Australia and New 
Zealand Association of Clerks-at-the-Table professional development seminar in late January 
2020. Due to poor air quality issues associated with the unprecedented bushfire season, the 
seminar program was cancelled. 

 

 

 

The year ahead 
Tenth Assembly 

With the ACT election taking place on 17 October 2020, the Office will be fully engaged in the 
transition to the Tenth Assembly, including by: 

• updating procedural and guidance documents; 

• coordinating office accommodation and facilities for members; 

• undertaking payroll and HR establishment for new members and staff; 

• developing induction arrangements, including seminars for new members;  

• updating displays, the Assembly website and other communication materials; and 

• the deployment of art works. 

Committee structure 

The Office will provide advice and support to the Tenth Assembly in establishing a system for its 
committees. The Standing Committee on Administration and Procedure of the Ninth Assembly is 
inquiring into possible committee arrangements and will report early in 2020-2021. 

COVID-19 

The global coronavirus pandemic will continue to present a range of risks and challenges that will 
need to be effectively managed by the Office, members and staff, and the Assembly’s workplace 
health and safety committee. 

Second edition of the Companion to the standing orders 

The Office anticipates that the publication of the second edition of the Companion to the 
standing orders of the Legislative Assembly for the Australian Capital Territory will occur by the 
end of the forthcoming reporting period. 

Hansard 

A database for questions on notice is being adopted by the Office which, when fully 
implemented, will result in questions and answers being available on the Assembly website for 
viewing and searching. This will eliminate the need for questions on notice to be processed and 
published by Hansard. Further investigation of speech-to-text transcription software is planned 
for 2021—global situation permitting—with a view to reducing transcription costs. 

Library 

In 2020-2021 the library will continue to evaluate its onsite collection, removing material that is 
out of date or no longer relevant, and identifying gaps in the collection. This work was halted by 
COVID-19 and the move to working from home arrangements in March 2020. The library will 
also investigate the implementation of a proxy server, which would be used to better manage 
authentication for online subscriptions. 
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Building works 

The Office will continue to progress the building works identified earlier in this report (see under 
the heading ‘2019-2020 at a glance’). As noted previously, this will include finalising phase two of 
the project to redesign the members’ entrance and adjacent paving, and installing new HVAC 
systems for the ground floor of the Assembly building. 

Assembly archival project 

The Office expects to complete, or substantially complete, the assessment of its archived records 
and to have removed contaminants and relocated these records to more durable, long-term 
storage conditions. Records in a poor condition will be identified and digitised before they 
become irreparably damaged. The project will also guide Office procedures for receiving or 
generating Territory archives to eliminate, where possible, the presence of contaminants in the 
future. 

Digitising workflows 

During the next 12 months, the Office will be implementing workflow solutions for questions on 
notice and committee administration. This will benefit participants in public inquiries, who will 
be able to make committee submissions directly through the website; MLAs, who will be able to 
submit questions on notice online; and staff, who will be able to focus on core activities as the 
system will automate a number of manual tasks. 

Website redesign 

As the workflow system moves into production, the website will be updated to allow pages to be 
automatically updated directly from the system. This will ensure that the site is always displaying 
accurate and up-to-date information.  

This will be the first steps in creating a portal on the website that will provide increased 
opportunities for the general public to interact with the Assembly online. 

 

OFFICE OF THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY ANNUAL REPORT 2019-2010

200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   10200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   10 9/28/20   12:30 PM9/28/20   12:30 PM



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Performance 
reporting 

 

 

Building works 

The Office will continue to progress the building works identified earlier in this report (see under 
the heading ‘2019-2020 at a glance’). As noted previously, this will include finalising phase two of 
the project to redesign the members’ entrance and adjacent paving, and installing new HVAC 
systems for the ground floor of the Assembly building. 

Assembly archival project 

The Office expects to complete, or substantially complete, the assessment of its archived records 
and to have removed contaminants and relocated these records to more durable, long-term 
storage conditions. Records in a poor condition will be identified and digitised before they 
become irreparably damaged. The project will also guide Office procedures for receiving or 
generating Territory archives to eliminate, where possible, the presence of contaminants in the 
future. 

Digitising workflows 

During the next 12 months, the Office will be implementing workflow solutions for questions on 
notice and committee administration. This will benefit participants in public inquiries, who will 
be able to make committee submissions directly through the website; MLAs, who will be able to 
submit questions on notice online; and staff, who will be able to focus on core activities as the 
system will automate a number of manual tasks. 

Website redesign 

As the workflow system moves into production, the website will be updated to allow pages to be 
automatically updated directly from the system. This will ensure that the site is always displaying 
accurate and up-to-date information.  

This will be the first steps in creating a portal on the website that will provide increased 
opportunities for the general public to interact with the Assembly online. 

 

200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   11200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   11 9/28/20   12:30 PM9/28/20   12:30 PM



 

 

Organisational overview 
The Office of the Legislative Assembly, headed by the Clerk, supports the Assembly as the 
democratic body responsible for considering and passing laws, holding the executive to account 
and representing the people of the ACT. 

Section 6 of the Legislative Assembly (Office of the Legislative Assembly) Act 2012 (the Act) provides 
that the function of the Office is to: 

… provide impartial advice and support to the Legislative Assembly, its committees and 
members of the Assembly … 

The Office is established as an independent statutory agency under the Act. Section 6 states that 
the functions of the Office include: 

• providing advice on parliamentary practice and procedure and the functions of the 
Assembly and committees; 

• reporting proceedings of the Assembly and meetings of committees; 

• maintaining an official record of proceedings of the Assembly; 

• providing library and information facilities and services for members; 

• providing staff to enable the Assembly and committees to operate efficiently; 

• providing business support functions, including administering the entitlements of members 
who are not part of the executive; 

• maintaining the Assembly precincts (including, through the Legislative Assembly Precincts 
Act 2001, providing security services); and 

• providing public education about the function of the Assembly and committees. 

The Office has functions under other legislation, including the Legislative Assembly (Broadcasting) 
Act 2001 and the Legislative Assembly Precincts Act 2001. The Clerk and staff of the Office also 
perform a wide range of core parliamentary roles arising from the Assembly’s standing orders 
and continuing resolutions, and parliamentary practice and procedure. 

Accountability 

All staff within the Office are accountable to the Clerk. The Office is accountable for its 
performance not to the executive but to the Assembly as a whole, through the Speaker. 

The Office’s approach 

The Office’s strategic plan for 2018-2021 sets out the values and factors that are likely to impact 
on its performance. It also states the Office’s objectives and the strategies it will adopt to achieve 
its objectives. 

  

 

 

The Office’s objectives 

The Office’s objectives are to: 

• Support the Assembly as a democratic institution—the Office will work to facilitate and 
strengthen the legislative, accountability and representative functions of the Assembly 
and its committees, including enhancing understanding and awareness of the work of the 
Assembly and promoting opportunities to become involved. 

• Support and advise members of the Legislative Assembly—the Office will provide high 
quality and timely advisory and administrative services, enabling members of the 
Legislative Assembly to participate effectively in the work of the Assembly and its 
committees and to undertake their constituency related roles. 

• Maintain and build internal organisational capabilities—through effective decision-
making, internal communication and information sharing, and staff engagement and 
resource management, the Office will achieve high levels of performance (delivering high 
quality, timely and cost-efficient support and advice) and compliance (operating in 
conformity with legislation, policies and parliamentary law). 

Values 

Professionalism 

• The Office values its professional relationships with members, their staff, the ACT 
community, the public sector and the wider community of parliaments. 

• The Office shows respect—having due regard for people, their viewpoints and their 
aspirations—in all its professional relationships. 

• The Office is conscientious, knowledgeable and prudent in the way that it goes about doing 
its work. 

Independence 

• The Office values its independence from the executive. 

• The Office values the checks and balances embodied by the ACT’s form of government, 
established in the Australian Capital Territory (Self-Government) Act 1988, in which there are 
three separate and distinct branches of government (the legislature, the executive and the 
judiciary). 

• The Office values the principles and guidelines embodied in the Latimer House Principles 
as a clear statement of the best practice operation of, and relationship between, the three 
branches of government. 

Honesty and integrity 

• The Office is honest and stands up for its values in all its dealings. 

Impartiality 

• The Office provides advice and support to members and the Assembly without fear, favour 
or bias. 

Transparency 

• The Office is open about how it performs its roles and the decisions it makes. 
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Organisational overview 
The Office of the Legislative Assembly, headed by the Clerk, supports the Assembly as the 
democratic body responsible for considering and passing laws, holding the executive to account 
and representing the people of the ACT. 

Section 6 of the Legislative Assembly (Office of the Legislative Assembly) Act 2012 (the Act) provides 
that the function of the Office is to: 

… provide impartial advice and support to the Legislative Assembly, its committees and 
members of the Assembly … 

The Office is established as an independent statutory agency under the Act. Section 6 states that 
the functions of the Office include: 

• providing advice on parliamentary practice and procedure and the functions of the 
Assembly and committees; 

• reporting proceedings of the Assembly and meetings of committees; 

• maintaining an official record of proceedings of the Assembly; 

• providing library and information facilities and services for members; 

• providing staff to enable the Assembly and committees to operate efficiently; 

• providing business support functions, including administering the entitlements of members 
who are not part of the executive; 

• maintaining the Assembly precincts (including, through the Legislative Assembly Precincts 
Act 2001, providing security services); and 

• providing public education about the function of the Assembly and committees. 

The Office has functions under other legislation, including the Legislative Assembly (Broadcasting) 
Act 2001 and the Legislative Assembly Precincts Act 2001. The Clerk and staff of the Office also 
perform a wide range of core parliamentary roles arising from the Assembly’s standing orders 
and continuing resolutions, and parliamentary practice and procedure. 

Accountability 

All staff within the Office are accountable to the Clerk. The Office is accountable for its 
performance not to the executive but to the Assembly as a whole, through the Speaker. 

The Office’s approach 

The Office’s strategic plan for 2018-2021 sets out the values and factors that are likely to impact 
on its performance. It also states the Office’s objectives and the strategies it will adopt to achieve 
its objectives. 

  

 

 

The Office’s objectives 

The Office’s objectives are to: 

• Support the Assembly as a democratic institution—the Office will work to facilitate and 
strengthen the legislative, accountability and representative functions of the Assembly 
and its committees, including enhancing understanding and awareness of the work of the 
Assembly and promoting opportunities to become involved. 

• Support and advise members of the Legislative Assembly—the Office will provide high 
quality and timely advisory and administrative services, enabling members of the 
Legislative Assembly to participate effectively in the work of the Assembly and its 
committees and to undertake their constituency related roles. 

• Maintain and build internal organisational capabilities—through effective decision-
making, internal communication and information sharing, and staff engagement and 
resource management, the Office will achieve high levels of performance (delivering high 
quality, timely and cost-efficient support and advice) and compliance (operating in 
conformity with legislation, policies and parliamentary law). 

Values 

Professionalism 

• The Office values its professional relationships with members, their staff, the ACT 
community, the public sector and the wider community of parliaments. 

• The Office shows respect—having due regard for people, their viewpoints and their 
aspirations—in all its professional relationships. 

• The Office is conscientious, knowledgeable and prudent in the way that it goes about doing 
its work. 

Independence 

• The Office values its independence from the executive. 

• The Office values the checks and balances embodied by the ACT’s form of government, 
established in the Australian Capital Territory (Self-Government) Act 1988, in which there are 
three separate and distinct branches of government (the legislature, the executive and the 
judiciary). 

• The Office values the principles and guidelines embodied in the Latimer House Principles 
as a clear statement of the best practice operation of, and relationship between, the three 
branches of government. 

Honesty and integrity 

• The Office is honest and stands up for its values in all its dealings. 

Impartiality 

• The Office provides advice and support to members and the Assembly without fear, favour 
or bias. 

Transparency 

• The Office is open about how it performs its roles and the decisions it makes. 

OFFICE OF THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY ANNUAL REPORT 2019–2020 13

200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   13200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   13 9/28/20   12:30 PM9/28/20   12:30 PM



 

 

The Office’s relationships 

In addition to supporting the Assembly as an institution, the Office works with a range of different 
people and organisations, including: 

• non-executive members and their staff; 

• ministers and their staff; 

• members of the ACT community; 

• the ACT public sector; 

• Officers of the Legislative Assembly (the Auditor-General, Integrity Commissioner, and 
members of the Electoral Commission); 

• educational institutions; 

• participants in committee inquiries; 

• inter-parliamentary organisations, other parliaments and their members; and 

• the media. 

Structure of the Office 

The Office is organised into three branches. 

The Office of the Clerk 

The Office of the Clerk is responsible for governance and procedural matters, interparliamentary 
relations, parliamentary education and public affairs. 

Parliamentary Support Branch 

The Parliamentary Support Branch is responsible for advising and supporting key parliamentary 
activities, including: 

• Chamber support—providing administrative and procedural advice and support to the 
operation of the chamber. 

• Committee support—providing administrative and procedural advice and support to the 
Assembly standing and select committees. 

• Hansard—providing transcripts of Assembly and committee proceedings. 

• Assembly library—providing library information and reference services for MLAs, their 
staff, Office staff and other ACT public sector employees. 

  

 

 

Business Support Branch 

The Business Support Branch is responsible for servicing and advising non-executive members, 
their staff, the Clerk and Office staff in relation to a range of key functions, including: 

• Finance—financial and budgetary management services. 

• Human resources and entitlements—HR, payroll and entitlements advisory services. 

• Information and digital services—ICT, records management and broadcasting services. 

• Security and building services—security, facilities and building management services. 

Photo 2: Human resources and entitlements team. Emma Rogers (left), Samantha Dalliston 
(back, centre), Tanya von Demleux (front centre), Michelle Polkinghorne (right). 

 

Executive Management Committee 

The Office’s executive management committee (EMC) is responsible for the overall governance 
of the Office: financial management, strategic direction and policy. It is composed of the Clerk; 
the Deputy Clerk and Serjeant-at-Arms; the Executive Manager; the Senior Director, Office of the 
Clerk; and the Chief Finance Officer. The secretariat function is performed by the Clerk’s 
Executive Officer. 
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The Office’s relationships 

In addition to supporting the Assembly as an institution, the Office works with a range of different 
people and organisations, including: 

• non-executive members and their staff; 

• ministers and their staff; 

• members of the ACT community; 

• the ACT public sector; 

• Officers of the Legislative Assembly (the Auditor-General, Integrity Commissioner, and 
members of the Electoral Commission); 

• educational institutions; 

• participants in committee inquiries; 

• inter-parliamentary organisations, other parliaments and their members; and 

• the media. 

Structure of the Office 

The Office is organised into three branches. 

The Office of the Clerk 

The Office of the Clerk is responsible for governance and procedural matters, interparliamentary 
relations, parliamentary education and public affairs. 

Parliamentary Support Branch 

The Parliamentary Support Branch is responsible for advising and supporting key parliamentary 
activities, including: 

• Chamber support—providing administrative and procedural advice and support to the 
operation of the chamber. 

• Committee support—providing administrative and procedural advice and support to the 
Assembly standing and select committees. 

• Hansard—providing transcripts of Assembly and committee proceedings. 

• Assembly library—providing library information and reference services for MLAs, their 
staff, Office staff and other ACT public sector employees. 

  

 

 

Business Support Branch 

The Business Support Branch is responsible for servicing and advising non-executive members, 
their staff, the Clerk and Office staff in relation to a range of key functions, including: 

• Finance—financial and budgetary management services. 

• Human resources and entitlements—HR, payroll and entitlements advisory services. 

• Information and digital services—ICT, records management and broadcasting services. 

• Security and building services—security, facilities and building management services. 

Photo 2: Human resources and entitlements team. Emma Rogers (left), Samantha Dalliston 
(back, centre), Tanya von Demleux (front centre), Michelle Polkinghorne (right). 

 

Executive Management Committee 

The Office’s executive management committee (EMC) is responsible for the overall governance 
of the Office: financial management, strategic direction and policy. It is composed of the Clerk; 
the Deputy Clerk and Serjeant-at-Arms; the Executive Manager; the Senior Director, Office of the 
Clerk; and the Chief Finance Officer. The secretariat function is performed by the Clerk’s 
Executive Officer. 
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Figure 1: Organisational structure of the Office of the Legislative Assembly as at 30 June 2020 
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Assembly proceedings 
Chamber proceedings 

In 2019-2020, the Office provided procedural services to members and their staff facilitating the 
efficient functioning of the business of the Assembly on 32 sitting days. The following chart 
compares the chamber activity in 2018-2019 with 2019-2020. 

Figure 2: Chamber activity in 2019-2020 compared with 2018-2019 reporting period 

 

A full range of statistics on the business of the Assembly for this and previous years is included in 
the appendices section of this report. 

Assembly committees 

Committees contribute to the work of the ACT Legislative Assembly by inquiring into and 
reporting on a broad range of issues. By conducting inquiries, the committee process ensures 
that executive government is accountable to the Legislative Assembly and that members of the 
community have opportunities to participate in the governance of the Territory. 

Committee inquiries can arise from direct referral by the Legislative Assembly, as a result of 
statutory requirements, or as determined by individual committees through self-referral. 

The Office has supported the following nine standing committees, eight of which were 
established in 2016. The Standing Committee on the Integrity Commission was established on 1 
November 2018: 

• Standing Committee on Administration and Procedure; 

• Standing Committee on Economic Development and Tourism; 

• Standing Committee on Education, Employment and Youth Affairs; 

• Standing Committee on Environment and Transport and City Services; 
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Figure 1: Organisational structure of the Office of the Legislative Assembly as at 30 June 2020 
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Assembly proceedings 
Chamber proceedings 

In 2019-2020, the Office provided procedural services to members and their staff facilitating the 
efficient functioning of the business of the Assembly on 32 sitting days. The following chart 
compares the chamber activity in 2018-2019 with 2019-2020. 

Figure 2: Chamber activity in 2019-2020 compared with 2018-2019 reporting period 

 

A full range of statistics on the business of the Assembly for this and previous years is included in 
the appendices section of this report. 

Assembly committees 

Committees contribute to the work of the ACT Legislative Assembly by inquiring into and 
reporting on a broad range of issues. By conducting inquiries, the committee process ensures 
that executive government is accountable to the Legislative Assembly and that members of the 
community have opportunities to participate in the governance of the Territory. 

Committee inquiries can arise from direct referral by the Legislative Assembly, as a result of 
statutory requirements, or as determined by individual committees through self-referral. 

The Office has supported the following nine standing committees, eight of which were 
established in 2016. The Standing Committee on the Integrity Commission was established on 1 
November 2018: 

• Standing Committee on Administration and Procedure; 

• Standing Committee on Economic Development and Tourism; 

• Standing Committee on Education, Employment and Youth Affairs; 

• Standing Committee on Environment and Transport and City Services; 
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• Standing Committee on Health, Ageing and Community Services; 

• Standing Committee on the Integrity Commission; 

• Standing Committee on Justice and Community Safety (also performs a legislative scrutiny 
role); 

• Standing Committee on Planning and Urban Renewal; and 

• Standing Committee on Public Accounts. 

The Office also supported the following select committees during the reporting period: 

• Select Committee on Estimates 2019-2020, established 21 February 2019, which 
presented its report to the Assembly on 30 July 2019; 

• Select Committee on Estimates 2020-2021, established 20 February 2020 and 
disestablished on 2 April 2020 as a result of the postponement of the ACT budget due to 
COVID-19; 

• Select Committee on Fuel Pricing, established 14 February 2019, which presented its 
report to the Assembly on 17 September 2019; 

• Select Committee on Privileges 2019, established 4 April 2019, which presented its report 
to the Assembly on 30 July 2020; and 

• Select Committee on the COVID-19 pandemic response, established 2 April 2020 and 
continuing its inquiry as at 30 June 2020. 

Committee membership 

Committee composition reflects the party configuration of the Assembly, as required by standing 
order 221. 

Standing committees had three members during the reporting period, except for the Standing 
Committee on Public Accounts and the Standing Committee on Administration and Procedure, 
both of which had four members. Committees without a crossbench member were chaired by a 
member of the party in the minority on that committee. 

The Select Committee on the COVID-19 pandemic response has five members, whereas the 
Select Committee on Estimates 2020-2021 (dissolved), the Select Committee on Privileges, and 
the Select Committee on Fuel Pricing each had three members. 

Statutory responsibilities of committees 

In addition to inquiry activity, four committees have significant statutory responsibilities. 

Section 38(1) of the Territory’s Human Rights Act 2004: The relevant standing committee must 
report to the Legislative Assembly about human rights issues raised by bills presented to the 
Assembly. The Standing Committee on Justice and Community Safety, in its legislative scrutiny 
role, performs this function by examining all bills and subordinate legislation to ensure that 
legislation does not unduly trespass on individual rights and liberties and complies with the Act. 

Section 73(2) of the Planning and Development Act 2017: The Minister must, within five working 
days after the day the public availability notice for the draft plan variation is notified, refer the 
draft plan variation documents to an appropriate committee of the Legislative Assembly, 
together with a request that the committee decide whether it will prepare a report on the draft 
plan variation. Consideration of draft plan variations is undertaken by the Standing Committee 
on Planning and Urban Renewal. 

Under its resolution of appointment, the Standing Committee on Public Accounts examines all 
reports of the Auditor-General that have been presented to the Assembly. However, the Auditor 

 

 

General Act 1996 empowers the committee to undertake additional duties, including those 
relating to the strategic review of the Auditor-General, as set out in Part 5 of the Act.  

The Standing Committee on the Integrity Commission, created during this reporting period, has 
functions under the Integrity Commission Act 2018. These include the requirements to be 
consulted on the appointment or suspension of the Commissioner or the Inspector and to 
receive confidential reports from the Commission. The ACT Integrity Commission began receiving 
complaints on 1 December 2019. 

Committee activity 

In the period 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020, standing and select committees met on 288 occasions. 
Committees held 65 public hearings and tabled 49 reports in the Legislative Assembly. Figure 3 
gives a snapshot of overall committee activity. 

Figure 3: Committee activity in 2019-2020 compared with previous reporting period 2018-2019 

 

Comprehensive statistics relating to all Assembly committee activity are listed at Appendix 7. 

Government responses to committee reports 

The Office monitors the receipt of government responses to committee reports. During the 
reporting period, 20 responses were received. 

Standing order 254B requires a government response to be tabled in the Assembly within four 
months of presentation of the report. 

Of the reports received, 90 per cent (18 reports) received government responses within four 
months. Two responses were received after four months. 
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• Standing Committee on Health, Ageing and Community Services; 

• Standing Committee on the Integrity Commission; 

• Standing Committee on Justice and Community Safety (also performs a legislative scrutiny 
role); 

• Standing Committee on Planning and Urban Renewal; and 

• Standing Committee on Public Accounts. 

The Office also supported the following select committees during the reporting period: 

• Select Committee on Estimates 2019-2020, established 21 February 2019, which 
presented its report to the Assembly on 30 July 2019; 

• Select Committee on Estimates 2020-2021, established 20 February 2020 and 
disestablished on 2 April 2020 as a result of the postponement of the ACT budget due to 
COVID-19; 

• Select Committee on Fuel Pricing, established 14 February 2019, which presented its 
report to the Assembly on 17 September 2019; 

• Select Committee on Privileges 2019, established 4 April 2019, which presented its report 
to the Assembly on 30 July 2020; and 

• Select Committee on the COVID-19 pandemic response, established 2 April 2020 and 
continuing its inquiry as at 30 June 2020. 

Committee membership 

Committee composition reflects the party configuration of the Assembly, as required by standing 
order 221. 

Standing committees had three members during the reporting period, except for the Standing 
Committee on Public Accounts and the Standing Committee on Administration and Procedure, 
both of which had four members. Committees without a crossbench member were chaired by a 
member of the party in the minority on that committee. 

The Select Committee on the COVID-19 pandemic response has five members, whereas the 
Select Committee on Estimates 2020-2021 (dissolved), the Select Committee on Privileges, and 
the Select Committee on Fuel Pricing each had three members. 

Statutory responsibilities of committees 

In addition to inquiry activity, four committees have significant statutory responsibilities. 

Section 38(1) of the Territory’s Human Rights Act 2004: The relevant standing committee must 
report to the Legislative Assembly about human rights issues raised by bills presented to the 
Assembly. The Standing Committee on Justice and Community Safety, in its legislative scrutiny 
role, performs this function by examining all bills and subordinate legislation to ensure that 
legislation does not unduly trespass on individual rights and liberties and complies with the Act. 

Section 73(2) of the Planning and Development Act 2017: The Minister must, within five working 
days after the day the public availability notice for the draft plan variation is notified, refer the 
draft plan variation documents to an appropriate committee of the Legislative Assembly, 
together with a request that the committee decide whether it will prepare a report on the draft 
plan variation. Consideration of draft plan variations is undertaken by the Standing Committee 
on Planning and Urban Renewal. 

Under its resolution of appointment, the Standing Committee on Public Accounts examines all 
reports of the Auditor-General that have been presented to the Assembly. However, the Auditor 

 

 

General Act 1996 empowers the committee to undertake additional duties, including those 
relating to the strategic review of the Auditor-General, as set out in Part 5 of the Act.  

The Standing Committee on the Integrity Commission, created during this reporting period, has 
functions under the Integrity Commission Act 2018. These include the requirements to be 
consulted on the appointment or suspension of the Commissioner or the Inspector and to 
receive confidential reports from the Commission. The ACT Integrity Commission began receiving 
complaints on 1 December 2019. 

Committee activity 

In the period 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020, standing and select committees met on 288 occasions. 
Committees held 65 public hearings and tabled 49 reports in the Legislative Assembly. Figure 3 
gives a snapshot of overall committee activity. 

Figure 3: Committee activity in 2019-2020 compared with previous reporting period 2018-2019 

 

Comprehensive statistics relating to all Assembly committee activity are listed at Appendix 7. 
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Consideration of statutory appointments 

Section 228 of the Legislation Act 2001 requires all ministers to consult with Assembly committees on 
proposed appointments to statutory positions for certain boards and advisory bodies. 
Appointments cannot be made until the committee has responded or until 30 days have elapsed. 

In the reporting period, committees considered 128 statutory appointments to a wide range of 
government bodies. Under continuing resolution 5A, committees are to table a schedule listing 
the appointments that a committee has considered during the applicable period. For each 
proposed appointment, the schedule must include the date the request for consideration was 
received from the responsible minister and the date the committee’s response and comment, if 
any, was provided. 

Committee highlights 

Tharwa hearing 

On 24 October 2019 the Assembly referred an inquiry into the supply of water to the Tharwa 
community to the Standing Committee on Environment and Transport and City Services. Due to 
the size of the ACT, it is rare for Assembly committees to hold public hearings anywhere other 
than in the Assembly, so the committee held a public hearing at the Tharwa Community Hall on 
4 December 2019. This made it easier for members of the Tharwa community to present 
evidence to the committee. The committee also used the visit to see for itself the layout of the 
village and the proposed sites for the water supply infrastructure under discussion. 

Select Committee on the COVID-19 pandemic response and video hearings  

The COVID-19 pandemic required changes to how committees conducted their business. In 
March 2020 the Speaker encouraged committees to explore ways of furthering inquires without 
the use of in-person hearings and the public galleries were closed, preventing the public from 
attending any hearings that did proceed. From 4 March until 9 April Assembly committees held 
no public hearings. 

On 2 April 2020, when the Assembly removed nine sitting days from its sitting calendar, the 
Assembly established the Select Committee on the COVID-19 pandemic response with a broad 
remit to examine and consider the ACT Government’s response to the pandemic. The motion 
establishing the select committee contained provisions requiring the select committee to be 
mindful of the Public Health Emergency declaration and provisions intended to ensure that 
appearances before the select committee were not overly burdensome on ministers and officials 
responding to the pandemic. The motion also required all hearings to be held virtually or via 
teleconference. 

Also on 2 April 2020, the Assembly amended the standing orders to allow committees to conduct 
proceedings entirely remotely. While some limited use of videoconferencing had been made in 
the past, that involved witnesses appearing over video before an assembled committee. 
Committee proceedings now had to be arranged whereby all members, OLA staff and witnesses 
were in separate locations. The select committee met in private a day after its formation, over 
the Zoom application. One week later, after drawing on the experience of the New Zealand 
Parliament, the Office was able to facilitate the Assembly’s first public hearing conducted 
entirely via videoconference application, which was livestreamed and available on demand. The 
select committee continued holding public hearings each week with representatives of the ACT 
Government and the public, over Zoom or Webex. Virtual hearings were then expanded to 
standing committees, allowing them to advance their ongoing inquiries. 

  

 

 

Report highlights 

Among the 49 reports tabled by committees during the reporting period, selected highlights 
include reports for the following inquiries: 

• Inquiry into drone delivery systems in the ACT; 

• Inquiry into Domestic and Family Violence—Policy approaches and responses; 

• Inquiry into the management and minimisation of bullying and violence in ACT schools; 

• Inquiry into Nature in Our City; 

• Inquiry into Engagement with Development Application Processes in the ACT; 

• Inquiry into Auditor-General’s Report No 3 of 2018, Tender for Block 30 (formerly Block 20) 
Section 34, Dickson; and 

• Inquiry into Maternity Services in the ACT. 

Standing Committee on Administration and Procedure 

The Standing Committee on Administration and Procedure met on 19 occasions. The 
committee’s main tasks were to set the program for private members’, crossbench executive 
members’ and Assembly business, and to undertake self-referred inquiries or inquiries referred 
by the Assembly. In addition, considerable time was devoted to discussing the changes required 
to allow the Assembly to function safely throughout the COVID-19 pandemic. 

The committee presented four reports on the following matters: review of the implementation 
of the Latimer House principles in the ACT; respectful dialogue; the reporting of committee 
deliberations; and minor amendments to the standing orders. 

The committee also continued its inquiry into the application of section 65 of the Australian 
Capital Territory (Self-Government) Act 1988 (Cth) and commenced an inquiry into possible 
committee structures for the Tenth Assembly. 

Other matters discussed by the committee concerned the impact on the Assembly precinct of 
the adjacent building development; guidelines for the use of Assembly facilities; possible 
introduction of a Ngunnawal language acknowledgement in the chamber; and the signing of a 
partnership with the parliament of Prince Edward Island. 

Of significance were the discussions and decisions of the committee in relation to modifications 
required to the standing orders and practices of the Assembly in response to the COVID-19 
pandemic. The committee developed protocols to ensure that the Assembly could meet safely. 
Strategies adopted included: the introduction of physical distancing requirements; reducing the 
physical handling of documents; the provision of hand sanitiser; closing the public galleries for 
the chamber and committee public hearings; and establishing remote meeting capabilities for 
committees.  
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Consideration of statutory appointments 

Section 228 of the Legislation Act 2001 requires all ministers to consult with Assembly committees on 
proposed appointments to statutory positions for certain boards and advisory bodies. 
Appointments cannot be made until the committee has responded or until 30 days have elapsed. 

In the reporting period, committees considered 128 statutory appointments to a wide range of 
government bodies. Under continuing resolution 5A, committees are to table a schedule listing 
the appointments that a committee has considered during the applicable period. For each 
proposed appointment, the schedule must include the date the request for consideration was 
received from the responsible minister and the date the committee’s response and comment, if 
any, was provided. 

Committee highlights 

Tharwa hearing 

On 24 October 2019 the Assembly referred an inquiry into the supply of water to the Tharwa 
community to the Standing Committee on Environment and Transport and City Services. Due to 
the size of the ACT, it is rare for Assembly committees to hold public hearings anywhere other 
than in the Assembly, so the committee held a public hearing at the Tharwa Community Hall on 
4 December 2019. This made it easier for members of the Tharwa community to present 
evidence to the committee. The committee also used the visit to see for itself the layout of the 
village and the proposed sites for the water supply infrastructure under discussion. 

Select Committee on the COVID-19 pandemic response and video hearings  

The COVID-19 pandemic required changes to how committees conducted their business. In 
March 2020 the Speaker encouraged committees to explore ways of furthering inquires without 
the use of in-person hearings and the public galleries were closed, preventing the public from 
attending any hearings that did proceed. From 4 March until 9 April Assembly committees held 
no public hearings. 

On 2 April 2020, when the Assembly removed nine sitting days from its sitting calendar, the 
Assembly established the Select Committee on the COVID-19 pandemic response with a broad 
remit to examine and consider the ACT Government’s response to the pandemic. The motion 
establishing the select committee contained provisions requiring the select committee to be 
mindful of the Public Health Emergency declaration and provisions intended to ensure that 
appearances before the select committee were not overly burdensome on ministers and officials 
responding to the pandemic. The motion also required all hearings to be held virtually or via 
teleconference. 

Also on 2 April 2020, the Assembly amended the standing orders to allow committees to conduct 
proceedings entirely remotely. While some limited use of videoconferencing had been made in 
the past, that involved witnesses appearing over video before an assembled committee. 
Committee proceedings now had to be arranged whereby all members, OLA staff and witnesses 
were in separate locations. The select committee met in private a day after its formation, over 
the Zoom application. One week later, after drawing on the experience of the New Zealand 
Parliament, the Office was able to facilitate the Assembly’s first public hearing conducted 
entirely via videoconference application, which was livestreamed and available on demand. The 
select committee continued holding public hearings each week with representatives of the ACT 
Government and the public, over Zoom or Webex. Virtual hearings were then expanded to 
standing committees, allowing them to advance their ongoing inquiries. 

  

 

 

Report highlights 

Among the 49 reports tabled by committees during the reporting period, selected highlights 
include reports for the following inquiries: 

• Inquiry into drone delivery systems in the ACT; 

• Inquiry into Domestic and Family Violence—Policy approaches and responses; 

• Inquiry into the management and minimisation of bullying and violence in ACT schools; 

• Inquiry into Nature in Our City; 

• Inquiry into Engagement with Development Application Processes in the ACT; 

• Inquiry into Auditor-General’s Report No 3 of 2018, Tender for Block 30 (formerly Block 20) 
Section 34, Dickson; and 

• Inquiry into Maternity Services in the ACT. 

Standing Committee on Administration and Procedure 

The Standing Committee on Administration and Procedure met on 19 occasions. The 
committee’s main tasks were to set the program for private members’, crossbench executive 
members’ and Assembly business, and to undertake self-referred inquiries or inquiries referred 
by the Assembly. In addition, considerable time was devoted to discussing the changes required 
to allow the Assembly to function safely throughout the COVID-19 pandemic. 

The committee presented four reports on the following matters: review of the implementation 
of the Latimer House principles in the ACT; respectful dialogue; the reporting of committee 
deliberations; and minor amendments to the standing orders. 

The committee also continued its inquiry into the application of section 65 of the Australian 
Capital Territory (Self-Government) Act 1988 (Cth) and commenced an inquiry into possible 
committee structures for the Tenth Assembly. 

Other matters discussed by the committee concerned the impact on the Assembly precinct of 
the adjacent building development; guidelines for the use of Assembly facilities; possible 
introduction of a Ngunnawal language acknowledgement in the chamber; and the signing of a 
partnership with the parliament of Prince Edward Island. 

Of significance were the discussions and decisions of the committee in relation to modifications 
required to the standing orders and practices of the Assembly in response to the COVID-19 
pandemic. The committee developed protocols to ensure that the Assembly could meet safely. 
Strategies adopted included: the introduction of physical distancing requirements; reducing the 
physical handling of documents; the provision of hand sanitiser; closing the public galleries for 
the chamber and committee public hearings; and establishing remote meeting capabilities for 
committees.  
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Standing Committee on Justice and Community Safety (Legislative Scrutiny Role) 

The Standing Committee on Justice and Community Safety, in performing its legislative scrutiny 
role, met on 15 occasions. The committee issued 14 reports, made three statements pursuant to 
standing order 246A, and considered: 

• 65 bills; 

• 411 items of subordinate legislation; 

• 57 government responses; 

• two private members’ responses; 

• 13 regulatory impact statements; 

• amendments to 23 bills; and 

• seven national regulations. 

Consideration of bills arising from the COVID-19 emergency 

The committee made the following 246A statements in relation to the: 

• introduction and passing of two bills, on the same day, without first being considered by 
the scrutiny committee; 

• consideration of proposed amendments to bills by the committee during the COVID-19 
emergency; and 

• impact on the committee’s program as a result of the amendments to the Assembly’s 
sitting pattern. 

Select Committee on Estimates 2019-2020 

The Select Committee on Estimates 2019-2020 was established by the Assembly on 21 February 
2019 to examine both the Appropriation Bill 2019-2020 and the Appropriation (Office of the 
Legislative Assembly) Bill 2019-2020. The committee engaged expert technical assistance to 
conduct an economic and financial analysis of the budget. Following a process for expressions of 
interest, Pegasus Economics was selected to provide the committee with a review of the 2019-
2020 ACT budget. 

The committee held public hearings over 11 days, hearing evidence from: 

• community groups and industry groups; 

• ministers of the ACT Government; 

• officers of Territory-owned corporations; 

• the Speaker of the Assembly and parliamentary officers, including the Clerk of the 
Assembly; and 

• ACT statutory officers, including Officers of the Legislative Assembly. 

As part of its deliberations, the committee sought community and industry views on the budget 
and heard from 14 community and industry representative groups on the first day of public 
hearings. 

Questions on notice and questions taken on notice are an important part of the Assembly’s 
estimates process, and the 549 questions and answers were published on the Assembly website. 

The committee tabled its final report in the Assembly on 30 July 2019. 

  

 

 

Procedural digest 

Privilege committee report into the release of unauthorised committee 
documents 

On 30 July 2019 the Chair of the Select Committee on Privileges 2019 presented its report to the 
Assembly (having reported out of session). The committee made two recommendations, the first 
one being: 

The Committee recommends that the Chief Minister, Treasury and Economic 
Development Directorate: 

(1) review relevant sections of its publication Guidelines for Officials on Participation in 
Legislative Assembly and Other Inquiries, with a view to ensuring that the guidelines 
make it clear that privilege may attach to any document provided to an Assembly 
committee; and 

(2) remind all ACT Public Service directorates and agencies of the existence of the 
guidelines. 

On 26 November 2019 the Manager of Government Business presented its response to the 
report, agreeing to the recommendation and tabling a revised set of Guidelines on Participation 
in Legislative Assembly and Other Inquiries and indicating that the revised guide had been 
circulated to all of the ACT Public Service. 

The other recommendation was that the standing order dealing with how committees deal with 
alleged breaches be amended, and on 22 August 2019 the Assembly amended the relevant 
standing order to enable the affected committee to make a special report to the Assembly about 
the effect of the alleged disclosure. 

Committee report on respectful dialogue 

On 30 July 2019 the Speaker presented a report from the Standing Committee on Administration 
and Procedure titled Respectful Dialogue. This followed a reference earlier in the year in the 
following terms: 

That this Assembly: 

(1) notes the terrible terrorist attack in Christchurch and the public call for politicians to 
lead with demonstrated actions;  

(2) calls on the Standing Committee on Administration and Procedure to review the 
Continuing Resolution 5, MLA’s Code of Conduct, namely whether the Code of Conduct 
should be enhanced to reflect MLA’s responsibilities for respectful dialogue. 

The report recommended that the members’ code of conduct should be amended to include the 
following paragraph: 

“(11) Treat all citizens of the Australian Capital Territory with courtesy, and respect the 
diversity of their backgrounds, experiences and views. In particular, Members should by 
their words and actions demonstrate, and by their example and leadership encourage 
and foster others to show, respect for the peaceful, temperate and lawful exercise by all 
members of the community of their shared and individual rights and entitlements, 
including freedom of religion, freedom of association and freedom of speech.” 

The amendment to the members’ code of conduct was made.  
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The Standing Committee on Justice and Community Safety, in performing its legislative scrutiny 
role, met on 15 occasions. The committee issued 14 reports, made three statements pursuant to 
standing order 246A, and considered: 

• 65 bills; 

• 411 items of subordinate legislation; 

• 57 government responses; 

• two private members’ responses; 

• 13 regulatory impact statements; 

• amendments to 23 bills; and 

• seven national regulations. 

Consideration of bills arising from the COVID-19 emergency 

The committee made the following 246A statements in relation to the: 

• introduction and passing of two bills, on the same day, without first being considered by 
the scrutiny committee; 

• consideration of proposed amendments to bills by the committee during the COVID-19 
emergency; and 

• impact on the committee’s program as a result of the amendments to the Assembly’s 
sitting pattern. 

Select Committee on Estimates 2019-2020 

The Select Committee on Estimates 2019-2020 was established by the Assembly on 21 February 
2019 to examine both the Appropriation Bill 2019-2020 and the Appropriation (Office of the 
Legislative Assembly) Bill 2019-2020. The committee engaged expert technical assistance to 
conduct an economic and financial analysis of the budget. Following a process for expressions of 
interest, Pegasus Economics was selected to provide the committee with a review of the 2019-
2020 ACT budget. 

The committee held public hearings over 11 days, hearing evidence from: 

• community groups and industry groups; 

• ministers of the ACT Government; 

• officers of Territory-owned corporations; 

• the Speaker of the Assembly and parliamentary officers, including the Clerk of the 
Assembly; and 

• ACT statutory officers, including Officers of the Legislative Assembly. 

As part of its deliberations, the committee sought community and industry views on the budget 
and heard from 14 community and industry representative groups on the first day of public 
hearings. 

Questions on notice and questions taken on notice are an important part of the Assembly’s 
estimates process, and the 549 questions and answers were published on the Assembly website. 

The committee tabled its final report in the Assembly on 30 July 2019. 

  

 

 

Procedural digest 

Privilege committee report into the release of unauthorised committee 
documents 

On 30 July 2019 the Chair of the Select Committee on Privileges 2019 presented its report to the 
Assembly (having reported out of session). The committee made two recommendations, the first 
one being: 

The Committee recommends that the Chief Minister, Treasury and Economic 
Development Directorate: 

(1) review relevant sections of its publication Guidelines for Officials on Participation in 
Legislative Assembly and Other Inquiries, with a view to ensuring that the guidelines 
make it clear that privilege may attach to any document provided to an Assembly 
committee; and 

(2) remind all ACT Public Service directorates and agencies of the existence of the 
guidelines. 

On 26 November 2019 the Manager of Government Business presented its response to the 
report, agreeing to the recommendation and tabling a revised set of Guidelines on Participation 
in Legislative Assembly and Other Inquiries and indicating that the revised guide had been 
circulated to all of the ACT Public Service. 

The other recommendation was that the standing order dealing with how committees deal with 
alleged breaches be amended, and on 22 August 2019 the Assembly amended the relevant 
standing order to enable the affected committee to make a special report to the Assembly about 
the effect of the alleged disclosure. 

Committee report on respectful dialogue 

On 30 July 2019 the Speaker presented a report from the Standing Committee on Administration 
and Procedure titled Respectful Dialogue. This followed a reference earlier in the year in the 
following terms: 

That this Assembly: 

(1) notes the terrible terrorist attack in Christchurch and the public call for politicians to 
lead with demonstrated actions;  

(2) calls on the Standing Committee on Administration and Procedure to review the 
Continuing Resolution 5, MLA’s Code of Conduct, namely whether the Code of Conduct 
should be enhanced to reflect MLA’s responsibilities for respectful dialogue. 

The report recommended that the members’ code of conduct should be amended to include the 
following paragraph: 

“(11) Treat all citizens of the Australian Capital Territory with courtesy, and respect the 
diversity of their backgrounds, experiences and views. In particular, Members should by 
their words and actions demonstrate, and by their example and leadership encourage 
and foster others to show, respect for the peaceful, temperate and lawful exercise by all 
members of the community of their shared and individual rights and entitlements, 
including freedom of religion, freedom of association and freedom of speech.” 

The amendment to the members’ code of conduct was made.  
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Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Elected Body (ATSIEB)—Report on 
Hearings—Government response 

On 1 August 2019 the Manager of Government Business tabled the government response to the 
2018 report on the ATSIEB hearings 2018.  

By way of background, the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Elected Body Act 2008 provides 
for an Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Elected Body (of seven part-time members) to 
monitor and report on the effectiveness and accessibility of programs provided by the ACT 
Government. Enshrined in the Act is the public hearing process, which allows the body to 
conduct public hearings (held in the Assembly’s committee rooms) on public services and asks 
ACT Government agencies to account for their service provision.  

A report is then handed to government at the conclusion of the hearing process. The 2018 report 
contained 31 recommendations, all of which the government responded to.  

Sitting pattern for 2020 

On 22 August 2019 the Assembly agreed to a sitting pattern for 2020, noting that the Assembly 
election was scheduled for Saturday 17 October 2020.  

This is the earliest day the Assembly has agreed to a sitting pattern for the following year, and it 
allowed ministers, members and staff to plan the program or work for the following year. 

Clarification of who can make a complaint to the Commissioner for 
Standards 

On 22 August 2019 the Assembly, following a recommendation from the Standing Committee on 
Administration and Procedure, agreed to change the continuing resolution that deals with the 
operation of the Assembly’s Commissioner for Standards.  

The relevant continuing resolution previously provided that, in relation to persons wishing to 
lodge a complaint about a possible breach of the members’ code of conduct, the following 
persons could lodge complaints: 

Members of the public, members of the ACT Public Service and Members of the Assembly 
may make a complaint to the Commissioner via the Clerk of the Legislative Assembly 
about a Member’s compliance with the Members’ Code of Conduct or the rules relating 
to the registration or declaration of interests. 

The committee observed that the formulation in the resolution excluded some categories of 
persons (e.g. MLA staff, OLA staff, Electoral Commission staff, etc.) and so the Assembly agreed 
to amend the resolution to state that “Anyone may make a complaint to the Commissioner via 
the Clerk of the Legislative Assembly about a Member’s compliance with the Members’ Code of 
Conduct or the rules in relation to the registration or declaration of interests.” 

  

 

 

Use of the term “the Honourable” 

In the major review of Assembly standing orders that is now conducted once an Assembly term, 
the Standing Committee on Administration and Procedure recommended that: 

… the ACT Government seek advice on the legal and protocol issues associated with the 
use of the honorific “The Honourable” through its Strategic Communications Media and 
Protocol Branch within the Chief Minister, Treasury and Economic Development 
Directorate and provide that advice to the Assembly. 

On Thursday 22 August the Manager of Government Business tabled the government’s response 
to that recommendation. The government indicated that the ACT Government Solicitor had 
advised that there was no legal barrier to the ACT adopting the honorific title “the Honourable” 
for members of the ACT Executive during their term of office, noting that across Australia—apart 
from a few instances where the issue has been addressed by law—the use of the honorific is 
determined by convention and courtesy, with various practices applying in Australian 
jurisdictions.  

The government indicated in its response that the ACT Government would not seek to introduce 
the use of “the Honourable”, noting that the existing approach has applied for 30 years and is 
consistent with the egalitarian, modern nature of the ACT. It expressed the view that MLAs need 
to be accessible to electors and that such honorifics could create a barrier between members 
and the community they represent.  

Commissioner for Standards 

On 17 September 2019 the Speaker tabled the annual report of the Assembly’s Commissioner for 
Standards (the Hon Ken Crispin, QC), pursuant to continuing resolution 5AA. The report detailed 
three complaints against members that had been made during the year. He advised that: he had 
recommended that one complaint be dismissed; he did not have the authority to investigate the 
second complaint that was more properly addressed through a citizen’s right of reply; and the 
third complaint dealing with issues of perceived harassment had been resolved and the 
complaint subsequently withdrawn. 

Report on the Review of Latimer House Principles 

On 17 September 2019 the Speaker presented, pursuant to continuing resolution 8A, Review of 
the performance of the three branches of government in the Australian Capital Territory against 
Latimer House Principles by Emeritus Professor John Halligan and Benedict Sheehy, from the 
University of Canberra.  

The report made 13 recommendations and, in accordance with the continuing resolution, was 
the subject of an inquiry by the Standing Committee on Administration and Procedure. 
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Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Elected Body (ATSIEB)—Report on
Hearings—Government response

On 1 August 2019 the Manager of Government Business tabled the government response to the
2018 report on the ATSIEB hearings 2018. 

By way of background, the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Elected Body Act 2008 provides
for an Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Elected Body (of seven part-time members) to
monitor and report on the effectiveness and accessibility of programs provided by the ACT 
Government. Enshrined in the Act is the public hearing process, which allows the body to
conduct public hearings (held in the Assembly’s committee rooms) on public services and asks 
ACT Government agencies to account for their service provision. 

A report is then handed to government at the conclusion of the hearing process. The 2018 report
contained 31 recommendations, all of which the government responded to. 

Sitting pattern for 2020

On 22 August 2019 the Assembly agreed to a sitting pattern for 2020, noting that the Assembly 
election was scheduled for Saturday 17 October 2020. 

This is the earliest day the Assembly has agreed to a sitting pattern for the following year, and it
allowed ministers, members and staff to plan the program or work for the following year.

Clarification of who can make a complaint to the Commissioner for 
Standards

On 22 August 2019 the Assembly, following a recommendation from the Standing Committee on
Administration and Procedure, agreed to change the continuing resolution that deals with the 
operation of the Assembly’s Commissioner for Standards. 

The relevant continuing resolution previously provided that, in relation to persons wishing to
lodge a complaint about a possible breach of the members’ code of conduct, the following
persons could lodge complaints:

Members of the public, members of the ACT Public Service and Members of the Assembly
may make a complaint to the Commissioner via the Clerk of the Legislative Assembly
about a Member’s compliance with the Members’ Code of Conduct or the rules relating
to the registration or declaration of interests.

The committee observed that the formulation in the resolution excluded some categories of 
persons (e.g. MLA staff, OLA staff, Electoral Commission staff, etc.) and so the Assembly agreed 
to amend the resolution to state that “Anyone may make a complaint to the Commissioner via 
the Clerk of the Legislative Assembly about a Member’s compliance with the Members’ Code of 
Conduct or the rules in relation to the registration or declaration of interests.”

Use of the term “the Honourable” 

In the major review of Assembly standing orders that is now conducted once an Assembly term, 
the Standing Committee on Administration and Procedure recommended that: 

… the ACT Government seek advice on the legal and protocol issues associated with the 
use of the honorific “The Honourable” through its Strategic Communications Media and 
Protocol Branch within the Chief Minister, Treasury and Economic Development 
Directorate and provide that advice to the Assembly. 

On 22 August 2019 the Manager of Government Business tabled the government’s response to 
that recommendation. The government indicated that the ACT Government Solicitor had 
advised that there was no legal barrier to the ACT adopting the honorific title “the Honourable” 
for members of the ACT Executive during their term of office, noting that across Australia—apart 
from a few instances where the issue has been addressed by law—the use of the honorific is 
determined by convention and courtesy, with various practices applying in Australian 
jurisdictions.  

The government indicated in its response that the ACT Government would not seek to introduce 
the use of “the Honourable”, noting that the existing approach has applied for 30 years and is 
consistent with the egalitarian, modern nature of the ACT. It expressed the view that MLAs need 
to be accessible to electors and that such honorifics could create a barrier between members 
and the community they represent.  

Commissioner for Standards 

On 17 September 2019 the Speaker tabled the annual report of the Assembly’s Commissioner for 
Standards (the Hon Ken Crispin, QC), pursuant to continuing resolution 5AA. The report detailed 
three complaints against members that had been made during the year. He advised that: he had 
recommended that one complaint be dismissed; he did not have the authority to investigate the 
second complaint that was more properly addressed through a citizen’s right of reply; and the 
third complaint dealing with issues of perceived harassment had been resolved and the 
complaint subsequently withdrawn. 

Report on the Review of Latimer House Principles 

On 17 September 2019 the Speaker presented, pursuant to continuing resolution 8A, Review of 
the performance of the three branches of government in the Australian Capital Territory against 
Latimer House Principles by Emeritus Professor John Halligan and Benedict Sheehy, from the 
University of Canberra.  

The report made 13 recommendations and, in accordance with the continuing resolution, was 
the subject of an inquiry by the Standing Committee on Administration and Procedure. 
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Drugs of Dependence (Personal Cannabis Use) Amendment Bill 2018 

On 25 September 2019 the Assembly passed the Drugs of Dependence (Personal Cannabis Use) 
Amendment Bill 2018. The Bill amended the Drugs of Dependence Act 1989 to allow for the 
personal use and carrying of cannabis up to a limit of 50 grams. The bill also allowed individuals 
to grow up to four cannabis plants, excluding artificial crop growing. 

Subsequent to the passage of the Bill, public reporting suggested that the ACT has become the 
first Australian jurisdiction to legalise the possession, use and cultivation of small amounts of 
cannabis. 

The law came into effect from 31 January 2020. There has been much discussion about whether 
the legislation conflicts with Commonwealth laws prohibiting the possession of cannabis and 
how the Australian Federal Police will be in a position to navigate the apparently disparate legal 
position.  

Legislative Assembly (Office of the Legislative Assembly) Amendment Bill 
2019 

On 24 October 2019 the Chief Minister introduced the Legislative Assembly (Office of the 
Legislative Assembly) Amendment Bill 2019. 

This bill sought to amend the Legislative Assembly (Office of the Legislative Assembly) Act 2012 
and the Electoral Act 1992 to establish a communication allowance for Members of the 
Legislative Assembly and to clarify that expenditure from the allowance is not subject to 
electoral expenditure or the annual expenditure reporting requirements under the Electoral Act. 

In the presentation speech on the Bill, the Chief Minister indicated that: 

The rules governing how the communications budget can be spent and its total value will 
be determined by a continuing resolution of the Assembly passed prior to 1 January 2020. 
It is the government’s intent to conduct cross-party consultations between now and then 
to establish a model that, if possible, has the tripartisan support of the whole Assembly. 
At this stage the intention is for the continuing resolution to be prepared and 
consultations completed in time for debate on the bill in the November 2019 sitting, 
subject of course to the views of the Assembly. 

At the time of reporting, this entry of the Bill was still on the Assembly Notice Paper. 

First committee report on petition 

On a sitting day in the previous reporting period, the Assembly received two petitions (with a 
combined number of signatures greater than 500) concerning the ACT Government’s decision on 
funding to the ANU School of Music H Course for years 11 and 12 students. In accordance with 
standing order 99a, the petitions were, together, referred to the relevant committee for 
consideration.  

On 26 November 2019 the  
reported on the petition, making six recommendations, with the sole government MLA making a 
dissenting report.  

This is the first time that a petition referred to a committee has been reported on since the 
standing order that requires the referral of petitions with more than 500 signatures to 
committees was introduced in November 2015.  

Euthanasia

It was reported in the media that Western Australia was set to become the second state to
legalise voluntary euthanasia after proposed laws allowing terminally ill people to end their own 
lives were being considered.

On 27 November 2019 the ACT Assembly passed a resolution calling on:

(a) the Federal Parliament to:

• resolve that no Australian citizen should be disadvantaged with respect to their 
democratic rights on the basis of where they live; and

• remove subsections 23(1A) and (1B) from the Australian Capital Territory (Self-
Government) Act 1988 (Cth); and

• (b) all ACT Legislative Assembly party leaders to write to their federal counterparts before 
the end of 2019 requesting their commitment to remove subsections 23(1A) and (1B) 
from the Australian Capital Territory (Self-Government) Act 1988 (Cth) in 2020.

Indigenous language in Assembly

On 28 November 2019, the Assembly passed a resolution to:

• use a Ngunnawal language introduction at the beginning of each Assembly sitting day;

• consult with members of the UNEC and other Ngunnawal Elders in order to agree on the
appropriate use of words;

• make cultural awareness training available to all Members of the Assembly, including in 
the correct pronunciation of the agreed words;

• use these Ngunnawal words to formally recognise that the Assembly is meeting on the 
lands of the Ngunnawal traditional custodians each sitting day, by the end of the Ninth 
Assembly; and

• amend the standing orders accordingly and ensure that the words are accurately reflected
in the daily Minutes of Proceedings and Hansard.

The Speaker wrote to the United Ngunnawal Elders Council to discuss how the resolution can
best be implemented in 2020. 

Parliamentary Partnership Agreement with Prince Edward Island
Legislature

On 13 February 2020, the Speaker presented a report outlining the Parliamentary Partnership
Agreement that had recently been signed between the Speakers of the Legislative Assembly for
the Australian Capital Territory and Prince Edward Island, Canada. The report also provided
information to the Assembly on visits to the Nova Scotia and British Columbia Legislatures in
November 2019 by the Speaker and the Clerk. 
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Drugs of Dependence (Personal Cannabis Use) Amendment Bill 2018

On 25 September 2019 the Assembly passed the Drugs of Dependence (Personal Cannabis Use)
Amendment Bill 2018. The Bill amended the Drugs of Dependence Act 1989 to allow for the 
personal use and carrying of cannabis up to a limit of 50 grams. The bill also allowed individuals 
to grow up to four cannabis plants, excluding artificial crop growing.

Subsequent to the passage of the Bill, public reporting suggested that the ACT has become the
first Australian jurisdiction to legalise the possession, use and cultivation of small amounts of 
cannabis.

The law came into effect from 31 January 2020. There has been much discussion about whether
the legislation conflicts with Commonwealth laws prohibiting the possession of cannabis and
how the Australian Federal Police will be in a position to navigate the apparently disparate legal
position. 

Legislative Assembly (Office of the Legislative Assembly) Amendment Bill
2019

On 24 October 2019 the Chief Minister introduced the Legislative Assembly (Office of the 
Legislative Assembly) Amendment Bill 2019.

This bill sought to amend the Legislative Assembly (Office of the Legislative Assembly) Act 2012
and the Electoral Act 1992 to establish a communication allowance for Members of the
Legislative Assembly and to clarify that expenditure from the allowance is not subject to
electoral expenditure or the annual expenditure reporting requirements under the Electoral Act.

In the presentation speech on the Bill, the Chief Minister indicated that:

The rules governing how the communications budget can be spent and its total value will
be determined by a continuing resolution of the Assembly passed prior to 1 January 2020.
It is the government’s intent to conduct cross-party consultations between now and then 
to establish a model that, if possible, has the tripartisan support of the whole Assembly. 
At this stage the intention is for the continuing resolution to be prepared and
consultations completed in time for debate on the bill in the November 2019 sitting, 
subject of course to the views of the Assembly.

At the time of reporting, this entry of the Bill was still on the Assembly Notice Paper.

First committee report on petition

On a sitting day in the previous reporting period, the Assembly received two petitions (with a 
combined number of signatures greater than 500) concerning the ACT Government’s decision on
funding to the ANU School of Music H Course for years 11 and 12 students. In accordance with
standing order 99a, the petitions were, together, referred to the relevant committee for 
consideration. 

On 26 November 2019 the
reported on the petition, making six recommendations, with the sole government MLA making a 
dissenting report. 

This is the first time that a petition referred to a committee has been reported on since the 
standing order that requires the referral of petitions with more than 500 signatures to
committees was introduced in November 2015.

Euthanasia 

It was reported in the media that Western Australia was set to become the second state to 
legalise voluntary euthanasia after proposed laws allowing terminally ill people to end their own 
lives were being considered. 

On 27 November 2019 the ACT Assembly passed a resolution calling on: 

(a) the Federal Parliament to:

• resolve that no Australian citizen should be disadvantaged with respect to their 
democratic rights on the basis of where they live; and

• remove subsections 23(1A) and (1B) from the Australian Capital Territory (Self-
Government) Act 1988 (Cth); and

(b) all ACT Legislative Assembly party leaders to write to their federal counterparts before the 
end of 2019 requesting their commitment to remove subsections 23(1A) and (1B) from the 
Australian Capital Territory (Self-Government) Act 1988 (Cth) in 2020.

Indigenous language in Assembly 

On 28 November 2019, the Assembly passed a resolution to: 

• use a Ngunnawal language introduction at the beginning of each Assembly sitting day;

• consult with members of the UNEC and other Ngunnawal Elders in order to agree on the
appropriate use of words;

• make cultural awareness training available to all Members of the Assembly, including in
the correct pronunciation of the agreed words;

• use these Ngunnawal words to formally recognise that the Assembly is meeting on the
lands of the Ngunnawal traditional custodians each sitting day, by the end of the Ninth
Assembly; and

• amend the standing orders accordingly and ensure that the words are accurately reflected
in the daily Minutes of Proceedings and Hansard.

The Speaker wrote to the United Ngunnawal Elders Council to discuss how the resolution can 
best be implemented in 2020.  

Parliamentary Partnership Agreement with Prince Edward Island 
Legislature 

On 13 February 2020, the Speaker presented a report outlining the Parliamentary Partnership 
Agreement that had recently been signed between the Speakers of the Legislative Assembly for 
the Australian Capital Territory and Prince Edward Island, Canada. The report also provided 
information to the Assembly on visits to the Nova Scotia and British Columbia Legislatures in 
November 2019 by the Speaker and the Clerk.  
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Review of the performance of the three branches of government in the 
Australian Capital Territory against Latimer House Principles 

On 20 February 2020 the Speaker (as Chair of the Standing Committee on Administration and 
Procedure) presented a report by that committee on the Review of the Three Branches of 
Government in the ACT against the Latimer House Principles. The review had been undertaken 
by Emeritus Professor John Halligan and Benedict Sheehy, University of Canberra, and was 
presented to the Assembly on 17 September 2019. 

In its report, the committee made four recommendations concerning the structure of the 
committee system for the next (Tenth) Assembly; the role of the Standing Committee on Public 
Accounts; the profile of Officers of the Assembly; and proposed that future reviews of the 
Latimer House Principles be undertaken once every eight years instead of every four years.  

Appointment of the Independent Reviewer of Campaign Advertising 

In accordance with the Government Agencies (Campaign Advertising) Act 2009, on 20 February 
2020 the Assembly appointed Professor Dennis Pearce AO as the Independent Reviewer of 
Campaign Advertising for a period of three years. The independent reviewer reviews all 
government campaign advertising to ensure that it is not party-political. Party-political is defined 
in the Act as being anything that is designed to promote the policies, past performance, 
achievements or intentions of a program or the government with a view to advancing or 
enhancing a political party’s reputation rather than informing the public. 

The Act requires that the reviewer is appointed by a two-thirds majority of the Assembly. The 
Assembly recorded 24 votes in favour of the appointment and no votes against.  

Adjustment to sitting arrangements as a result of COVID-19 pandemic 

Like all legislatures, the COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant effect on the operation of the 
Assembly. The Assembly was due to meet on 31 March 2020 for three sitting days, but all parties 
recognised that, given the uncertainty and the restrictions imposed via public health direction, 
the Assembly’s operating arrangements would need to be altered.  

Prior to the 31 March sitting, the Speaker received emails from 24 MLAs, in accordance with a 
resolution setting the sitting pattern for 2020, requesting that the Assembly not sit on 31 March 
and 1 April 2020. All non-essential staff were directed to undertake home-based work 
arrangements. 

At its meeting on 2 April 2020, the Assembly: 

• met with only the bare number of members required to meet (i.e. an absolute majority of
13 Members), and the building was subsequently closed to the public;

• suspended those standing orders requiring members to sit in allocated seats;

• suspended standing orders to dispense with discussing matters of public importance;

• suspended the standing order requiring committee chairs to present reports, and instead
allowing the Speaker to table all 12 committee reports that were due for presentation;

• introduced and passed on the same day two COVID-19 emergency bills;

• amended the sitting pattern to provide that, instead of sitting for 14 scheduled sitting
days for the period up to the October election, the Assembly would sit on a Thursday in
May, June, and two days in August. Later, on 7 May 2020, the Assembly resolved to add
six further sitting days with additional single-day sittings on Thursdays for an additional six
weeks.

• established a Select Committee on the COVID-19 pandemic response with two members 
to be nominated by the government, two members to be nominated by the opposition
and one member to be nominated by the crossbench, with an opposition member to be 
elected chair (subsequently the Leader of the Opposition was elected chair). The 
committee was to report to the Assembly on any matter relating to the ACT Government’s 
health and financial response to the pandemic, and the resolution of appointment set out
ways the committee would conduct virtual public hearings, the way it would interact with 
government ministers and officials, and prescribed that public hearings could not be held
at the same time as National Cabinet or a meeting of the ACT Cabinet. The Select 
committee presented interim reports on 21 May 2020, 4 June 2020 and 2 July 2020, with 
the final reported expected on the last day of sitting of the Ninth Assembly (i.e. 27 August 
2020);

• resolved to rescind the resolution that had established the annual select committee on
estimates 2020-21 on the basis that the budget would be substantially delayed;

• passed opposition amendments to the COVID-19 Emergency Response Bill, requiring that 
for each month that a COVID-19 declaration is in force, the responsible minister for a 
COVID-19 measure must prepare a report for the Assembly on the application of the 
measure;

• revised question time procedures in order that the opposition were permitted to ask 33
questions; the crossbench member three questions; and two hours prior to question time
the opposition was required to advise which ministers would have questions directed to
them and the order of questions, so that the minimum number of ministers could be 
present in the chamber and observe physical distancing; and

• on 7 May 2020, standing orders were suspended to allow two items of private members’
business to be discussed on each Thursday sitting that the Assembly was now meeting.

Assembly committees have continued to function by conducting public and private meetings via
both face-to-face meetings (observing strict physical distancing) and web-based 
videoconferencing.

Budget arrangements

On 18 June 2020 the Assembly passed an amendment to the Financial Management Act 1996
which, for the 2020-2021 supply period, had the effect of increasing the amount of supply to all
agencies (including the legislature) from 50 per cent to 100 per cent of the previous financial
year’s appropriation. 

Twinned parliament’s election of Speaker

On 4 June 2020 the Speaker made a statement to the Assembly acknowledging the recent 
election of the Honourable Tangariki Reete as the new Speaker of the Parliament of Kiribati. Ms 
Reete is the first woman elected to the role.

Chamber reconfiguration

Recognising that all members could not meet in the Assembly chamber in accordance with the 
Chief Medical Officer’s advice, and that section 18(2) of the Australian Capital Territory (Self –
Government) Act 1988 (Cth) provides that questions arising at a meeting of the Assembly shall be
decided by a majority of the votes of the members ‘present and voting’, Assembly officials 
entered into discussions with the architect of the Assembly building to assess options for 
expanding the seating footprint in the chamber. Subsequently, work was undertaken to design
and build new desks that allowed physical distancing requirements to be observed.
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• established a Select Committee on the COVID-19 pandemic response with two members 
to be nominated by the government, two members to be nominated by the opposition 
and one member to be nominated by the crossbench, with an opposition member to be 
elected chair (subsequently the Leader of the Opposition was elected chair). The 
committee was to report to the Assembly on any matter relating to the ACT Government’s 
health and financial response to the pandemic, and the resolution of appointment set out 
ways the committee would conduct virtual public hearings, the way it would interact with 
government ministers and officials, and prescribed that public hearings could not be held 
at the same time as National Cabinet or a meeting of the ACT Cabinet. The Select 
committee presented interim reports on 21 May 2020, 4 June 2020 and 2 July 2020, with 
the final reported expected on the last day of sitting of the Ninth Assembly (i.e. 27 August 
2020); 

• resolved to rescind the resolution that had established the annual select committee on 
estimates 2020-21 on the basis that the budget would be substantially delayed; 

• passed opposition amendments to the COVID-19 Emergency Response Bill, requiring that 
for each month that a COVID-19 declaration is in force, the responsible minister for a 
COVID-19 measure must prepare a report for the Assembly on the application of the 
measure;  

• revised question time procedures in order that the opposition were permitted to ask 33 
questions; the crossbench member three questions; and two hours prior to question time 
the opposition was required to advise which ministers would have questions directed to 
them and the order of questions, so that the minimum number of ministers could be 
present in the chamber and observe physical distancing; and  

• on 7 May 2020, standing orders were suspended to allow two items of private members’ 
business to be discussed on each Thursday sitting that the Assembly was now meeting. 

Assembly committees have continued to function by conducting public and private meetings via 
both face-to-face meetings (observing strict physical distancing) and web-based 
videoconferencing. 

Budget arrangements 

On 18 June 2020 the Assembly passed an amendment to the Financial Management Act 1996 
which, for the 2020-2021 supply period, had the effect of increasing the amount of supply to all 
agencies (including the legislature) from 50 per cent to 100 per cent of the previous financial 
year’s appropriation.  

Twinned parliament’s election of Speaker 

On 4 June 2020 the Speaker made a statement to the Assembly acknowledging the recent 
election of the Honourable Tangariki Reete as the new Speaker of the Parliament of Kiribati. Ms 
Reete is the first woman elected to the role. 

Chamber reconfiguration 

Recognising that all members could not meet in the Assembly chamber in accordance with the 
Chief Medical Officer’s advice, and that section 18(2) of the Australian Capital Territory (Self –
Government) Act 1988 (Cth) provides that questions arising at a meeting of the Assembly shall be 
decided by a majority of the votes of the members ‘present and voting’, Assembly officials 
entered into discussions with the architect of the Assembly building to assess options for 
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and build new desks that allowed physical distancing requirements to be observed. 
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Interparliamentary activities 

Commonwealth Parliamentary Association 

The Office provides administrative support for the ACT branch of the Commonwealth 
Parliamentary Association (CPA). 

During the reporting period, this included making arrangements for: 

• CPA Commonwealth Parliamentary Conference and Small Branches Conference, Uganda;

• 38th CPA Australia and Pacific Regional Conference, Adelaide;

• CPA Sustainable Economic Development Workshop, Malta;

• 68th Westminster Seminar, London;

• CPA Cyber Security Workshop London;

• CPA India Region Conference, India;

• 10th Commonwealth Youth Parliament, India; and

• activities of the Commonwealth Women Parliamentarians (CWP) network within the
branch.

The branch provided financial and administrative support to Vicki Dunne MLA in her role as 
Treasurer of the Commonwealth Parliamentary Association until September 2019. 

United Nations development program 

In November 2019 Ms Cheyne MLA and the Deputy Clerk and Serjeant-at-Arms travelled to 
Auckland, New Zealand to participate in the UNDP regional conference for parliamentary 
oversight in the Pacific. The Deputy Clerk presented sessions on parliamentary committees and 
oversight through question time, and participated in a range of discussion sessions.  

Kiribati twinning arrangement 

The ACT Legislative Assembly is ‘twinned’ with the Parliament of Kiribati under an arrangement 
developed at a conference of Presiding Officers and Clerks in 2007. 

In July 2019 the former Deputy Clerk and Serjeant-at-Arms assisted in a UNDP-sponsored project 
reviewing the standing orders of the Maneaba ni Maungatabu (Kiribati Parliament). 

On 1 September 2019 the Speaker, Ms Joy Burch MLA; Mrs Elizabeth Kikkert MLA; and Ms Julia 
Agostino, Deputy Clerk and Serjeant-at-Arms for the Legislative Assembly, travelled to Kiribati to 
further the relationship between the Kiribati Parliament and the Legislative Assembly.  

During this visit, the delegation met with the Speaker and signed a parliamentary partnership 
agreement. The delegation spent several days in Kiribati meeting with individuals and 
organisations, before travelling to Fiji to visit the Fijian Parliament to meet with the Fijian 
Speaker and to observe proceedings. 

Photo 3: (left to right) Mrs E Kikkert MLA; the Speaker, Ms J Burch MLA; Ms Teretia Tokam,
Support Centre Coordinator; and Ms J Agostino, Deputy Clerk and Serjeant-at-Arms, during a
visit to the Kiribati Women and Children Support Centre.

On 4 June 2020 the Speaker made a statement to acknowledge the election of the first female 
Speaker for the Kiribati Parliament. 

Ongoing and detailed procedural advice was provided during the year by the Clerk and other 
officers and former officers of the Assembly.

Australasian Study of Parliament Group (ASPG)

The Office has continued to work with the Department of the Senate, the Department of the
House of Representatives, and the Department of Parliamentary Services to support the ACT
chapter of the ASPG. The chapter hosted the national ASPG conference at Parliament House
from 2-4 October 2019. Seven staff from the Office joined approximately 90 other delegates 
from around Australia and New Zealand, to consider the theme: Parliaments navigating
disruption in 2019.

The Office’s Chief Finance Officer continued to serve as Treasurer of the ASPG. The Senior Director,
Office of the Clerk, retired as the ACT Chapter Treasurer and as a member of the group executive
during the period.
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On 4 June 2020 the Speaker made a statement to acknowledge the election of the first female 
Speaker for the Kiribati Parliament.  

Ongoing and detailed procedural advice was provided during the year by the Clerk and other 
officers and former officers of the Assembly. 
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Participation in Australia and New Zealand Association of Clerks-at-the-
Table (ANZACATT) 

The Australia and New Zealand Association of Clerks-at-the-Table (ANZACATT) comprises 
members from each house of parliament in Australia and New Zealand. 

ANZACATT compiles two regular publications: a half-yearly bulletin called Parliament Matters, 
and the Table Talk newsletter. Each parliamentary jurisdiction contributes to these publications. 

A highlight of the year is the annual ANZACATT professional development seminar, which is 
rotated between parliaments. The Office was scheduled to host the seminar from 22-24 January, 
with a theme of Parliamentary Culture. However, due to the thick smoke from the south coast 
bushfires that had been severely affecting Canberra’s air quality for weeks, a decision was made 
to cancel the event. 

The association also delivers an annual parliamentary law, practice and procedure course, which 
comprises a five-day face-to-face program at University of Tasmania in June each year, followed 
by the pursuant of individual research topics. The Office nominated one staff member for this 
year’s course, although, due to COVID-19 restrictions, the current course is being delivered 
entirely in an online format.  

Staff also contribute to the administration of ANZACATT: the Deputy Clerk/Sergeant-at-Arms is a 
member of ANZACATT’s education committee and professional development committee, and 
the Clerk Assistant is the secretary for the executive committee. 

Papers presented, Presiding Officers and Clerks Conference 

At the 50th Presiding Officers and Clerks Conference, Brisbane, Queensland held in July 2019, 
the following papers were presented: 

• ‘Making the Grade: Legislative Assembly for the ACT—assessment against the updated
CPA Benchmarks for Democratic Legislatures’ by Tom Duncan, Clerk of the ACT Legislative
Assembly; and

• ‘Keeping the legislature modern: The addition of the integrity commissioner as an Officer
of the Assembly’ by Joy Burch MLA, Speaker of the Legislative Assembly.

The ACT Register of Lobbyists 

The ACT register of lobbyists has been in place since 1 January 2015. As at 30 June 2020, the 
register had 52 registrations: 46 companies, four natural persons and two partnerships. 
Following requests from registrants, seven registrations were removed from the register during 
the reporting period. 

Analysis of the Office’s performance

This section of the report outlines relevant performance information under the following
themes:

• members’ assessment of Office performance;

• parliamentary advice and support;

• business administration and support; and

• community and parliamentary engagement.

Members’ assessment of Office performance

Member assessments are conducted every two years. The next survey of members will be in 
2021.

Parliamentary advice and support

Questions

There were 588 questions placed on the notice paper in 2019-2020.

Petitions

During the reporting period, 24 petitions were presented to the Assembly (including 10 e-
petitions).

Fourteen petitions were referred to committees for consideration, in accordance with standing
order 99A, which automatically refers petitions and/or e-petitions in similar terms with a least
500 signatures to the relevant standing committee for consideration.

One petition was referred for inquiry and report, in accordance with standing order 99. One e-
petition was still open for signatures at the end of the reporting period.

Amendments to standing orders

Following a thorough review of the standing orders in 2018 that came into effect on 1 January 
2019, the Assembly made some additional minor amendments during the reporting period. A 
number related to modifications required to the standing orders in response to the COVID-19
pandemic to enable physical distancing requirements, reduce the physical handling of
documents and enable committees to meet virtually.

Hansard

During the reporting period, Hansard transcribed, edited and published 177.46 hours of 
Assembly proceedings and 176.53 hours of committee hearings. Hansard processed and
published 517 answers to questions on notice, which was a 54 per cent reduction from the previous
year. The decrease in hours transcribed and number of questions on notice processed was due 
to the reduced number of Assembly sitting days and committee hearings brought about by 
COVID-19. Hansard continued to meet its key performance targets in the preparation, distribution 
and publication of transcripts.
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and the Table Talk newsletter. Each parliamentary jurisdiction contributes to these publications. 

A highlight of the year is the annual ANZACATT professional development seminar, which is 
rotated between parliaments. The Office was scheduled to host the seminar from 22-24 January, 
with a theme of Parliamentary Culture. However, due to the thick smoke from the south coast 
bushfires that had been severely affecting Canberra’s air quality for weeks, a decision was made 
to cancel the event. 

The association also delivers an annual parliamentary law, practice and procedure course, which 
comprises a five-day face-to-face program at University of Tasmania in June each year, followed 
by the pursuant of individual research topics. The Office nominated one staff member for this 
year’s course, although, due to COVID-19 restrictions, the current course is being delivered 
entirely in an online format.  

Staff also contribute to the administration of ANZACATT: the Deputy Clerk/Sergeant-at-Arms is a 
member of ANZACATT’s education committee and professional development committee, and 
the Clerk Assistant is the secretary for the executive committee. 

Papers presented, Presiding Officers and Clerks Conference 

At the 50th Presiding Officers and Clerks Conference, Brisbane, Queensland held in July 2019, 
the following papers were presented: 

• ‘Making the Grade: Legislative Assembly for the ACT—assessment against the updated 
CPA Benchmarks for Democratic Legislatures’ by Tom Duncan, Clerk of the ACT Legislative 
Assembly; and 

• ‘Keeping the legislature modern: The addition of the integrity commissioner as an Officer 
of the Assembly’ by Joy Burch MLA, Speaker of the Legislative Assembly. 

The ACT Register of Lobbyists 

The ACT register of lobbyists has been in place since 1 January 2015. As at 30 June 2020, the 
register had 52 registrations: 46 companies, four natural persons and two partnerships. 
Following requests from registrants, seven registrations were removed from the register during 
the reporting period. 

  

 

 

Analysis of the Office’s performance 

This section of the report outlines relevant performance information under the following 
themes: 

• members’ assessment of Office performance; 

• parliamentary advice and support; 

• business administration and support; and 

• community and parliamentary engagement. 

Members’ assessment of Office performance 

Member assessments are conducted every two years. The next survey of members will be in 
2021. 

Parliamentary advice and support 

Questions 

There were 588 questions placed on the notice paper in 2019-2020.  

Petitions 

During the reporting period, 24 petitions were presented to the Assembly (including 10 e-
petitions). 

Fourteen petitions were referred to committees for consideration, in accordance with standing 
order 99A, which automatically refers petitions and/or e-petitions in similar terms with a least 
500 signatures to the relevant standing committee for consideration. 

One petition was referred for inquiry and report, in accordance with standing order 99. One e-
petition was still open for signatures at the end of the reporting period. 

Amendments to standing orders 

Following a thorough review of the standing orders in 2018 that came into effect on 1 January 
2019, the Assembly made some additional minor amendments during the reporting period. A 
number related to modifications required to the standing orders in response to the COVID-19 
pandemic to enable physical distancing requirements, reduce the physical handling of 
documents and enable committees to meet virtually. 

Hansard 

During the reporting period, Hansard transcribed, edited and published 177.46 hours of 
Assembly proceedings and 176.53 hours of committee hearings. Hansard processed and 
published 517 answers to questions on notice, which was a 54 per cent reduction from the previous 
year. The decrease in hours transcribed and number of questions on notice processed was due 
to the reduced number of Assembly sitting days and committee hearings brought about by 
COVID-19. Hansard continued to meet its key performance targets in the preparation, distribution 
and publication of transcripts. 
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Figure 4: Net hours of Hansard transcription in 2019-2020 compared with two previous 
reporting periods 

 

Figure 5: Answers to questions on notice published in 2019-2020 compared with two previous 
reporting periods 

 

Assembly library 

In November 2019 the library launched a new website and migrated to a new management 
system. Both the management system and website offer clients a more intuitive and appealing 
interface and improve the information retrieval and reporting functionality for staff. 

In February 2020 the library farewelled a long-time staff member to retirement. In recognition of 
the move towards managing digital and online content over physical library collections, the 
vacated ASO3 position and a part-time PO1 position were abolished and a new Senior Librarian 
(Professional Officer Grade 2) position was created. The result is a smaller library team of four, 
but with a greater capacity to execute the evolving and complex functions of a modern library. 
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To streamline book acquisitions, accounts have been established with book vendors. Subject-
based alert profiles have been developed to assist with selection. Further, a single source for 
print journal purchasing has been established. These subscription services have increased 
efficiency for title selection, ordering and invoicing. 

To enhance access to online information, the library upgraded the digital repository that houses 
the media release and press clippings collections. A download cart was added, enabling users to 
select media releases and articles for bulk export. 

Business administration and support 

The Office’s Business Support Branch provides a range of services across a number of functions 
to Assembly members and their staff and to the staff of the Office of the Legislative Assembly. 
These include: 

• information technology and information management; 

• protective security; 

• building services; 

• human resource and entitlements administration; and 

• financial management. 

Support of COVID-19 response planning 

Significant effort went into responding to the COVID-19 pandemic in the first half of 2020. This 
included assisting in the development of a COVID-19 response plan, implementing working from 
home arrangements for significant portions of the Office’s staff, and ensuring that COVID-19 risk 
control measures were implemented.  

Implementation of the HROnline project 

A new online HR payroll system (Aurion) was implemented in late June 2020, ahead of the new 
financial year. Referred to as HROnline, the new system enables staff and managers to access HR 
data and processes at any time, using their desktop, tablet or mobile device, and removes the 
requirement to submit paper-based forms for processes such as time sheets and leave 
applications. 

Administration of official travel 

During the reporting period, the Office provided travel management support for eight members 
to attend 12 official travel events. The associated costs are reported on the Assembly website 
and are updated every six months. 

Travel for members was suspended in the second half of the year due to the COVID-19 travel 
restrictions. 
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the move towards managing digital and online content over physical library collections, the 
vacated ASO3 position and a part-time PO1 position were abolished and a new Senior Librarian 
(Professional Officer Grade 2) position was created. The result is a smaller library team of four, 
but with a greater capacity to execute the evolving and complex functions of a modern library. 
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To streamline book acquisitions, accounts have been established with book vendors. Subject-
based alert profiles have been developed to assist with selection. Further, a single source for 
print journal purchasing has been established. These subscription services have increased 
efficiency for title selection, ordering and invoicing. 

To enhance access to online information, the library upgraded the digital repository that houses 
the media release and press clippings collections. A download cart was added, enabling users to 
select media releases and articles for bulk export. 

Business administration and support 

The Office’s Business Support Branch provides a range of services across a number of functions 
to Assembly members and their staff and to the staff of the Office of the Legislative Assembly. 
These include: 

• information technology and information management; 

• protective security; 

• building services; 

• human resource and entitlements administration; and 

• financial management. 

Support of COVID-19 response planning 

Significant effort went into responding to the COVID-19 pandemic in the first half of 2020. This 
included assisting in the development of a COVID-19 response plan, implementing working from 
home arrangements for significant portions of the Office’s staff, and ensuring that COVID-19 risk 
control measures were implemented.  

Implementation of the HROnline project 

A new online HR payroll system (Aurion) was implemented in late June 2020, ahead of the new 
financial year. Referred to as HROnline, the new system enables staff and managers to access HR 
data and processes at any time, using their desktop, tablet or mobile device, and removes the 
requirement to submit paper-based forms for processes such as time sheets and leave 
applications. 

Administration of official travel 

During the reporting period, the Office provided travel management support for eight members 
to attend 12 official travel events. The associated costs are reported on the Assembly website 
and are updated every six months. 

Travel for members was suspended in the second half of the year due to the COVID-19 travel 
restrictions. 
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Community and parliamentary engagement 

Social media and website 

The key aims of the Office’s communication activities are to promote the roles and functions of 
the Assembly and to encourage public participation. 

The Office has continued to use Twitter (@ACT_Assembly) to increase public awareness of 
Assembly business by publishing tweets on proceedings and general news. During the reporting 
period, the Office published 222 tweets and by the end of the period had approximately 3,375 
twitter subscribers—223 more than at the same time in 2019. 

The Office has continued to develop the presence of the Facebook page (@ACTAssembly). Used 
in tandem with Twitter, the Facebook page increases the Office’s capacity to provide content on 
proceedings and offers another means by which ACT residents can access Assembly information. 
During the reporting period, the Office published 136 Facebook posts and by the end of the 
period had approximately 600 followers—221 more than at the same time in 2019. 

The Assembly’s primary website (parliament.act.gov.au) had 139,473 visitors from 1 July 2019 to 
25 April 2020. Statistics for the remainder of the reporting period are unavailable, as an anomaly 
related to the website redesign meant that data was not collected from 26 April 2020 to the end 
of the period. Available website usage details are provided in Appendix 8 of this report. 

Parliamentary education 

Throughout the reporting period, 1,848 people visited the Assembly as part of the Office’s 
community engagement and education programs. Programs are evaluated by a satisfaction 
survey, and 99 per cent of participants who were surveyed returned positive feedback. 

The success of the Assembly’s education and engagement program relies heavily on the 
involvement of MLAs. Participants in the Assembly’s education and engagement program 
continue to report that meeting with MLAs is highly valued. During the year there were 80 
occasions of member involvement in education-related activities. 

The Education and Engagement program was suspended in 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
All visitor programs and public tours were cancelled from 12 March.  

Detailed statistics on education programs are included at Appendix 17. 

ACT Schools Constitutional Convention (25-26 July 2019) 

The Schools Constitutional Convention has taken place in the ACT every year since 2000. It is a 
collaborative venture undertaken by the Legislative Assembly, the Australian and ACT Electoral 
Commissions, the Museum of Australian Democracy, the National Archives of Australia, the 
Education Directorate and the ANU College of Law. 

The convention provides year 11 students with a comprehensive understanding of the Australian 
Constitution and the mechanisms by which changes can be made to it under section 128. 

The topic for the 2019 convention was ‘Should the Commonwealth Parliament have specific 
powers to legislate for the environment?’, and 96 students and teachers from 12 ACT 
government and non-government schools participated in the event.  

  

 

 

The two-day convention, hosted by the National Archives, the Museum of Australian Democracy 
and the Legislative Assembly, featured role plays, discussion groups, a viewing of some original 
constitutional documents, and presentations on the Constitution and the means by which 
changes to it can be brought about. Student leaders (year 12 students) from ACT schools who 
attended the National Schools Constitutional Convention in March 2019 also provided 
assistance. 

The ANU College of Law provided significant input to the program, with a number of eminent 
academics contributing detailed information on the role of the Constitution and the referendum 
process. 

Five students were selected to represent the ACT in the National Schools Constitutional 
Convention, which was scheduled to take place at the Museum of Australian Democracy in early 
2020 but was cancelled due to COVID-19. 

Work experience students/internships 

Work experience and internship placements in members’ offices were undertaken by 20 
students from high schools, colleges, the University of Canberra and the Australian National 
University during the reporting period. 

Interschool parliamentary debates program 

The interschool parliamentary debates program provides students from years 7 to 12 with the 
opportunity to practise parliamentary debating skills in the Assembly chamber. 

Two interschool parliamentary debates programs were held in 2019, but three programs 
scheduled for the first half of 2020 were cancelled due to the coronavirus pandemic. This year 90 
students and accompanying teachers from government and non-government schools 
participated in the programs. Some schools attended on more than one occasion. 

The Speaker, Deputy Speaker, Assistant Speakers and members presided over the debates and 
provided feedback to students on debating technique. 

School/college visits and outreach activities 

School visits are an integral component of the Office’s education program. They include visits to 
the Assembly, where students are given the chance to participate in role plays in the 
parliamentary chamber, mock elections, tours of the building and presentations on the roles and 
functions of the Assembly. Students also have the opportunity to meet the members. 

During the reporting period, 868 students participated in these activities. Teachers completed 
assessments of the program and, as in previous years, feedback indicated that the materials 
provided were relevant and that the programs supported the related curricula. 

Community groups 

During the reporting period, a total of 61 people from a range of community groups engaged with 
the Assembly. Groups included adult education classes from CIT, National Seniors, and the 
University of the Third Age. 
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25 April 2020. Statistics for the remainder of the reporting period are unavailable, as an anomaly 
related to the website redesign meant that data was not collected from 26 April 2020 to the end 
of the period. Available website usage details are provided in Appendix 8 of this report. 
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Throughout the reporting period, 1,848 people visited the Assembly as part of the Office’s 
community engagement and education programs. Programs are evaluated by a satisfaction 
survey, and 99 per cent of participants who were surveyed returned positive feedback. 

The success of the Assembly’s education and engagement program relies heavily on the 
involvement of MLAs. Participants in the Assembly’s education and engagement program 
continue to report that meeting with MLAs is highly valued. During the year there were 80 
occasions of member involvement in education-related activities. 

The Education and Engagement program was suspended in 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
All visitor programs and public tours were cancelled from 12 March.  

Detailed statistics on education programs are included at Appendix 17. 

ACT Schools Constitutional Convention (25-26 July 2019) 

The Schools Constitutional Convention has taken place in the ACT every year since 2000. It is a 
collaborative venture undertaken by the Legislative Assembly, the Australian and ACT Electoral 
Commissions, the Museum of Australian Democracy, the National Archives of Australia, the 
Education Directorate and the ANU College of Law. 

The convention provides year 11 students with a comprehensive understanding of the Australian 
Constitution and the mechanisms by which changes can be made to it under section 128. 

The topic for the 2019 convention was ‘Should the Commonwealth Parliament have specific 
powers to legislate for the environment?’, and 96 students and teachers from 12 ACT 
government and non-government schools participated in the event.  

  

 

 

The two-day convention, hosted by the National Archives, the Museum of Australian Democracy 
and the Legislative Assembly, featured role plays, discussion groups, a viewing of some original 
constitutional documents, and presentations on the Constitution and the means by which 
changes to it can be brought about. Student leaders (year 12 students) from ACT schools who 
attended the National Schools Constitutional Convention in March 2019 also provided 
assistance. 

The ANU College of Law provided significant input to the program, with a number of eminent 
academics contributing detailed information on the role of the Constitution and the referendum 
process. 

Five students were selected to represent the ACT in the National Schools Constitutional 
Convention, which was scheduled to take place at the Museum of Australian Democracy in early 
2020 but was cancelled due to COVID-19. 

Work experience students/internships 

Work experience and internship placements in members’ offices were undertaken by 20 
students from high schools, colleges, the University of Canberra and the Australian National 
University during the reporting period. 

Interschool parliamentary debates program 

The interschool parliamentary debates program provides students from years 7 to 12 with the 
opportunity to practise parliamentary debating skills in the Assembly chamber. 

Two interschool parliamentary debates programs were held in 2019, but three programs 
scheduled for the first half of 2020 were cancelled due to the coronavirus pandemic. This year 90 
students and accompanying teachers from government and non-government schools 
participated in the programs. Some schools attended on more than one occasion. 

The Speaker, Deputy Speaker, Assistant Speakers and members presided over the debates and 
provided feedback to students on debating technique. 

School/college visits and outreach activities 

School visits are an integral component of the Office’s education program. They include visits to 
the Assembly, where students are given the chance to participate in role plays in the 
parliamentary chamber, mock elections, tours of the building and presentations on the roles and 
functions of the Assembly. Students also have the opportunity to meet the members. 

During the reporting period, 868 students participated in these activities. Teachers completed 
assessments of the program and, as in previous years, feedback indicated that the materials 
provided were relevant and that the programs supported the related curricula. 

Community groups 

During the reporting period, a total of 61 people from a range of community groups engaged with 
the Assembly. Groups included adult education classes from CIT, National Seniors, and the 
University of the Third Age. 
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Community outreach 

Staff attended a number of festivals to promote the work of the Assembly and ways to get 
involved in the democratic process. Festivals included Springout Fair Day, Southfest and the 
Multicultural Festival. Information was provided to 201 ACT residents. 

Speaker’s citizenship evenings (welcome ceremonies for new citizens) 

The Speaker hosted two citizenship evenings during the year for ACT residents who had recently 
become Australian citizens. The evenings provide new citizens with an introduction to the 
workings of the Assembly. Guests met with MLAs, toured the building and participated in a 
question and answer session with the Speaker and MLAs in the chamber. This year 77 new 
citizens participated in these events. 

Delegations 

Throughout the year, tours of the chamber and visits to question time were held for visiting 
inter-parliamentary delegations, with 11 people taking part. See Appendix 15 for details of 
visiting delegations. 

Building tours 

The Office conducts weekly public tours of the Assembly building, as well as tours for new staff 
and for visitors upon request by members. Tours start in the chamber and committee rooms 
before proceeding to the rest of the building. Participants learn about self-government in the ACT, 
the unique features of the Assembly, what happens on a sitting day, Assembly committees, how to 
get involved in the democratic processes of the Assembly, and the Assembly art collection. This 
year 164 people participated in these tours during the first part of the reporting period. Tours 
were suspended from early March due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Public sector 

Three seminars for ACT public sector members were held during the reporting period. The topics 
covered in the seminars included the role of the Assembly, the importance of Assembly 
committees, and the legislative process. Two Teacher Quality Institute (TQI) accredited programs 
were also conducted for ACT teachers during the reporting period. These programs had 260 
participants. 

Legislative Assembly art advisory committee 

During the reporting period, the Office provided administrative support to the Legislative 
Assembly Art Advisory Committee. 

The committee, chaired by the Speaker, comprises three MLAs (one each from the government, 
opposition and crossbench), three ACT arts community representatives, a curatorial adviser and 
representatives of the Office. 

  

 

 

The committee met on one occasion in 2018-2019, and the following artworks were purchased: 

• Aunty Matilda House ‘Murrimgidga dooligah’ evening 1996, colour lithograph; 

• Emily Birks Brush-tailed Rock-wallaby 2019, ink on paper; 

• Michael Taylor The river 2018, oil on canvas; 

• Roy Churcher Mt Ainslie from Fyshwick 199, oil on linen; 

• Roy Churcher Copse 1999, oil on linen; 

• Heather Burness Honeysuckle Interference NE+SW 2019, intaglio multiplate colour print; 

• Heather Burness Honeysuckle Interference SW+A 2019, intaglio multiplate colour print; 

• Heather Burness Honeysuckle Interference AN+E 2019, intaglio multiplate colour print; 

• Brigid Cole-Adams, from the Exotic Order, Canberra series 1996-2000—Colonising 
Landscape, 20 watercolours; and 

• Patsy Hely, Works from the ‘Heard’ series 2019—Was that a Fairy Wren? Was that a 
Scarlet Robin? Was that a Silvereye? Was that a White Throated Treecreeper?, slip-cast 
porcelain, under- and over-glaze colour, ceramic decals. 

The following gift was accepted by the committee during the reporting period: 

• Jon Rhodes Scarred trees of Wanniassa 1998, three gelatin silver prints. 

New acquisitions are typically displayed in the Assembly building on the ground floor corridor 
along London Circuit to provide an opportunity for the public to view them before they are 
relocated to members’ offices and other areas of the building. 

Legislative Assembly prizes for art 

The Assembly, in conjunction with the ANU School of Art, continued its support for emerging 
artists, and two prizes of $500 each were awarded to two final year graduating students at the 
School of Art. The prize money is for winning students to purchase art supplies and materials. 
Students are also offered the opportunity to display their works in the Assembly building for 12 
months and to host an exhibition. The recipients of the 2019 prizes were Kate Matthews (The 
Public Machine 2019, photomontage paste-up, augmented reality) and Joseph Nuttall 
(Comprehension Orange, Cream, Blue 2019, oil on canvas). 

 

OFFICE OF THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY ANNUAL REPORT 2019-2038

200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   38200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   38 9/28/20   12:30 PM9/28/20   12:30 PM



 

 

Community outreach 

Staff attended a number of festivals to promote the work of the Assembly and ways to get 
involved in the democratic process. Festivals included Springout Fair Day, Southfest and the 
Multicultural Festival. Information was provided to 201 ACT residents. 

Speaker’s citizenship evenings (welcome ceremonies for new citizens) 

The Speaker hosted two citizenship evenings during the year for ACT residents who had recently 
become Australian citizens. The evenings provide new citizens with an introduction to the 
workings of the Assembly. Guests met with MLAs, toured the building and participated in a 
question and answer session with the Speaker and MLAs in the chamber. This year 77 new 
citizens participated in these events. 

Delegations 

Throughout the year, tours of the chamber and visits to question time were held for visiting 
inter-parliamentary delegations, with 11 people taking part. See Appendix 15 for details of 
visiting delegations. 

Building tours 

The Office conducts weekly public tours of the Assembly building, as well as tours for new staff 
and for visitors upon request by members. Tours start in the chamber and committee rooms 
before proceeding to the rest of the building. Participants learn about self-government in the ACT, 
the unique features of the Assembly, what happens on a sitting day, Assembly committees, how to 
get involved in the democratic processes of the Assembly, and the Assembly art collection. This 
year 164 people participated in these tours during the first part of the reporting period. Tours 
were suspended from early March due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Public sector 

Three seminars for ACT public sector members were held during the reporting period. The topics 
covered in the seminars included the role of the Assembly, the importance of Assembly 
committees, and the legislative process. Two Teacher Quality Institute (TQI) accredited programs 
were also conducted for ACT teachers during the reporting period. These programs had 260 
participants. 

Legislative Assembly art advisory committee 

During the reporting period, the Office provided administrative support to the Legislative 
Assembly Art Advisory Committee. 

The committee, chaired by the Speaker, comprises three MLAs (one each from the government, 
opposition and crossbench), three ACT arts community representatives, a curatorial adviser and 
representatives of the Office. 

  

 

 

The committee met on one occasion in 2018-2019, and the following artworks were purchased: 

• Aunty Matilda House ‘Murrimgidga dooligah’ evening 1996, colour lithograph; 

• Emily Birks Brush-tailed Rock-wallaby 2019, ink on paper; 

• Michael Taylor The river 2018, oil on canvas; 

• Roy Churcher Mt Ainslie from Fyshwick 199, oil on linen; 

• Roy Churcher Copse 1999, oil on linen; 

• Heather Burness Honeysuckle Interference NE+SW 2019, intaglio multiplate colour print; 

• Heather Burness Honeysuckle Interference SW+A 2019, intaglio multiplate colour print; 

• Heather Burness Honeysuckle Interference AN+E 2019, intaglio multiplate colour print; 

• Brigid Cole-Adams, from the Exotic Order, Canberra series 1996-2000—Colonising 
Landscape, 20 watercolours; and 

• Patsy Hely, Works from the ‘Heard’ series 2019—Was that a Fairy Wren? Was that a 
Scarlet Robin? Was that a Silvereye? Was that a White Throated Treecreeper?, slip-cast 
porcelain, under- and over-glaze colour, ceramic decals. 
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Legislative Assembly prizes for art 

The Assembly, in conjunction with the ANU School of Art, continued its support for emerging 
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Legislative and
policy-based 
reporting

Internal and external scrutiny 
Committee recommendations 

Table 1 outlines the status of committee recommendations directed towards the Office and the 
Speaker’s response to them. 

Table 1: Committee recommendations 

Recommendations Speaker’s response 

Standing Committee on Public Accounts—
Inquiry into annual and financial reports 
2018-2019 
The committee recommends that the Office 
of the Legislative Assembly amend the 
Parliamentary performance report card to 
provide further context for information 
reported. 

Following the appearance by the Speaker and the Office of the 
Legislative Assembly before the committee on 5 November 2019, all 
Parliamentary Performance Report Cards were updated on the 
Assembly’s website. The updates related to constituent 
representations to ministers by non-executive members to indicate 
that the figures included on the Report Card relate to the average 
number of constituent matters referred to ministers by 
non-executive members in a year. The updates were made in 
February 2020, prior to the out-of-session tabling of the committee’s 
report in March 2020. 

Select Committee on Estimates 2019-2020 
Recommendation 16 
The committee recommends that the Office 
of the Legislative Assembly increase staffing 
for the committee secretariat within the 
Committee Support Office. 
Recommendation 17 
The committee recommends that the Office 
of the Legislative Assembly increase the level 
of administrative support provided to 
committee secretaries. 

Recommendations (Nos 16 and 17) are noted. The Speaker will 
discuss these recommendations with the Standing Committee on 
Administration and Procedure when it considers the OLA budget 
submission for the 2020-21 Budget. It should be noted that in the 
2017-18 Budget, the Assembly received funding for two additional 
secretaries, reflecting that the Assembly had, in the Ninth Assembly, 
increased the number of general-purpose standing committees by 
two committees. 
In the 2018-19 Budget the Assembly received supplementation for 
the life of the Ninth Assembly for administrative assistance to assist 
in digitising committee records, and OLA had already intended to 
seek funding to continue that funding once the structure of the 
committee system is known for the Tenth Assembly. 

Select Committee on Estimates 2019-2020 
Recommendation 18 
The committee recommends that the Office 
of the Legislative Assembly implement the 
Legislative Assembly searchable Questions on 
Notice database. 

The recommendation is noted. It should be noted that in last year’s 
budget the Assembly received funding for preliminary work on digital 
transformation projects. Work on a digital system for asking and 
answering questions will continue. 
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Internal and external scrutiny 
Committee recommendations 

Table 1 outlines the status of committee recommendations directed towards the Office and the 
Speaker’s response to them. 

Table 1: Committee recommendations 

Recommendations Speaker’s response 

Standing Committee on Public Accounts—
Inquiry into annual and financial reports 
2018-2019 
The committee recommends that the Office 
of the Legislative Assembly amend the 
Parliamentary performance report card to 
provide further context for information 
reported. 

Following the appearance by the Speaker and the Office of the 
Legislative Assembly before the committee on 5 November 2019, all 
Parliamentary Performance Report Cards were updated on the 
Assembly’s website. The updates related to constituent 
representations to ministers by non-executive members to indicate 
that the figures included on the Report Card relate to the average 
number of constituent matters referred to ministers by 
non-executive members in a year. The updates were made in 
February 2020, prior to the out-of-session tabling of the committee’s 
report in March 2020. 

Select Committee on Estimates 2019-2020 
Recommendation 16 
The committee recommends that the Office 
of the Legislative Assembly increase staffing 
for the committee secretariat within the 
Committee Support Office. 
Recommendation 17 
The committee recommends that the Office 
of the Legislative Assembly increase the level 
of administrative support provided to 
committee secretaries. 

Recommendations (Nos 16 and 17) are noted. The Speaker will 
discuss these recommendations with the Standing Committee on 
Administration and Procedure when it considers the OLA budget 
submission for the 2020-21 Budget. It should be noted that in the 
2017-18 Budget, the Assembly received funding for two additional 
secretaries, reflecting that the Assembly had, in the Ninth Assembly, 
increased the number of general-purpose standing committees by 
two committees. 
In the 2018-19 Budget the Assembly received supplementation for 
the life of the Ninth Assembly for administrative assistance to assist 
in digitising committee records, and OLA had already intended to 
seek funding to continue that funding once the structure of the 
committee system is known for the Tenth Assembly. 

Select Committee on Estimates 2019-2020 
Recommendation 18 
The committee recommends that the Office 
of the Legislative Assembly implement the 
Legislative Assembly searchable Questions on 
Notice database. 

The recommendation is noted. It should be noted that in last year’s 
budget the Assembly received funding for preliminary work on digital 
transformation projects. Work on a digital system for asking and 
answering questions will continue. 
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Risk management and internal audit 
Risk management 

The Office remains committed to ensuring that all non-trivial risks are well managed across the 
organisation and that staff across the Office have the necessary skills and knowledge to 
incorporate risk management into the delivery of key functions for which they are responsible. 

Based on AS/NZS ISO 31000:2018, the Office’s risk management framework is designed to inform 
sound decision-making across the organisation and assist in promoting awareness and 
understanding of risk management issues amongst Office staff. 

The Office maintains a register of strategic risks, owned by the Office’s executive management 
committee, which encompasses risk assessments and treatments directed towards risks 
associated with the performance of its statutory functions and key business objectives. 

The Office also maintains: 

• a protective security risk register owned by the protective security committee; 

• a workplace health and safety risk register owned by the workplace health and safety 
committee; and 

• a fraud and corruption risk register owned by the Senior Director, Office of the Clerk, and 
the Chief Finance Officer. 

Internal audit 

The Office’s internal audit committee reports directly to the Clerk of the Assembly and operates 
under a charter that establishes the role of the committee as being to review and monitor: 

• the extent of compliance with applicable laws, regulations and directions, including 
agency policy; 

• the effectiveness of the design, implementation and operation of internal controls; 

• the completeness, accuracy and reliability of financial and operating information and 
underlying records; and 

• the efficiency and effectiveness of business and program, or service, delivery processes. 

The committee finalised audits in relation to library services, contract management and travel 
entitlements. 

Table 2: Internal audit committee members and meetings 

Name Position Service Number of meetings 

Will Laurie independent chair From 1 January 2016 3 

David Skinner member From 29 August 2016 3 

Hamish Finlay member 22 July 2015-30 June 2020 3 

Emma Rogers member 14 November 2015-5 March 2020 3 

Marcus Clough member From 6 March 2020 1 

  

 

 

TABLE 3: Summary of internal audit recommendations 

Organisation Nature of recommendations Management 
response 

Internal audit—OLA Digital 
Assembly Project Health Check 
(North) 

21 recommendations were made, all of which were 
agreed to, and which will form the basis of an 
implementation plan associated with the design 
and adoption of relevant digital workflow 
technologies by the Office.  

Agree 

Fraud and corruption prevention 
During the period, the Office adopted a revised fraud and corruption prevention framework.  

The framework aims to raise awareness of fraud and corruption matters within the organisation 
and provide guidance to staff and contractors about the prevention, detection and reporting of 
suspected fraud and corruption. 

The revised framework also addresses requirements arising under the Integrity Commission Act 
2018 and the newly established Integrity Commission. 

The Office also maintains a register of risks associated with fraud and corruption, which was 
reviewed during the period.  

Public interest disclosure 
The Office has policies and procedures for receiving and investigating public interest disclosures. 
Details are available on the Assembly’s website and at the public entrance of the Assembly 
building. 

The Office’s disclosure officers are: 

The Clerk (02) 6205 0191 

Deputy Clerk and Serjeant-at-Arms (02) 6205 0171 

Senior Director, Office of the Clerk (02) 6205 0018 

The Office received one public interest disclosure during the reporting period. 

Freedom of information 
Organisation 

The Office is responsible to the Speaker of the Legislative Assembly through the Clerk, who is 
appointed pursuant to part 3 of the Legislative Assembly (Office of the Legislative Assembly) Act 
2012. Under section 10 of the Act, the Clerk is responsible for the management of the Office. 

The Clerk has the management powers of a director-general and head-of-service but is not 
subject to the direction of the executive. Office staff assisting the Clerk in the exercise of his or 
her powers and functions are employed pursuant to the Public Sector Management Act 1994. 
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Risk management and internal audit 
Risk management 

The Office remains committed to ensuring that all non-trivial risks are well managed across the 
organisation and that staff across the Office have the necessary skills and knowledge to 
incorporate risk management into the delivery of key functions for which they are responsible. 

Based on AS/NZS ISO 31000:2018, the Office’s risk management framework is designed to inform 
sound decision-making across the organisation and assist in promoting awareness and 
understanding of risk management issues amongst Office staff. 

The Office maintains a register of strategic risks, owned by the Office’s executive management 
committee, which encompasses risk assessments and treatments directed towards risks 
associated with the performance of its statutory functions and key business objectives. 

The Office also maintains: 

• a protective security risk register owned by the protective security committee; 

• a workplace health and safety risk register owned by the workplace health and safety 
committee; and 

• a fraud and corruption risk register owned by the Senior Director, Office of the Clerk, and 
the Chief Finance Officer. 

Internal audit 

The Office’s internal audit committee reports directly to the Clerk of the Assembly and operates 
under a charter that establishes the role of the committee as being to review and monitor: 

• the extent of compliance with applicable laws, regulations and directions, including 
agency policy; 

• the effectiveness of the design, implementation and operation of internal controls; 

• the completeness, accuracy and reliability of financial and operating information and 
underlying records; and 

• the efficiency and effectiveness of business and program, or service, delivery processes. 

The committee finalised audits in relation to library services, contract management and travel 
entitlements. 

Table 2: Internal audit committee members and meetings 

Name Position Service Number of meetings 

Will Laurie independent chair From 1 January 2016 3 

David Skinner member From 29 August 2016 3 

Hamish Finlay member 22 July 2015-30 June 2020 3 

Emma Rogers member 14 November 2015-5 March 2020 3 

Marcus Clough member From 6 March 2020 1 

  

 

 

TABLE 3: Summary of internal audit recommendations 

Organisation Nature of recommendations Management 
response 

Internal audit—OLA Digital 
Assembly Project Health Check 
(North) 

21 recommendations were made, all of which were 
agreed to, and which will form the basis of an 
implementation plan associated with the design 
and adoption of relevant digital workflow 
technologies by the Office.  

Agree 

Fraud and corruption prevention 
During the period, the Office adopted a revised fraud and corruption prevention framework.  

The framework aims to raise awareness of fraud and corruption matters within the organisation 
and provide guidance to staff and contractors about the prevention, detection and reporting of 
suspected fraud and corruption. 

The revised framework also addresses requirements arising under the Integrity Commission Act 
2018 and the newly established Integrity Commission. 

The Office also maintains a register of risks associated with fraud and corruption, which was 
reviewed during the period.  

Public interest disclosure 
The Office has policies and procedures for receiving and investigating public interest disclosures. 
Details are available on the Assembly’s website and at the public entrance of the Assembly 
building. 

The Office’s disclosure officers are: 

The Clerk (02) 6205 0191 

Deputy Clerk and Serjeant-at-Arms (02) 6205 0171 

Senior Director, Office of the Clerk (02) 6205 0018 

The Office received one public interest disclosure during the reporting period. 

Freedom of information 
Organisation 

The Office is responsible to the Speaker of the Legislative Assembly through the Clerk, who is 
appointed pursuant to part 3 of the Legislative Assembly (Office of the Legislative Assembly) Act 
2012. Under section 10 of the Act, the Clerk is responsible for the management of the Office. 

The Clerk has the management powers of a director-general and head-of-service but is not 
subject to the direction of the executive. Office staff assisting the Clerk in the exercise of his or 
her powers and functions are employed pursuant to the Public Sector Management Act 1994. 
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Powers 

Certain Office staff can exercise powers delegated by the Speaker pursuant to section 9(5) of the 
Legislative Assembly Precincts Act 2001. 

The Clerk also has powers under the Legislative Assembly (Broadcasting) Act 2001 in relation to 
the broadcasting of proceedings, including the approval of electronic access to the proceedings of 
the Assembly and the withdrawal of access. 

Arrangements for public participation 

Avenues for public participation include submissions to committee inquiries, access to public 
hearings of committee inquiries and Assembly meetings, citizen’s right of reply, petitions and 
access to administrative records and general files through freedom of information (FOI) 
requests. 

Freedom of Information (FOI) procedures and contact points 

All freedom of information (FOI) requests relating to the Office of the Legislative Assembly 
should be directed to: 

Freedom of Information Officer 
Office of the Legislative Assembly 
GPO Box 1020 
Canberra  ACT  2601 

Requests can also be delivered to the public entrance of the Legislative Assembly building 
located at Civic Square, London Circuit, Canberra City, or emailed to OLA@parliament.act.gov.au. 

A fact sheet with further information on submitting a FOI request and what you can expect 
throughout the process, can be found on the Assembly website. 

Reporting under the FOI Act 2016 

The Office received no FOI requests, and no requests for amendment of personal information 
under section 59 of the FOI Act, during the period 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020. 

Table 4: Freedom of Information data 

Operations undertaken during 2019-2020 under the Freedom of Information Act 2016 Quantity 

Decisions to publish open access information under section 24(1) 0 

Decisions not to publish open access information under section 24(1) 0 

Decisions under section 24(2)(a) not to publish a description of open access information 
not made available 

0 

Access applications received 0 

Access applications decided within the time to decide under section 40 0 

Access applications not decided within the time to decide under section 40 0 

Access applications where access to all information requested was given 0 

Access applications where access to only some of the information requested was given 0 

Requests made to amend personal information under section 59 0 

 

 

Number of applications made to the Ombudsman under section 74 and particulars of the 
results of the applications 

0 

Number of applications made to the ACAT under section 84 and particulars of the results of 
the applications 

0 

For each access application that was not decided within the time to decide under section 
40—the number of days taken to decide the application over the time to decide under 
section 40 

N/A 

For each request to amend personal information under section 59—the decision made 
under section 61 

N/A 

The total charges and application fees collected from access applications $0 

Documents available 

The Office maintains a list of open access information on its website. 

Other documents that may be available under the Freedom of Information Act 2016 are general 
files and administrative records; however, documents are exempt if disclosure would infringe the 
privileges of the Legislative Assembly or other Australian parliaments. 

Internal accountability 
The Office is headed by the Clerk (pursuant to section 10 of the Legislative Assembly (Office of the 
Legislative Assembly) Act 2012. The Clerk is supported by an executive management committee 
made up of: 

• Tom Duncan, Clerk; 

• Julia Agostino, Deputy Clerk and Serjeant-at-Arms; 

• Ian Duckworth, Executive Manager; 

• David Skinner, Senior Director, Office of the Clerk; and 

• Mal Prentice, Chief Finance Officer. 

The Office’s strategic plan informs the development of annual action plans and shapes decisions 
about how we provide advice and deliver services. 

The executive management committee meets monthly to make decisions relating to: 

• the delivery of the Office’s functions and services; 

• budgeting and finances; 

• workplace health and safety; 

• risk management; and 

• internal governance and accountability initiatives. 

All members of the executive management committee are subject to performance agreements. 
The agreements set out key responsibilities and work objectives. Agreements are reviewed on an 
annual basis. 
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Powers 

Certain Office staff can exercise powers delegated by the Speaker pursuant to section 9(5) of the 
Legislative Assembly Precincts Act 2001. 

The Clerk also has powers under the Legislative Assembly (Broadcasting) Act 2001 in relation to 
the broadcasting of proceedings, including the approval of electronic access to the proceedings of 
the Assembly and the withdrawal of access. 

Arrangements for public participation 

Avenues for public participation include submissions to committee inquiries, access to public 
hearings of committee inquiries and Assembly meetings, citizen’s right of reply, petitions and 
access to administrative records and general files through freedom of information (FOI) 
requests. 

Freedom of Information (FOI) procedures and contact points 

All freedom of information (FOI) requests relating to the Office of the Legislative Assembly 
should be directed to: 

Freedom of Information Officer 
Office of the Legislative Assembly 
GPO Box 1020 
Canberra  ACT  2601 

Requests can also be delivered to the public entrance of the Legislative Assembly building 
located at Civic Square, London Circuit, Canberra City, or emailed to OLA@parliament.act.gov.au. 

A fact sheet with further information on submitting a FOI request and what you can expect 
throughout the process, can be found on the Assembly website. 

Reporting under the FOI Act 2016 

The Office received no FOI requests, and no requests for amendment of personal information 
under section 59 of the FOI Act, during the period 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020. 

Table 4: Freedom of Information data 

Operations undertaken during 2019-2020 under the Freedom of Information Act 2016 Quantity 

Decisions to publish open access information under section 24(1) 0 

Decisions not to publish open access information under section 24(1) 0 

Decisions under section 24(2)(a) not to publish a description of open access information 
not made available 

0 

Access applications received 0 

Access applications decided within the time to decide under section 40 0 

Access applications not decided within the time to decide under section 40 0 

Access applications where access to all information requested was given 0 

Access applications where access to only some of the information requested was given 0 

Requests made to amend personal information under section 59 0 

 

 

Number of applications made to the Ombudsman under section 74 and particulars of the 
results of the applications 

0 

Number of applications made to the ACAT under section 84 and particulars of the results of 
the applications 

0 

For each access application that was not decided within the time to decide under section 
40—the number of days taken to decide the application over the time to decide under 
section 40 

N/A 

For each request to amend personal information under section 59—the decision made 
under section 61 

N/A 

The total charges and application fees collected from access applications $0 

Documents available 

The Office maintains a list of open access information on its website. 

Other documents that may be available under the Freedom of Information Act 2016 are general 
files and administrative records; however, documents are exempt if disclosure would infringe the 
privileges of the Legislative Assembly or other Australian parliaments. 

Internal accountability 
The Office is headed by the Clerk (pursuant to section 10 of the Legislative Assembly (Office of the 
Legislative Assembly) Act 2012. The Clerk is supported by an executive management committee 
made up of: 

• Tom Duncan, Clerk; 

• Julia Agostino, Deputy Clerk and Serjeant-at-Arms; 

• Ian Duckworth, Executive Manager; 

• David Skinner, Senior Director, Office of the Clerk; and 

• Mal Prentice, Chief Finance Officer. 

The Office’s strategic plan informs the development of annual action plans and shapes decisions 
about how we provide advice and deliver services. 

The executive management committee meets monthly to make decisions relating to: 

• the delivery of the Office’s functions and services; 

• budgeting and finances; 

• workplace health and safety; 

• risk management; and 

• internal governance and accountability initiatives. 

All members of the executive management committee are subject to performance agreements. 
The agreements set out key responsibilities and work objectives. Agreements are reviewed on an 
annual basis. 
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The key management committees within the Assembly are: 

• a health and safety committee (recognising the separate employer responsibilities, the 
committee is composed of representatives from the Office, members’ offices and the 
executive); 

• a protective security committee; 

• an internal audit committee; and 

• a staff consultative committee (comprising management, union and staff representatives). 

Remuneration arrangements for senior executive service officers within the Office are made 
pursuant to the Remuneration Tribunal Act 1995. 

Human Rights Act 
The Legislative Assembly plays an important role in the operation of the Human Rights Act 2004 
via its scrutiny of legislation through the Standing Committee on Justice and Community Safety 
(legislative scrutiny role). 

Under section 38(1), the committee is responsible for reporting to the Assembly on any human 
rights issues arising from certain bills presented to it, including any inconsistencies between 
proposed legislation and the Human Rights Act. 

Human resource performance 
An organisation chart, current at 30 June 2020, is shown in Figure 1. 

Staffing profile 

Table 5: Full-time equivalent (FTE) and headcount by section 

Section FTE Headcount 

Statutory office holder and senior executives 2.9 3 

Office of the Clerk 4.4 5 

Parliamentary Support 22.9 30 

Business Support 23.1 26 

Total 53.3 64 

Table 6: Full-time equivalent (FTE) and headcount by gender 

 Female Male Total 

FTE by gender 32.4 20.9 53.3 

Headcount by gender 41 24 64 

% of headcount 63% 37% 100% 

 

  

 

 

Table 7: Headcount by classification and gender 

Classification Female Male Total 

Administrative Services Officer Class 2 1 6 7 

Administrative Services Officer Class 3 1 1 2 

Administrative Services Officer Class 4 7 2 9 

Administrative Services Officer Class 5 1 1 2 

Administrative Services Officer Class 6 13 1 14 

Senior Officer Grade C 9 3 12 

Senior Officer Grade B 2 3 5 

Senior Officer Grade A - 3 3 

Information Technology Officer Class 2 1 - 1 

Technical Officer Level 2 - 1 1 

Technical Officer Level 4 - 1 1 

Professional Officer Class 1 1 - 1 

Professional Officer Class 2 2 - 2 

Senior Professional Officer Grade C 1 - 1 

Senior Executive Officer Level 1.2 1 1 2 

Statutory Office Holder - 1 1 

Total 40 24 64 

Table 8: Headcount by employment category and gender 

Employment category Female Male Total 

Casual 6 5 11 

Permanent full-time 19 16 35 

Permanent part-time 11 - 11 

Temporary full-time 3 2 5 

Temporary part-time 1 1 2 

Total 40 24 64 
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The key management committees within the Assembly are: 

• a health and safety committee (recognising the separate employer responsibilities, the 
committee is composed of representatives from the Office, members’ offices and the 
executive); 

• a protective security committee; 

• an internal audit committee; and 

• a staff consultative committee (comprising management, union and staff representatives). 

Remuneration arrangements for senior executive service officers within the Office are made 
pursuant to the Remuneration Tribunal Act 1995. 

Human Rights Act 
The Legislative Assembly plays an important role in the operation of the Human Rights Act 2004 
via its scrutiny of legislation through the Standing Committee on Justice and Community Safety 
(legislative scrutiny role). 

Under section 38(1), the committee is responsible for reporting to the Assembly on any human 
rights issues arising from certain bills presented to it, including any inconsistencies between 
proposed legislation and the Human Rights Act. 

Human resource performance 
An organisation chart, current at 30 June 2020, is shown in Figure 1. 

Staffing profile 

Table 5: Full-time equivalent (FTE) and headcount by section 

Section FTE Headcount 

Statutory office holder and senior executives 2.9 3 

Office of the Clerk 4.4 5 

Parliamentary Support 22.9 30 

Business Support 23.1 26 

Total 53.3 64 

Table 6: Full-time equivalent (FTE) and headcount by gender 

 Female Male Total 

FTE by gender 32.4 20.9 53.3 

Headcount by gender 41 24 64 

% of headcount 63% 37% 100% 

 

  

 

 

Table 7: Headcount by classification and gender 

Classification Female Male Total 

Administrative Services Officer Class 2 1 6 7 

Administrative Services Officer Class 3 1 1 2 

Administrative Services Officer Class 4 7 2 9 

Administrative Services Officer Class 5 1 1 2 

Administrative Services Officer Class 6 13 1 14 

Senior Officer Grade C 9 3 12 

Senior Officer Grade B 2 3 5 

Senior Officer Grade A - 3 3 

Information Technology Officer Class 2 1 - 1 

Technical Officer Level 2 - 1 1 

Technical Officer Level 4 - 1 1 

Professional Officer Class 1 1 - 1 

Professional Officer Class 2 2 - 2 

Senior Professional Officer Grade C 1 - 1 

Senior Executive Officer Level 1.2 1 1 2 

Statutory Office Holder - 1 1 

Total 40 24 64 

Table 8: Headcount by employment category and gender 

Employment category Female Male Total 

Casual 6 5 11 

Permanent full-time 19 16 35 

Permanent part-time 11 - 11 

Temporary full-time 3 2 5 

Temporary part-time 1 1 2 

Total 40 24 64 
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Table 9: Headcount by age group and gender 

Age group Female Male Total 

Under 20 - - - 

20-24 1 1 2 

25-29 2 - 2 

30-34 5 1 6 

35-39 2 - 2 

40-44 2 3 5 

45-49 6 2 8 

50-54 11 2 13 

55-59 5 8 13 

60-64 3 4 7 

65-69 2 1 3 

70+ 1 2 3 

Total 40 24 64 

Table 10: Length of service by gender 

 Female Male Total 

Average years of service 9.4 9.5 9.4 

Staff selection processes 

The Office undertook 12 staff selection processes during the reporting period (including 
temporary and casual vacancies). On average, the number of days between advertising and the 
appointment of the successful candidate was 45, which is an increase from 33 days in 2018-
2019. 

Table 11: Recruitment and separation rates by classification group 

Classification group Recruitment rate Separation rate 

Senior Officer Grade A 1.39 - 

Senior Officer Grade C 2.78 2.78 

Administrative Services Officer Class 6 2.78 1.39 

Administrative Services Officer Class 5 1.39 - 

Administrative Services Officer Class 4 1.39 - 

Administrative Services Officer Class 3 1.39 1.39 

Administrative Services Officer Class 2 - 1.39 

Total 11.13% 6.96% 

 

  

 

 

Members’ staff employment 

A significant element of the Office’s human resource management effort relates to its role in the 
administration of the employment of staff, and the engagement of contractors, by non-executive 
members under the Legislative Assembly (Members’ Staff) Act 1989 (the LAMS Act). 

The employment arrangements for non-executive members are based on a staff salary allocation 
that is determined by the Chief Minister under the LAMS Act. As part of these arrangements, the 
Office monitors and updates relevant staff salary allocations and prepares and manages the 
execution of all staff employment agreements and contractor agreements. 

A total of 120 employment agreements were administered by the Office over the reporting 
period. This compares with 125 for the 2018-2019 year. 

Members may also engage external contractors throughout the financial year, provided that 
they use funds from their staff salary allocation. In the 2019-2020 financial year three members 
engaged one external contractor each, to perform various pieces of work. 

Another element of the Office’s administration of staff salary allocations for non-executive 
members relates to the pledging of allocations from one member to another. Under the staff 
salary allocation arrangements for non-executive members, a member may pledge part of their 
staff salary allocation to another member. The following table summarises the staff salary 
allocation of each non-executive member and the total amounts pledged or received by, or from, 
other members. 
Table 12: Use of staff salary allocation by non-executive members, including pledges made or 
received 

Member Rollover Annual 
allocation 

Pledge 
received 

Pledge 
made 

Staff 
expenses 

Future 
rollover 

Unused 
allocation 

Burch C 17,736 182,210 - - 183,147 16,799 - 

Burch J 25,465 261,614 - - 279,018 8,061 - 

Cheyne 6,509 195,000 - - 192,674 8,835 - 

Cody 17,736 182,210 - - 178,589 18,221 3,136 

Coe 60,709 667,265 2,498 40,000 610,082 66,727 13,663 

Dunne 8,589 182,210 40,000 2,498 228,301 - - 

Gupta - 171,699 - - 132,190 17,170 22,339 

Hanson 14,698 182,210 - 12,000 184,659 249 - 

Jones 17,736 182,210 12,000 - 191,145 18,221 2,580 

Kikkert 8,249 182,210 - - 187,811 2,648 - 

Lawder 19,088 202,000 - - 207,918 13,170 - 

Le Couteur 35,546 365,174 - - 384,501 16,219 - 

Lee 13,795 182,210 - - 165,942 18,221 11,842 

Milligan 814 182,210 - - 180,775 2,249 - 

Orr 15,618 27,818 - - 30,753 - 12,683 

Parton 17,736 182,210 - - 176,044 18,221 5,681 

Pettersson 17,736 182,210 - - 190,002 9,944 - 

Wall 17,998 195,000 - - 211,386 1,612 - 

Total 315,758 3,907,670 54,498 54,498 3,914,937 236,567 71,924 
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Table 9: Headcount by age group and gender 

Age group Female Male Total 

Under 20 - - - 

20-24 1 1 2 

25-29 2 - 2 

30-34 5 1 6 

35-39 2 - 2 

40-44 2 3 5 

45-49 6 2 8 

50-54 11 2 13 

55-59 5 8 13 

60-64 3 4 7 

65-69 2 1 3 

70+ 1 2 3 

Total 40 24 64 

Table 10: Length of service by gender 

 Female Male Total 

Average years of service 9.4 9.5 9.4 

Staff selection processes 

The Office undertook 12 staff selection processes during the reporting period (including 
temporary and casual vacancies). On average, the number of days between advertising and the 
appointment of the successful candidate was 45, which is an increase from 33 days in 2018-
2019. 

Table 11: Recruitment and separation rates by classification group 

Classification group Recruitment rate Separation rate 

Senior Officer Grade A 1.39 - 

Senior Officer Grade C 2.78 2.78 

Administrative Services Officer Class 6 2.78 1.39 

Administrative Services Officer Class 5 1.39 - 

Administrative Services Officer Class 4 1.39 - 

Administrative Services Officer Class 3 1.39 1.39 

Administrative Services Officer Class 2 - 1.39 

Total 11.13% 6.96% 

 

  

 

 

Members’ staff employment 

A significant element of the Office’s human resource management effort relates to its role in the 
administration of the employment of staff, and the engagement of contractors, by non-executive 
members under the Legislative Assembly (Members’ Staff) Act 1989 (the LAMS Act). 

The employment arrangements for non-executive members are based on a staff salary allocation 
that is determined by the Chief Minister under the LAMS Act. As part of these arrangements, the 
Office monitors and updates relevant staff salary allocations and prepares and manages the 
execution of all staff employment agreements and contractor agreements. 

A total of 120 employment agreements were administered by the Office over the reporting 
period. This compares with 125 for the 2018-2019 year. 

Members may also engage external contractors throughout the financial year, provided that 
they use funds from their staff salary allocation. In the 2019-2020 financial year three members 
engaged one external contractor each, to perform various pieces of work. 

Another element of the Office’s administration of staff salary allocations for non-executive 
members relates to the pledging of allocations from one member to another. Under the staff 
salary allocation arrangements for non-executive members, a member may pledge part of their 
staff salary allocation to another member. The following table summarises the staff salary 
allocation of each non-executive member and the total amounts pledged or received by, or from, 
other members. 
Table 12: Use of staff salary allocation by non-executive members, including pledges made or 
received 

Member Rollover Annual 
allocation 

Pledge 
received 

Pledge 
made 

Staff 
expenses 

Future 
rollover 

Unused 
allocation 

Burch C 17,736 182,210 - - 183,147 16,799 - 

Burch J 25,465 261,614 - - 279,018 8,061 - 

Cheyne 6,509 195,000 - - 192,674 8,835 - 

Cody 17,736 182,210 - - 178,589 18,221 3,136 

Coe 60,709 667,265 2,498 40,000 610,082 66,727 13,663 

Dunne 8,589 182,210 40,000 2,498 228,301 - - 

Gupta - 171,699 - - 132,190 17,170 22,339 

Hanson 14,698 182,210 - 12,000 184,659 249 - 

Jones 17,736 182,210 12,000 - 191,145 18,221 2,580 

Kikkert 8,249 182,210 - - 187,811 2,648 - 

Lawder 19,088 202,000 - - 207,918 13,170 - 

Le Couteur 35,546 365,174 - - 384,501 16,219 - 

Lee 13,795 182,210 - - 165,942 18,221 11,842 

Milligan 814 182,210 - - 180,775 2,249 - 

Orr 15,618 27,818 - - 30,753 - 12,683 

Parton 17,736 182,210 - - 176,044 18,221 5,681 

Pettersson 17,736 182,210 - - 190,002 9,944 - 

Wall 17,998 195,000 - - 211,386 1,612 - 

Total 315,758 3,907,670 54,498 54,498 3,914,937 236,567 71,924 
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From time to time, non-executive members will seek to engage volunteers in their offices, in 
accordance with guidelines that are in place for such arrangements. The Office’s role is to assess 
the volunteer agreements for compliance with the relevant guidelines, which includes ensuring 
that there is an appropriate volunteer agreement in place and that there is appropriate 
insurance coverage. During the reporting period, 11 volunteer agreements were processed, 
which was an increase from eight volunteer agreements in 2018-2019. 

Learning and development 

In recognition of the need to develop and maintain a skilled and flexible workforce, the Office is 
committed to providing learning opportunities that are relevant to meeting current and future 
organisational needs, and the professional development needs reflected in individual 
performance and development agreements. 

This commitment is reinforced in the Office’s enterprise agreement and strategic plan, both of 
which recognise that people are the key to achieving the organisation’s goals. 

The Office actively encourages all staff to participate in development activities, both internal and 
external, through agreed learning and development plans. Development includes inter-
parliamentary conferences and seminars, other specific training activities, and lateral and 
temporary transfers within and outside the Office. 

During the reporting period, 27 staff participated in 17 learning and development activities, 
which involved expenditure of approximately $24,500 (including associated travel costs). This 
provided learning and development activities in a broad range of areas, including: 

• inter-parliamentary conferences and seminars; 

• information technology skills; 

• performance management; and 

• job specific training. 

With the impact of the restrictions associated with COVID-19 , there were a number of learning 
and development activities planned for the second half of the financial year that were 
postponed. 

Members’ staff learning and development 

During the reporting period, three members’ staff participated in two learning and development 
activities, which involved expenditure of approximately $3,300 (including associated travel 
costs). This provided learning and development activities in: 

• office skills; and 

• working effectively. 

Workplace health and safety 

The Office is committed to promoting and maintaining a high standard of health and safety and 
wellbeing for all staff, members, contractors and visitors. The Assembly is a somewhat atypical 
workplace in relation to workplace health and safety, with approximately 150 individuals but with 
each member and the Clerk all identified as being a Person Conducting a Business or 
Undertaking under the Work Health and Safety Act 2011 (WHS Act). 

  

 

 

To reflect these unusual arrangements, the Assembly workplace has reformed its health and 
safety committee during the year—and that committee met on three occasions during the 
reporting period. In accordance with section 55(2) of the WHS Act, the number and composition 
of work groups to be represented were decided, new health and safety representatives were 
elected, and a new committee was established. The committee agreed to and adopted new 
terms of reference. 

Although there were three minor incidents reported, no workers compensation claims were 
accepted during the reporting period. The workers compensation premium rates set for both the 
non-executive and the Office continued to be at the minimum rate of 0.70 per cent. 

The following measures were undertaken to ensure workplace health, safety and welfare at 
work for all staff: 

• implementation of a range of COVID-19 strategies mentioned earlier in this report; 

• influenza vaccinations were arranged on site (or reimbursement was provided if the 
vaccination was privately arranged); 

• workstation assessments were offered to all staff upon commencement of employment or 
if symptoms were reported; 

• training for new health and safety representatives was undertaken, emergency procedure 
training, social media training and bullying, harassment and misconduct sessions held; 

• general first aid training was provided, along with mental health first aid training; 

• health and wellbeing reimbursements were paid under the relevant enterprise 
agreements; 

• articles were published in the Assembly newsletter on work safety related matters, 
including promoting the employee assistance program (EAP); and 

• the monthly Healthworks brochure was distributed to all staff. 

During the reporting period: 

• the Assembly had no accident or dangerous occurrences that required the issuing of a 
notice under part 3, section 38, of the WHS Act. 

• there were no notices of non-compliance given to the Clerk in accordance with part 10 of 
the Work Health and Safety Act 2011; and 

• all plant and equipment was regularly checked, in line with statutory requirements. 

Workplace relations 

There are no workplace relations matters to report for this period. 
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From time to time, non-executive members will seek to engage volunteers in their offices, in 
accordance with guidelines that are in place for such arrangements. The Office’s role is to assess 
the volunteer agreements for compliance with the relevant guidelines, which includes ensuring 
that there is an appropriate volunteer agreement in place and that there is appropriate 
insurance coverage. During the reporting period, 11 volunteer agreements were processed, 
which was an increase from eight volunteer agreements in 2018-2019. 

Learning and development 

In recognition of the need to develop and maintain a skilled and flexible workforce, the Office is 
committed to providing learning opportunities that are relevant to meeting current and future 
organisational needs, and the professional development needs reflected in individual 
performance and development agreements. 

This commitment is reinforced in the Office’s enterprise agreement and strategic plan, both of 
which recognise that people are the key to achieving the organisation’s goals. 

The Office actively encourages all staff to participate in development activities, both internal and 
external, through agreed learning and development plans. Development includes inter-
parliamentary conferences and seminars, other specific training activities, and lateral and 
temporary transfers within and outside the Office. 

During the reporting period, 27 staff participated in 17 learning and development activities, 
which involved expenditure of approximately $24,500 (including associated travel costs). This 
provided learning and development activities in a broad range of areas, including: 

• inter-parliamentary conferences and seminars; 

• information technology skills; 

• performance management; and 

• job specific training. 

With the impact of the restrictions associated with COVID-19 , there were a number of learning 
and development activities planned for the second half of the financial year that were 
postponed. 

Members’ staff learning and development 

During the reporting period, three members’ staff participated in two learning and development 
activities, which involved expenditure of approximately $3,300 (including associated travel 
costs). This provided learning and development activities in: 

• office skills; and 

• working effectively. 

Workplace health and safety 

The Office is committed to promoting and maintaining a high standard of health and safety and 
wellbeing for all staff, members, contractors and visitors. The Assembly is a somewhat atypical 
workplace in relation to workplace health and safety, with approximately 150 individuals but with 
each member and the Clerk all identified as being a Person Conducting a Business or 
Undertaking under the Work Health and Safety Act 2011 (WHS Act). 

  

 

 

To reflect these unusual arrangements, the Assembly workplace has reformed its health and 
safety committee during the year—and that committee met on three occasions during the 
reporting period. In accordance with section 55(2) of the WHS Act, the number and composition 
of work groups to be represented were decided, new health and safety representatives were 
elected, and a new committee was established. The committee agreed to and adopted new 
terms of reference. 

Although there were three minor incidents reported, no workers compensation claims were 
accepted during the reporting period. The workers compensation premium rates set for both the 
non-executive and the Office continued to be at the minimum rate of 0.70 per cent. 

The following measures were undertaken to ensure workplace health, safety and welfare at 
work for all staff: 

• implementation of a range of COVID-19 strategies mentioned earlier in this report; 

• influenza vaccinations were arranged on site (or reimbursement was provided if the 
vaccination was privately arranged); 

• workstation assessments were offered to all staff upon commencement of employment or 
if symptoms were reported; 

• training for new health and safety representatives was undertaken, emergency procedure 
training, social media training and bullying, harassment and misconduct sessions held; 

• general first aid training was provided, along with mental health first aid training; 

• health and wellbeing reimbursements were paid under the relevant enterprise 
agreements; 

• articles were published in the Assembly newsletter on work safety related matters, 
including promoting the employee assistance program (EAP); and 

• the monthly Healthworks brochure was distributed to all staff. 

During the reporting period: 

• the Assembly had no accident or dangerous occurrences that required the issuing of a 
notice under part 3, section 38, of the WHS Act. 

• there were no notices of non-compliance given to the Clerk in accordance with part 10 of 
the Work Health and Safety Act 2011; and 

• all plant and equipment was regularly checked, in line with statutory requirements. 

Workplace relations 

There are no workplace relations matters to report for this period. 
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Asset management 
The asset management strategy is largely based on a set of life cycle data for the various building 
elements and components, which is updated approximately every three years. To align with the 
life cycle costings, the Office also receives capital funding each year to perform upgrades of 
building elements that have reached the end of their useful or economic life. 

The results of a review of the life cycle data conducted in 2017-2018 were used during the year to 
establish capital upgrade priorities for 2019-2020. 

Table 13: Value and quantity of assets as at 30 June 2020 

Asset class Value Quantity 

Assembly building (territorial budget) $29.200m 1 

Land (territorial budget) $5.000m 1 

Assembly art collection (controlled budget) $0.821m various 

Assembly library collection (controlled budget) $0.442m various 

Plant and equipment (controlled budget) $0.764m various 

Leasehold improvements (controlled budget) $0.829m 1 

Intangibles (software) (controlled budget) $0.394m 2 

Capital works 

Table 14 shows the summary of capital works. In addition to the capital funding for building 
works, the Office’s controlled entity receives ongoing capital funding for acquisitions to the 
Assembly’s artwork and library collections. The annual budgets are $30,000 and $5,000 
respectively and are fully expended each financial year. 

The Office’s controlled entity received funding of $348,000 for the development of the 
Procedural Information Production System in 2015-2016. Ongoing delays with the development 
and testing of this system resulted in it not being implemented until June 2019. The remaining 
budget of $52,000 was expended during 2018-2019. 

Table 14: Summary of capital works 

Project  Works type Financing 
received 

Amount 
spent 

Estimated 
completion 

Actual 
completion 

Status 

Kitchen and bathroom 
upgrades 

New $0.250m $0.248m January 2020 January 2020 Complete 

CCTV upgrade New $0.050m $0.050m June 2020 June 2020 Complete 

LED lighting upgrade in 
the Assembly building 

New $0.043m $0.043m June 2020 June 2020 Complete 

Electrical upgrade New $0.018m $0.019m June 2020 June 2020 Complete 

Other capital upgrades 
to facilities 

New $0.007m $0.008m June 2020 June 2020 Complete 

 

 

 

Additions and deletions 

Table 15: Assets that were added or removed from the assets register during 2019-2020 

Asset class Value of additions Value of disposals 

Assembly building (territorial budget) $0.368m Nil 

Assembly art collection (controlled budget) $0.030m Nil 

Assembly library collection (controlled budget) $0.005m Nil 

Plant and equipment (controlled budget) $0.171m Nil 

Intangibles (software) (controlled budget) Nil Nil 

Asset maintenance and repairs 

During the year, the Office’s expenditure on building management was $0.798 million. The main 
components of this overall expenditure were cleaning ($0.271 million) and scheduled 
maintenance ($0.129 million). 

The scheduled maintenance expenditure included servicing of mechanical building systems (e.g. 
heating, ventilation and cooling systems, fire systems, lifts and automatic doors), maintenance of 
security and access control systems, and maintenance of the courtyard gardens. Approximately 
$0.148 million was expended on unscheduled maintenance and repairs, with electrics, lighting 
and plumbing being the major areas where unscheduled works occurred. 

Office accommodation 

The gross building area for the Assembly building is 7,437 m2 and the net lettable area for 
building valuation purposes is 6,834 m2. However, significant parts of the net lettable area 
include floor space that is used only on a periodic or occasional basis or is not occupied by staff. 
These areas include the Assembly chamber, two committee rooms and a number of function 
rooms. For the purposes of establishing a rate of office space utilisation, an area of 5,182 m2 has 
been identified as the area that the Office, members and staff ordinarily occupy. In terms of the 
number of people who occupy the space, it was recognised that some fluctuation occurs, due 
primarily to the sitting patterns of the Assembly (i.e. when additional staff are engaged) and that 
the peak number was approximately 165. 

Accordingly, the office space utilisation rate is 31.4 m2 per occupant. 

Contracting and procurement 

During the year, the Office engaged several consultants and contractors to provide works or 
services that, due to the specialised skills or required experience, were unable to be performed 
by Office staff. 

The Office adheres to the relevant provisions of the Government Procurement Act 2001 and the 
Government Procurement Regulation 2007. 

The Office undertook one procurement process during the year that inadvertently did not meet 
the requirements of the Government Procurement Regulation. The procurement was for the 
installation of approximately $43,000 worth of LED lighting. The Office’s existing electrical 
maintenance contractor supplied a quote for these works but other quotes were not obtained. 

Relevant staff subsequently realised the non-compliance and notified Office management, who 
reported the matter to the Internal Audit Committee. All relevant staff have been reminded of 
the requirements of the government procurement regulation. 
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The asset management strategy is largely based on a set of life cycle data for the various building 
elements and components, which is updated approximately every three years. To align with the 
life cycle costings, the Office also receives capital funding each year to perform upgrades of 
building elements that have reached the end of their useful or economic life. 

The results of a review of the life cycle data conducted in 2017-2018 were used during the year to 
establish capital upgrade priorities for 2019-2020. 
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Capital works 

Table 14 shows the summary of capital works. In addition to the capital funding for building 
works, the Office’s controlled entity receives ongoing capital funding for acquisitions to the 
Assembly’s artwork and library collections. The annual budgets are $30,000 and $5,000 
respectively and are fully expended each financial year. 

The Office’s controlled entity received funding of $348,000 for the development of the 
Procedural Information Production System in 2015-2016. Ongoing delays with the development 
and testing of this system resulted in it not being implemented until June 2019. The remaining 
budget of $52,000 was expended during 2018-2019. 

Table 14: Summary of capital works 

Project  Works type Financing 
received 

Amount 
spent 

Estimated 
completion 

Actual 
completion 

Status 

Kitchen and bathroom 
upgrades 

New $0.250m $0.248m January 2020 January 2020 Complete 

CCTV upgrade New $0.050m $0.050m June 2020 June 2020 Complete 

LED lighting upgrade in 
the Assembly building 

New $0.043m $0.043m June 2020 June 2020 Complete 

Electrical upgrade New $0.018m $0.019m June 2020 June 2020 Complete 

Other capital upgrades 
to facilities 

New $0.007m $0.008m June 2020 June 2020 Complete 

 

 

 

Additions and deletions 

Table 15: Assets that were added or removed from the assets register during 2019-2020 

Asset class Value of additions Value of disposals 

Assembly building (territorial budget) $0.368m Nil 

Assembly art collection (controlled budget) $0.030m Nil 

Assembly library collection (controlled budget) $0.005m Nil 

Plant and equipment (controlled budget) $0.171m Nil 

Intangibles (software) (controlled budget) Nil Nil 

Asset maintenance and repairs 

During the year, the Office’s expenditure on building management was $0.798 million. The main 
components of this overall expenditure were cleaning ($0.271 million) and scheduled 
maintenance ($0.129 million). 

The scheduled maintenance expenditure included servicing of mechanical building systems (e.g. 
heating, ventilation and cooling systems, fire systems, lifts and automatic doors), maintenance of 
security and access control systems, and maintenance of the courtyard gardens. Approximately 
$0.148 million was expended on unscheduled maintenance and repairs, with electrics, lighting 
and plumbing being the major areas where unscheduled works occurred. 

Office accommodation 

The gross building area for the Assembly building is 7,437 m2 and the net lettable area for 
building valuation purposes is 6,834 m2. However, significant parts of the net lettable area 
include floor space that is used only on a periodic or occasional basis or is not occupied by staff. 
These areas include the Assembly chamber, two committee rooms and a number of function 
rooms. For the purposes of establishing a rate of office space utilisation, an area of 5,182 m2 has 
been identified as the area that the Office, members and staff ordinarily occupy. In terms of the 
number of people who occupy the space, it was recognised that some fluctuation occurs, due 
primarily to the sitting patterns of the Assembly (i.e. when additional staff are engaged) and that 
the peak number was approximately 165. 

Accordingly, the office space utilisation rate is 31.4 m2 per occupant. 

Contracting and procurement 

During the year, the Office engaged several consultants and contractors to provide works or 
services that, due to the specialised skills or required experience, were unable to be performed 
by Office staff. 

The Office adheres to the relevant provisions of the Government Procurement Act 2001 and the 
Government Procurement Regulation 2007. 

The Office undertook one procurement process during the year that inadvertently did not meet 
the requirements of the Government Procurement Regulation. The procurement was for the 
installation of approximately $43,000 worth of LED lighting. The Office’s existing electrical 
maintenance contractor supplied a quote for these works but other quotes were not obtained. 

Relevant staff subsequently realised the non-compliance and notified Office management, who 
reported the matter to the Internal Audit Committee. All relevant staff have been reminded of 
the requirements of the government procurement regulation. 

OFFICE OF THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY ANNUAL REPORT 2019–2020 55

200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   55200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   55 9/28/20   12:30 PM9/28/20   12:30 PM



 

 

The Office acknowledges the ACT Government’s ATSI Procurement Policy and in 2019-2020, 
following a procurement process, selected an ATSI enterprise to provide goods and services to 
the Office (see ARA Indigenous Services Pty Ltd in Table 15). 

Table 16 lists details of the expenditure on consultants and contractors where an individual 
contract exceeded $25,000 or the total expenditure on one consultant or contractor over the year 
exceeded $25,000. 

Table 16: Contracts summary 

Name of contractor or consultant Comments Amount (GST 
inclusive) 

ARA Indigenous Services Pty Ltd CCTV Upgrade $54,985 

Argument, Stephen Legal advice to the scrutiny committee $54,943 

Aurion Corporation New HR/payroll system $41,250 

Built Pty Ltd Kitchen and bathroom upgrades $267,366 

Construction Control Australia Pty Ltd Members entrance redesign project $263,506 

A.G. Coombs Heating, ventilation and cooling project $86,682 

Designcraft Furniture Pty Ltd Supply of new furniture $79,189 

Dimeo Cleaning Services Cleaning services $243,927 

EPIQ Australia Pty Ltd Recording and transcription $148,810 

Fredon Security Security maintenance $26,803 

Guida Moseley Brown Pty Ltd Consulting architects $70,548 

Laser Plumbing Plumbing maintenance $30,970 

Millennium Hi-Tech Group Cleaning services $47,121 

Network Electrical Solutions Electrical maintenance $76,639 

NovaWorks Group Pty Ltd Parliamentary software development $53,854 

Nth Consulting Project governance consulting $31,900 

ProQuest LLC Library subscriptions $31,465 

Rudds Consulting Pty Ltd Consulting engineers $34,419 

SAI Global Limited Standards online subscription $141,188 

Sand Consulting Pty Ltd Broadcasting system maintenance $96,718 

Stewart, Daniel Legal advice to the scrutiny committee $80,057 

Territory records 

Records management program 

During the reporting period, a review of the Office’s records and information management 
program was conducted. The revised program was approved by the Clerk and submitted in May 
2020 to the Director of Territory Records. 

The records, information and data management policy and procedures formed part of the above 
review and are available to all staff via the Office’s recordkeeping system, OLARIS. The public can 
inspect the Office’s Records and Information Management Program via the Policies and 
Protocols page on the Legislative Assembly website. 

 

 

Training and advice 

The Office’s Records and Information Manager provides induction training for all new staff 
employed in the Office, addressing records, information and data management principles and 
the operation of OLARIS. Refresher training in both are also available as required or requested. 

Preservation and access 

In accordance with the Territory Records Act 2002, the Office has procedures in place to ensure 
that records containing information that will allow people to establish links with their Aboriginal 
or Torres Strait Islander heritage are identified and preserved. The Office does not expect that 
any of its records will contain such information; however, if such records are identified, the 
Office will retain the records permanently. 

The Act also provides for public access to records over 20 years old. No public access requests 
were received via Archives ACT during the reporting period. 

Activities 

Record creations decreased by 27.6 per cent on the previous reporting period, with most being 
captured digitally in OLARIS. 

Records were appraised and sentenced in accordance with the Territory records disposal 
schedules. The disposal schedules used by the Office are outlined in Table 16. 

Table 17: Records disposal schedules used by the Office 

Records disposal schedule Effective Year, number 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Legislative Assembly 
Secretariat Records) Approval 2004 (No 1) 

18 June 2004 NI2004-177 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Arts and Cultural 
Development Records) Approval 2004 (No 1) 

18 June 2004 NI2004-179 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Finance and Treasury 
Management Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-83 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Government and 
Stakeholder Relations Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-84 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Human Resources 
Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-79 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Information and 
Communications Technology Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-85 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Property Equipment and 
Fleet Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-86 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Records and Information 
Management Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-87 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Solicitor and Legal 
Services Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-88 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Strategy and 
Governance Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-89 

Archive Preservation Project 

During the reporting period, the Office continued to examine its collection of archived paper 
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The Office’s Records and Information Manager provides induction training for all new staff 
employed in the Office, addressing records, information and data management principles and 
the operation of OLARIS. Refresher training in both are also available as required or requested. 

Preservation and access 

In accordance with the Territory Records Act 2002, the Office has procedures in place to ensure 
that records containing information that will allow people to establish links with their Aboriginal 
or Torres Strait Islander heritage are identified and preserved. The Office does not expect that 
any of its records will contain such information; however, if such records are identified, the 
Office will retain the records permanently. 

The Act also provides for public access to records over 20 years old. No public access requests 
were received via Archives ACT during the reporting period. 

Activities 

Record creations decreased by 27.6 per cent on the previous reporting period, with most being 
captured digitally in OLARIS. 

Records were appraised and sentenced in accordance with the Territory records disposal 
schedules. The disposal schedules used by the Office are outlined in Table 16. 

Table 17: Records disposal schedules used by the Office 

Records disposal schedule Effective Year, number 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Legislative Assembly 
Secretariat Records) Approval 2004 (No 1) 

18 June 2004 NI2004-177 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Arts and Cultural 
Development Records) Approval 2004 (No 1) 

18 June 2004 NI2004-179 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Finance and Treasury 
Management Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-83 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Government and 
Stakeholder Relations Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-84 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Human Resources 
Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-79 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Information and 
Communications Technology Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-85 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Property Equipment and 
Fleet Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-86 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Records and Information 
Management Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-87 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Solicitor and Legal 
Services Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-88 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Strategy and 
Governance Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-89 

Archive Preservation Project 

During the reporting period, the Office continued to examine its collection of archived paper 
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Training and advice 

The Office’s Records and Information Manager provides induction training for all new staff 
employed in the Office, addressing records, information and data management principles and 
the operation of OLARIS. Refresher training in both are also available as required or requested. 

Preservation and access 

In accordance with the Territory Records Act 2002, the Office has procedures in place to ensure 
that records containing information that will allow people to establish links with their Aboriginal 
or Torres Strait Islander heritage are identified and preserved. The Office does not expect that 
any of its records will contain such information; however, if such records are identified, the 
Office will retain the records permanently. 

The Act also provides for public access to records over 20 years old. No public access requests 
were received via Archives ACT during the reporting period. 

Activities 

Record creations decreased by 27.6 per cent on the previous reporting period, with most being 
captured digitally in OLARIS. 

Records were appraised and sentenced in accordance with the Territory records disposal 
schedules. The disposal schedules used by the Office are outlined in Table 16. 

Table 17: Records disposal schedules used by the Office 

Records disposal schedule Effective Year, number 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Legislative Assembly 
Secretariat Records) Approval 2004 (No 1) 

18 June 2004 NI2004-177 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Arts and Cultural 
Development Records) Approval 2004 (No 1) 

18 June 2004 NI2004-179 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Finance and Treasury 
Management Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-83 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Government and 
Stakeholder Relations Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-84 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Human Resources 
Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-79 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Information and 
Communications Technology Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-85 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Property Equipment and 
Fleet Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-86 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Records and Information 
Management Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-87 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Solicitor and Legal 
Services Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-88 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Strategy and 
Governance Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-89 

Archive Preservation Project 

During the reporting period, the Office continued to examine its collection of archived paper 
 

 

records that must be retained in perpetuity. This project includes the development of a 
digitisation strategy for these records, and has focused on the removal of contaminants from the 
collection and the repacking of some records that are not currently stored in ideal conditions. 
These measures will prolong the life of most of these records, delaying the need for digitisation. 

An Archival Officer and Assistant Archival Officer were engaged to conduct the project. Research 
to determine the best preservation requirements was continued and consultation with 
professional agencies was sought as each unique issue was discovered, with the treatment 
methodology updated for reference. 

Approximately 50 per cent of the total collection has been processed to date—most were found 
to contain contaminants that were causing damage. The significant majority of these were 
fasteners made of metal: staples, paperclips, bulldog clips and metal file spikes, almost all of 
which were causing rust that had begun damaging the records. Other contributing contaminants 
included food spills, fading thermal facsimile paper, plastic sleeve protectors, sticky tape, insect 
parts and mould. Over 60,000 individual contaminants had been removed by the end of the 
reporting period. 

The end of the project will see all archived paper records cleaned and ready for future 
digitisation. 

Sustainability reporting 

During the year, the Office used the enterprise sustainability platform that is available across the 
ACT public sector, to monitor its sustainability performance. The platform provides data on 
water, energy (electricity and gas) and greenhouse gas emissions, which has been used in this 
report. 

GreenPower purchased for 2019-2020 

The Office uses the whole-of-government energy contract managed by the ACT Property Group 
on behalf of the Territory. 

  

 

 

Table 18: Sustainable development performance: current and previous financial year 

Indicator as at 30 June Unit Current FY  Previous FY % Change 

Stationary energy usage 

Electricity use Kilowatt hours 652,722 859,412 -24% 

Natural gas use (non-transport) Megajoules 1,196,614 1,607,027 -26% 

Diesel use (non-transport) Kilolitres - - - 

Transport fuel usage 

Electric vehicles Number - - - 

Hybrid vehicles Number - - - 

Hydrogen vehicles Number - - - 

Total number of vehicles Number 2 2 0 

Fuel use – petrol Kilolitres 3.134 0.601 421.46% 

Fuel use – diesel Kilolitres 0 0.946 -100% 

Fuel use – liquid petroleum gas (LPG) Kilolitres - - - 

Fuel use – compressed natural gas (CNG) Gigajoules - - - 

Water usage 

Water use Kilolitres 2,304.00 2,685.63 -14.21% 

Resource efficiency and waste 

Reams of paper purchased Reams 208 531 -60.83% 

Recycled content of paper purchased Percentage 100% 76% 31.58% 

Waste to landfill Cubic metres 102.00 110.00 -7.27% 

Co-mingled material recycled Cubic metres 157.0 166.0 -5.42% 

Paper and cardboard recycled (including 
secure paper) 

Cubic metres 49.2 47.00 4.68% 

Greenhouse gas emissions 

Emissions from electricity use Tonnes CO2-e 0 219 -100% 

Emissions from natural gas use 
(non-transport) 

Tonnes CO2-e 60 83 -27.71% 

Emissions from diesel use (non-transport) Tonnes CO2-e - - - 

Emissions from transport fuel use Tonnes CO2-e 7.21 4.03 78.91% 

Total emissions Tonnes CO2-e 67.21 305.99 -78.04% 

Explanatory statements 
Fuel use (petrol and diesel) 

Fuel use data relates to vehicles allocated to the Clerk of the Assembly and one of the Office’s 
Senior Executives. 

Data for the previous reporting period shows both petrol and diesel being used, reflecting that 
one of those staff drove a diesel vehicle for approximately eight months of that reporting period 
and then switched to a petrol vehicle. The other staff member only took possession of the 
Territory provided vehicle in May 2019 and, hence, the overall level of fuel usage for the 
previous reporting is lower that than full current reporting period where two petrol vehicles 
have been used for the entire year. 

 

 

Training and advice 

The Office’s Records and Information Manager provides induction training for all new staff 
employed in the Office, addressing records, information and data management principles and 
the operation of OLARIS. Refresher training in both are also available as required or requested. 

Preservation and access 

In accordance with the Territory Records Act 2002, the Office has procedures in place to ensure 
that records containing information that will allow people to establish links with their Aboriginal 
or Torres Strait Islander heritage are identified and preserved. The Office does not expect that 
any of its records will contain such information; however, if such records are identified, the 
Office will retain the records permanently. 

The Act also provides for public access to records over 20 years old. No public access requests 
were received via Archives ACT during the reporting period. 

Activities 

Record creations decreased by 27.6 per cent on the previous reporting period, with most being 
captured digitally in OLARIS. 

Records were appraised and sentenced in accordance with the Territory records disposal 
schedules. The disposal schedules used by the Office are outlined in Table 16. 

Table 17: Records disposal schedules used by the Office 

Records disposal schedule Effective Year, number 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Legislative Assembly 
Secretariat Records) Approval 2004 (No 1) 

18 June 2004 NI2004-177 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Arts and Cultural 
Development Records) Approval 2004 (No 1) 

18 June 2004 NI2004-179 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Finance and Treasury 
Management Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-83 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Government and 
Stakeholder Relations Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-84 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Human Resources 
Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-79 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Information and 
Communications Technology Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-85 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Property Equipment and 
Fleet Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-86 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Records and Information 
Management Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-87 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Solicitor and Legal 
Services Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-88 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Strategy and 
Governance Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-89 

Archive Preservation Project 

During the reporting period, the Office continued to examine its collection of archived paper 
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Training and advice 

The Office’s Records and Information Manager provides induction training for all new staff 
employed in the Office, addressing records, information and data management principles and 
the operation of OLARIS. Refresher training in both are also available as required or requested. 

Preservation and access 

In accordance with the Territory Records Act 2002, the Office has procedures in place to ensure 
that records containing information that will allow people to establish links with their Aboriginal 
or Torres Strait Islander heritage are identified and preserved. The Office does not expect that 
any of its records will contain such information; however, if such records are identified, the 
Office will retain the records permanently. 

The Act also provides for public access to records over 20 years old. No public access requests 
were received via Archives ACT during the reporting period. 

Activities 

Record creations decreased by 27.6 per cent on the previous reporting period, with most being 
captured digitally in OLARIS. 

Records were appraised and sentenced in accordance with the Territory records disposal 
schedules. The disposal schedules used by the Office are outlined in Table 16. 

Table 17: Records disposal schedules used by the Office 

Records disposal schedule Effective Year, number 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Legislative Assembly 
Secretariat Records) Approval 2004 (No 1) 

18 June 2004 NI2004-177 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Arts and Cultural 
Development Records) Approval 2004 (No 1) 

18 June 2004 NI2004-179 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Finance and Treasury 
Management Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-83 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Government and 
Stakeholder Relations Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-84 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Human Resources 
Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-79 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Information and 
Communications Technology Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-85 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Property Equipment and 
Fleet Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-86 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Records and Information 
Management Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-87 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Solicitor and Legal 
Services Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-88 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Strategy and 
Governance Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-89 

Archive Preservation Project 

During the reporting period, the Office continued to examine its collection of archived paper 
 

 

records that must be retained in perpetuity. This project includes the development of a 
digitisation strategy for these records, and has focused on the removal of contaminants from the 
collection and the repacking of some records that are not currently stored in ideal conditions. 
These measures will prolong the life of most of these records, delaying the need for digitisation. 

An Archival Officer and Assistant Archival Officer were engaged to conduct the project. Research 
to determine the best preservation requirements was continued and consultation with 
professional agencies was sought as each unique issue was discovered, with the treatment 
methodology updated for reference. 

Approximately 50 per cent of the total collection has been processed to date—most were found 
to contain contaminants that were causing damage. The significant majority of these were 
fasteners made of metal: staples, paperclips, bulldog clips and metal file spikes, almost all of 
which were causing rust that had begun damaging the records. Other contributing contaminants 
included food spills, fading thermal facsimile paper, plastic sleeve protectors, sticky tape, insect 
parts and mould. Over 60,000 individual contaminants had been removed by the end of the 
reporting period. 

The end of the project will see all archived paper records cleaned and ready for future 
digitisation. 

Sustainability reporting 

During the year, the Office used the enterprise sustainability platform that is available across the 
ACT public sector, to monitor its sustainability performance. The platform provides data on 
water, energy (electricity and gas) and greenhouse gas emissions, which has been used in this 
report. 

GreenPower purchased for 2019-2020 

The Office uses the whole-of-government energy contract managed by the ACT Property Group 
on behalf of the Territory. 

  

 

 

Table 18: Sustainable development performance: current and previous financial year 

Indicator as at 30 June Unit Current FY  Previous FY % Change 

Stationary energy usage 

Electricity use Kilowatt hours 652,722 859,412 -24% 

Natural gas use (non-transport) Megajoules 1,196,614 1,607,027 -26% 

Diesel use (non-transport) Kilolitres - - - 

Transport fuel usage 

Electric vehicles Number - - - 

Hybrid vehicles Number - - - 

Hydrogen vehicles Number - - - 

Total number of vehicles Number 2 2 0 

Fuel use – petrol Kilolitres 3.134 0.601 421.46% 

Fuel use – diesel Kilolitres 0 0.946 -100% 

Fuel use – liquid petroleum gas (LPG) Kilolitres - - - 

Fuel use – compressed natural gas (CNG) Gigajoules - - - 

Water usage 

Water use Kilolitres 2,304.00 2,685.63 -14.21% 

Resource efficiency and waste 

Reams of paper purchased Reams 208 531 -60.83% 

Recycled content of paper purchased Percentage 100% 76% 31.58% 

Waste to landfill Cubic metres 102.00 110.00 -7.27% 

Co-mingled material recycled Cubic metres 157.0 166.0 -5.42% 

Paper and cardboard recycled (including 
secure paper) 

Cubic metres 49.2 47.00 4.68% 

Greenhouse gas emissions 

Emissions from electricity use Tonnes CO2-e 0 219 -100% 

Emissions from natural gas use 
(non-transport) 

Tonnes CO2-e 60 83 -27.71% 

Emissions from diesel use (non-transport) Tonnes CO2-e - - - 

Emissions from transport fuel use Tonnes CO2-e 7.21 4.03 78.91% 

Total emissions Tonnes CO2-e 67.21 305.99 -78.04% 

Explanatory statements 
Fuel use (petrol and diesel) 

Fuel use data relates to vehicles allocated to the Clerk of the Assembly and one of the Office’s 
Senior Executives. 

Data for the previous reporting period shows both petrol and diesel being used, reflecting that 
one of those staff drove a diesel vehicle for approximately eight months of that reporting period 
and then switched to a petrol vehicle. The other staff member only took possession of the 
Territory provided vehicle in May 2019 and, hence, the overall level of fuel usage for the 
previous reporting is lower that than full current reporting period where two petrol vehicles 
have been used for the entire year. 

 

 

Training and advice 

The Office’s Records and Information Manager provides induction training for all new staff 
employed in the Office, addressing records, information and data management principles and 
the operation of OLARIS. Refresher training in both are also available as required or requested. 

Preservation and access 

In accordance with the Territory Records Act 2002, the Office has procedures in place to ensure 
that records containing information that will allow people to establish links with their Aboriginal 
or Torres Strait Islander heritage are identified and preserved. The Office does not expect that 
any of its records will contain such information; however, if such records are identified, the 
Office will retain the records permanently. 

The Act also provides for public access to records over 20 years old. No public access requests 
were received via Archives ACT during the reporting period. 

Activities 

Record creations decreased by 27.6 per cent on the previous reporting period, with most being 
captured digitally in OLARIS. 

Records were appraised and sentenced in accordance with the Territory records disposal 
schedules. The disposal schedules used by the Office are outlined in Table 16. 

Table 17: Records disposal schedules used by the Office 

Records disposal schedule Effective Year, number 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Legislative Assembly 
Secretariat Records) Approval 2004 (No 1) 

18 June 2004 NI2004-177 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Arts and Cultural 
Development Records) Approval 2004 (No 1) 

18 June 2004 NI2004-179 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Finance and Treasury 
Management Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-83 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Government and 
Stakeholder Relations Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-84 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Human Resources 
Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-79 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Information and 
Communications Technology Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-85 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Property Equipment and 
Fleet Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-86 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Records and Information 
Management Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-87 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Solicitor and Legal 
Services Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-88 

Territory Records (Records Disposal Schedule – Strategy and 
Governance Records) Approval 2017 (No 1) 

27 February 2017 NI2017-89 

Archive Preservation Project 

During the reporting period, the Office continued to examine its collection of archived paper 
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Greenhouse gas emissions (Emissions from electricity use, Total emissions) 

The Office purchases electricity via the ACT Government’s contract. 

The ACT Government has now surrendered Large-Scale Generation Certificates (LGCs) to ensure 
that the ACT can claim zero emissions for the entire 2019-2020 financial year. Accordingly, the 
figure for Total emissions has also reduced significantly as a result. 

 

OFFICE OF THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY ANNUAL REPORT 2019-2060

200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   60200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   60 9/28/20   12:30 PM9/28/20   12:30 PM



 

 

O
F
F
I

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendices 

 

 

Greenhouse gas emissions (Emissions from electricity use, Total emissions) 

The Office purchases electricity via the ACT Government’s contract. 

The ACT Government has now surrendered Large-Scale Generation Certificates (LGCs) to ensure 
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Appendix 1: Sitting days 
Table 19: Sitting days 

Financial year No. of sitting 
days 

No. of hours1 Average 
hours per 

day1 

Sittings after 
10 pm 

Average time of rising 

1988-1989 10 55 6 1 Tues 6:12 pm, Wed/Thurs 4:12 pm 

1989-1990 54 353 7 8 Tues 9:00 pm, Wed/Thurs 5:10 pm 

1990-1991 49 338 7 8 Tues 9:00 pm, Wed/Thurs 5:45 pm 

1991-1992 48 354 7 12 Tues 10:00 pm Wed/Thurs 5:42 pm 

1992-1993 51 356 7 10 Tues 9:55 pm, Wed/Thurs 6:48 pm 

1993-1994 46 324 7 5 Tues 9:36 pm, Wed/Thurs 5:30 pm 

1994-1995 34 249 7 5 Tues 9:32 pm, Wed/Thurs 5:42 pm 

1995-1996 45 314 7 2 5:33 pm 

1996-1997 39 315 8 3 6:34 pm 

1997-1998 34 278 8 1 6:32 pm 

1998-1999 40 317 8 6 6:43 pm 

1999-2000 41 344 8 8 7:11 pm 

2000-2001 37 306 8 9 6:46 pm 

2001-2002 34 275 9 4 6:22 pm 

2002-2003 40 346 9 10 7:08 pm 

2003-2004 43 414 10 16 8:08 pm 

2004-2005 36 290 8 5 6:38 pm 

2005-2006 41 312 8 2 6:04 pm 

2006-2007 38 292 8 1 6:11 pm 

2007-2008 40 347 9 7 7:10 pm 

2008-2009 38 323 9 5 6:40 pm 

2009-2010 41 350 9 2 6:32 pm 

2010-2011 44 397 9 6 7:01 pm 

2011-2012 42 359 9 1 6:38 pm 

2012-2013 29 222 8 2 5:40 pm 

2013-2014 36 288 8 - 5:59 pm 

2014-2015 44 335 8 - 5.37 pm 

2015-2016 36 292 8 - 6.07 pm 

2016-2017 25 201 8 2 6.02 pm 

2017-2018 42 329 8 - 5.48 pm 

2018-2019 40 308 8 - 5.43 pm 

2019-2020 32 242 8 - 5.34 pm 

1 Includes time expended in suspensions and meal breaks. 

 

 

Appendix 2: Proceedings 
Table 20: Proceedings 

Year Sittings -  
adjournment 

debate 

Sittings -  
no 

adjournment 
debate 

Petitions 
presented and 

referred to 
ministers 

Votes Closure of 
questions 
agreed to 

Matters of 
public 

importance 
discussed 

1988-1989 6 4 2 4 1 4 

1989-1990 37 17 31 127 16 25 

1990-1991 38 11 23 108 18 30 

1991-1992 30 18 33 119 21 28 

1992-1993 32 19 34 137 4 41 

1993-1994 20 26 10 49 - 25 

1994-1995 21 13 11 57 1 18 

1995-1996 29 16 46 96 3 10 

1996-1997 31 8 36 100 - 10 

1997-1998 24 10 25 76 1 10 

1998-1999 29 11 20 88 1 10 

1999-2000 35 6 14 118 2 4 

2000-2001 18 19 6 128 - 4 

2001-2002 26 8 23 65 3 15 

2002-2003 27 13 23 84 0 12 

2003-2004 39 4 34 132 - 25 

2004-2005 32 4 6 86 6 20 

2005-2006 39 2 13 95 7 24 

2006-2007 35 3 40 77 11 22 

2007-2008 33 7 25 92 10 21 

2008-2009 32 6 15 98 4 26 

2009-2010 38 3 10 107 - 23 

2010-2011 42 2 16 149 1 23 

2011-2012 41 1 12 154 3 25 

2012-2013 24 5 4 74 1 14 

2013-2014 33 3 8 81 - 20 

2014-2015 42 2 18 87 - 24 

2015-2016 34 2 8 90 - 20 

2016-2017 22 3 18 40 - 10 

2017-2018 41 1 28 60 1 18 

2018-2019 37 3 34 82 - 17 

2019-2020 28 4 24 45 - 13 

OFFICE OF THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY ANNUAL REPORT 2019-2062

200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   62200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   62 9/28/20   12:30 PM9/28/20   12:30 PM



 

 

Appendix 1: Sitting days 
Table 19: Sitting days 

Financial year No. of sitting 
days 

No. of hours1 Average 
hours per 

day1 

Sittings after 
10 pm 

Average time of rising 

1988-1989 10 55 6 1 Tues 6:12 pm, Wed/Thurs 4:12 pm 

1989-1990 54 353 7 8 Tues 9:00 pm, Wed/Thurs 5:10 pm 

1990-1991 49 338 7 8 Tues 9:00 pm, Wed/Thurs 5:45 pm 

1991-1992 48 354 7 12 Tues 10:00 pm Wed/Thurs 5:42 pm 

1992-1993 51 356 7 10 Tues 9:55 pm, Wed/Thurs 6:48 pm 

1993-1994 46 324 7 5 Tues 9:36 pm, Wed/Thurs 5:30 pm 

1994-1995 34 249 7 5 Tues 9:32 pm, Wed/Thurs 5:42 pm 

1995-1996 45 314 7 2 5:33 pm 

1996-1997 39 315 8 3 6:34 pm 

1997-1998 34 278 8 1 6:32 pm 

1998-1999 40 317 8 6 6:43 pm 

1999-2000 41 344 8 8 7:11 pm 

2000-2001 37 306 8 9 6:46 pm 

2001-2002 34 275 9 4 6:22 pm 

2002-2003 40 346 9 10 7:08 pm 

2003-2004 43 414 10 16 8:08 pm 

2004-2005 36 290 8 5 6:38 pm 

2005-2006 41 312 8 2 6:04 pm 

2006-2007 38 292 8 1 6:11 pm 

2007-2008 40 347 9 7 7:10 pm 

2008-2009 38 323 9 5 6:40 pm 

2009-2010 41 350 9 2 6:32 pm 

2010-2011 44 397 9 6 7:01 pm 

2011-2012 42 359 9 1 6:38 pm 

2012-2013 29 222 8 2 5:40 pm 

2013-2014 36 288 8 - 5:59 pm 

2014-2015 44 335 8 - 5.37 pm 

2015-2016 36 292 8 - 6.07 pm 

2016-2017 25 201 8 2 6.02 pm 

2017-2018 42 329 8 - 5.48 pm 

2018-2019 40 308 8 - 5.43 pm 

2019-2020 32 242 8 - 5.34 pm 

1 Includes time expended in suspensions and meal breaks. 

 

 

Appendix 2: Proceedings 
Table 20: Proceedings 

Year Sittings -  
adjournment 

debate 

Sittings -  
no 

adjournment 
debate 

Petitions 
presented and 

referred to 
ministers 

Votes Closure of 
questions 
agreed to 

Matters of 
public 

importance 
discussed 

1988-1989 6 4 2 4 1 4 

1989-1990 37 17 31 127 16 25 

1990-1991 38 11 23 108 18 30 

1991-1992 30 18 33 119 21 28 

1992-1993 32 19 34 137 4 41 

1993-1994 20 26 10 49 - 25 

1994-1995 21 13 11 57 1 18 

1995-1996 29 16 46 96 3 10 

1996-1997 31 8 36 100 - 10 

1997-1998 24 10 25 76 1 10 

1998-1999 29 11 20 88 1 10 

1999-2000 35 6 14 118 2 4 

2000-2001 18 19 6 128 - 4 

2001-2002 26 8 23 65 3 15 

2002-2003 27 13 23 84 0 12 

2003-2004 39 4 34 132 - 25 

2004-2005 32 4 6 86 6 20 

2005-2006 39 2 13 95 7 24 

2006-2007 35 3 40 77 11 22 

2007-2008 33 7 25 92 10 21 

2008-2009 32 6 15 98 4 26 

2009-2010 38 3 10 107 - 23 

2010-2011 42 2 16 149 1 23 

2011-2012 41 1 12 154 3 25 

2012-2013 24 5 4 74 1 14 

2013-2014 33 3 8 81 - 20 

2014-2015 42 2 18 87 - 24 

2015-2016 34 2 8 90 - 20 

2016-2017 22 3 18 40 - 10 

2017-2018 41 1 28 60 1 18 

2018-2019 37 3 34 82 - 17 

2019-2020 28 4 24 45 - 13 
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Appendix 3: Minutes of proceedings 
Table 21: Minutes of proceedings 

Year Number of pages Number of sittings Average no. pages/sitting 

1988-1989 40 10 4 

1989-1990 226 54 4 

1990-1991 215 49 4 

1991-1992 292 48 6 

1992-1993 295 51 6 

1993-1994 389 46 9 

1994-1995 269 34 8 

1995-1996 302 45 7 

1996-1997 322 39 8 

1997-1998 342 34 10 

1998-1999 342 40 9 

1999-2000 480 41 12 

2000-2001 590 37 16 

2001-2002 606 34 18 

2002-2003 575 40 14 

2003-2004 704 43 16 

2004-2005 463 36 13 

2005-2006 471 41 12 

2006-2007 301 38 8 

2007-2008 484 40 12 

2008-2009 491 38 13 

2009-2010 473 41 12 

2010-2011 610 44 14 

2011-2012 593 42 14 

2012-2013 342 29 12 

2013-2014 390 36 11 

2014-2015 524 44 12 

2015-2016 410 36 11 

2016-2017 376 25 15 

2017-2018 572 42 14 

2018-2019 642 40 16 

2019-2020 472 32 15 

 

 

Appendix 4: Bills & amendments 2019-2020 
Table 22: Bills 

Bills Executive Crossbench 
executive 
members 

Private 
members 

Assembly Total 

Introduced 52 - 7 - 59 

Discharged - - - - - 

Withdrawn - - - - - 

Not agreed in principle - - - - - 

Negatived - - - - - 

Passed 50 - 4 - 54 

Amended 16 - 4 - 20 

Still before the Assembly 15 - 8 - 23 

Table 23: Amendments circulated 

Year No. of amendments, 
motions 

No. of amendments, bills Total 

Feb-June 2001 - - 427 

2001-2002 - - 488 

2002-2003 - - 472 

2003-2004 47 487 534 

2004-2005 46 389 435 

2005-2006 47 425 472 

2006-2007 44 82 126 

2007-2008 39 497 536 

2008-2009 90 314 404 

2009-2010 94 245 339 

2010-2011 149 348 497 

2011-2012 176 340 516 

2012-2013 60 148 208 

2013-2014 78 139 217 

2014-2015 77 313 390 

2015-2016 63 75 138 

2016-2017 62 201 263 

2017-2018 80 110 190 

2018-2019 78 455 533 

2019-2020 75 198 273 
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Appendix 3: Minutes of proceedings 
Table 21: Minutes of proceedings 

Year Number of pages Number of sittings Average no. pages/sitting 

1988-1989 40 10 4 

1989-1990 226 54 4 

1990-1991 215 49 4 

1991-1992 292 48 6 

1992-1993 295 51 6 

1993-1994 389 46 9 

1994-1995 269 34 8 

1995-1996 302 45 7 

1996-1997 322 39 8 

1997-1998 342 34 10 

1998-1999 342 40 9 

1999-2000 480 41 12 

2000-2001 590 37 16 

2001-2002 606 34 18 

2002-2003 575 40 14 

2003-2004 704 43 16 

2004-2005 463 36 13 

2005-2006 471 41 12 

2006-2007 301 38 8 

2007-2008 484 40 12 

2008-2009 491 38 13 

2009-2010 473 41 12 

2010-2011 610 44 14 

2011-2012 593 42 14 

2012-2013 342 29 12 

2013-2014 390 36 11 

2014-2015 524 44 12 

2015-2016 410 36 11 

2016-2017 376 25 15 

2017-2018 572 42 14 

2018-2019 642 40 16 

2019-2020 472 32 15 

 

 

Appendix 4: Bills & amendments 2019-2020 
Table 22: Bills 

Bills Executive Crossbench 
executive 
members 

Private 
members 

Assembly Total 

Introduced 52 - 7 - 59 

Discharged - - - - - 

Withdrawn - - - - - 

Not agreed in principle - - - - - 

Negatived - - - - - 

Passed 50 - 4 - 54 

Amended 16 - 4 - 20 

Still before the Assembly 15 - 8 - 23 

Table 23: Amendments circulated 

Year No. of amendments, 
motions 

No. of amendments, bills Total 

Feb-June 2001 - - 427 

2001-2002 - - 488 

2002-2003 - - 472 

2003-2004 47 487 534 

2004-2005 46 389 435 

2005-2006 47 425 472 

2006-2007 44 82 126 

2007-2008 39 497 536 

2008-2009 90 314 404 

2009-2010 94 245 339 

2010-2011 149 348 497 

2011-2012 176 340 516 

2012-2013 60 148 208 

2013-2014 78 139 217 

2014-2015 77 313 390 

2015-2016 63 75 138 

2016-2017 62 201 263 

2017-2018 80 110 190 

2018-2019 78 455 533 

2019-2020 75 198 273 
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Appendix 5: Bills presented 
Table 24: Bills presented 

Year Executive Crossbench 
executive 

members1 

Private 
members 

Assembly Total 

1988-1989 9 - 1 - 10 

1989-1990 48 - 11 - 59 

1990-1991 71 - 15 - 86 

1991-1992 106 - 26 - 132 

1992-1993 95 - 25 - 120 

1993-1994 94 - 15 - 109 

1994-1995 72 - 14 - 86 

1995-1996 77 - 15 - 92 

1996-1997 91 - 22 - 113 

1997-1998 108 - 26 - 134 

1998-1999 68 2 31 - 101 

1999-2000 98 4 33 - 135 

2000-2001 87 - 24 - 111 

2001-2002 47 - 22 - 69 

2002-2003 67 - 26 - 93 

2003-2004 79 - 27 - 106 

2004-2005 64 - 11 - 75 

2005-2006 47 - 11 - 58 

2006-2007 52 - 8 - 60 

2007-2008 47 - 19 - 66 

2008-2009 44 - 19 - 63 

2009-2010 55 - 17 - 72 

2010-2011 63 - 11 - 74 

2011-2012 61 - 22 12 84 

2012-2013 41 4 3 - 48 

2013-2014 56 2 - - 58 

2014-2015 54 1 1 - 56 

2015-2016 71 2 5 - 78 

2016-2017 27 - 2 - 29 

2017-2018 54 - 9 1 64 

2018-2019 49 - 6 - 55 

2019-2020 52 - 7 - 59 

 

  

 

 

1 In 1998, Assembly standing orders were amended to make provision for executive members’ business. At 
the conclusion of the Fourth Assembly, this provision lapsed. In November 2012 the standing orders were 
again amended to accommodate executive members’ business. In November 2018 the standing orders 
were amended to reflect a change in nomenclature from executive members’ business to Crossbench 
executive members’ business. 

2 In 2012 the Speaker introduced a bill that was considered under Assembly business. 
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Appendix 5: Bills presented 
Table 24: Bills presented 

Year Executive Crossbench 
executive 

members1 

Private 
members 

Assembly Total 

1988-1989 9 - 1 - 10 

1989-1990 48 - 11 - 59 

1990-1991 71 - 15 - 86 

1991-1992 106 - 26 - 132 

1992-1993 95 - 25 - 120 

1993-1994 94 - 15 - 109 

1994-1995 72 - 14 - 86 

1995-1996 77 - 15 - 92 

1996-1997 91 - 22 - 113 

1997-1998 108 - 26 - 134 

1998-1999 68 2 31 - 101 

1999-2000 98 4 33 - 135 

2000-2001 87 - 24 - 111 

2001-2002 47 - 22 - 69 

2002-2003 67 - 26 - 93 

2003-2004 79 - 27 - 106 

2004-2005 64 - 11 - 75 

2005-2006 47 - 11 - 58 

2006-2007 52 - 8 - 60 

2007-2008 47 - 19 - 66 

2008-2009 44 - 19 - 63 

2009-2010 55 - 17 - 72 

2010-2011 63 - 11 - 74 

2011-2012 61 - 22 12 84 

2012-2013 41 4 3 - 48 

2013-2014 56 2 - - 58 

2014-2015 54 1 1 - 56 

2015-2016 71 2 5 - 78 

2016-2017 27 - 2 - 29 

2017-2018 54 - 9 1 64 

2018-2019 49 - 6 - 55 

2019-2020 52 - 7 - 59 

 

  

 

 

1 In 1998, Assembly standing orders were amended to make provision for executive members’ business. At 
the conclusion of the Fourth Assembly, this provision lapsed. In November 2012 the standing orders were 
again amended to accommodate executive members’ business. In November 2018 the standing orders 
were amended to reflect a change in nomenclature from executive members’ business to Crossbench 
executive members’ business. 

2 In 2012 the Speaker introduced a bill that was considered under Assembly business. 
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Appendix 6: Questions with and without 
notice 
Table 25: Questions with and without notice 

Year Questions on notice Questions without 
notice 

Supplementary Average no. asked 
per sitting1 

1988-1989 9 131 34 17.4 

1989-1990 187 684 207 16.5 

1990-1991 241 685 176 14.5 

1991-1992 448 490 188 14 

1992-1993 582 510 163 13.2 

1993-1994 520 407 173 12.6 

1994-1995 247 376 206 17 

1995-1996 210 514 371 19.7 

1996-1997 163 398 293 17.7 

1997-1998 68 363 284 11 

1998-1999 141 352 327 17 

1999-2000 108 406 332 18 

2000-2001 122 352 278 17 

2001-2002 268 370 302 19.7 

2002-2003 575 425 330 18.8 

2003-2004 820 410 347 17.6 

2004-2005 608 356 283 17.8 

2005-2006 712 399 314 17.4 

2006-2007 455 366 296 17.4 

2007-2008 519 378 299 16.9 

2008-2009 351 401 330 19.2 

2009-2010 751 417 1,0083 34.7 

2010-2011 697 445 1,2573 38.7 

2011-20122 725 457 1,3293 42.5 

2012-2013 154 258 7643 35 

2013-2014 172 381 1,1173 42 

2014-2015 140 388 1,1483 35 

2015-2016 326 326 9713 36 

2016-2017 377 321 6933 40.6 

2017-2018 1207 616 1,2103 43.5 

2018-2019 1009 579 1,1423 43 

2019-2020 588 452 8843 42 

 

 

 

1 Includes supplementary questions. 
2 Rostered ministers’ questions—in addition, 69 questions and 67 supplementary questions were asked of 

rostered ministers from September 2011 to February 2012. 
3 Includes further supplementary questions per standing order 113B. 

 

OFFICE OF THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY ANNUAL REPORT 2019-2068

200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   68200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   68 9/28/20   12:30 PM9/28/20   12:30 PM



 

 

Appendix 6: Questions with and without 
notice 
Table 25: Questions with and without notice 

Year Questions on notice Questions without 
notice 

Supplementary Average no. asked 
per sitting1 

1988-1989 9 131 34 17.4 

1989-1990 187 684 207 16.5 

1990-1991 241 685 176 14.5 

1991-1992 448 490 188 14 

1992-1993 582 510 163 13.2 

1993-1994 520 407 173 12.6 

1994-1995 247 376 206 17 

1995-1996 210 514 371 19.7 

1996-1997 163 398 293 17.7 

1997-1998 68 363 284 11 

1998-1999 141 352 327 17 

1999-2000 108 406 332 18 

2000-2001 122 352 278 17 

2001-2002 268 370 302 19.7 

2002-2003 575 425 330 18.8 

2003-2004 820 410 347 17.6 

2004-2005 608 356 283 17.8 

2005-2006 712 399 314 17.4 

2006-2007 455 366 296 17.4 

2007-2008 519 378 299 16.9 

2008-2009 351 401 330 19.2 

2009-2010 751 417 1,0083 34.7 

2010-2011 697 445 1,2573 38.7 

2011-20122 725 457 1,3293 42.5 

2012-2013 154 258 7643 35 

2013-2014 172 381 1,1173 42 

2014-2015 140 388 1,1483 35 

2015-2016 326 326 9713 36 

2016-2017 377 321 6933 40.6 

2017-2018 1207 616 1,2103 43.5 

2018-2019 1009 579 1,1423 43 

2019-2020 588 452 8843 42 

 

 

 

1 Includes supplementary questions. 
2 Rostered ministers’ questions—in addition, 69 questions and 67 supplementary questions were asked of 

rostered ministers from September 2011 to February 2012. 
3 Includes further supplementary questions per standing order 113B. 
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Appendix 7: Committee statistics 
Table 26: Summary of committee statistics 1989-2020 

Financial 
year 

Meetings Meetings 
supported by 

Chamber 
Support 

Total number 
of meetings 

Public 
hearings 

Reports Reports 
produced by 

Chamber 
Support 

Total 

1989-1990 165 45 210 57 18 11 29 

1990-1991 185 54 239 45 16 24 40 

1991-1992 90 29 119 23 12 12 24 

1992-1993 141 52 193 34 18 28 46 

1993-1994 144 48 192 53 3 31 34 

1994-1995 126 37 163 36 16 18 34 

1995-1996 113 48 161 61 12 25 37 

1996-1997 129 40 169 59 11 21 32 

1997-1998 109 45 154 45 35 19 54 

1998-1999 - - 327 - 61 20 81 

1999-2000 - - 293 - 57 21 78 

2000-2001 - - 228 - 41 15 56 

2001-2002 - - 126 - 38 19 57 

2002-2003 230 38 268 81 31 19 50 

2003-2004 222 41 263 62 40 20 60 

2004-2005 152 35 187 38 27 20 47 

2005-2006 231 34 265 61 18 15 33 

2006-2007 232 36 268 69 21 16 37 

2007-2008 206 36 242 59 15 17 32 

2008-2009 221 31 252 61 23 13 36 

2009-2010 264 47 311 74 21 20 41 

2010-2011 230 37 267 57 25 16 41 

2011-2012 287 46 333 95 23 16 39 

2012-2013 182 28 210 54 21 11 32 

2013-2014 191 32 223 57 13 14 27 

2014-2015 178 34 212 60 17 19 36 

2015-2016 159 29 188 47 26 14 40 

2016-2017 161 26 187 32 16 17 36 

2017-2018 289 34 323 84 22 14 36 

2018-2019 323 39 362 93 25 19 44 

2019-2020 254 34 288 65 31 18 49 

 

  

63 

 

 

Consolidated committee statistics 2019-2020 

Table 27: Types of committee meetings 

Types of meetings Total 

Number of private meetings 212 

• with full attendance by committee 
members 

170 

Number of public hearings 65 

• with full attendance by committee 
members 

57 

Number of site visits/study tours 5 

Number of other kinds of meetings (briefings, round tables, 
workshops) 

6 

Total number of meetings 288 

Table 28: Hours of committee meetings 

Hours of meetings Total 

Hours of private meetings 136:20 

Hours of public hearings 181:42 

Hours of site visits/study tours 6:37 

Hours of other kinds of meetings 7:43 

Total hours of committee meetings 332:22 

Table 29: Inquiry outcomes 

Inquiry outcomes Total 

Number of witnesses 651 

Number of submissions 188 

Number of petitions 12 

Number of referrals 19 

Number of reports presented 49 

Number of statements made under SO246A 36 

Number of statutory appointments considered 128 

Number of bills considered 65 

Items of subordinate legislation considered 411 
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Appendix 7: Committee statistics 
Table 26: Summary of committee statistics 1989-2020 

Financial 
year 

Meetings Meetings 
supported by 

Chamber 
Support 

Total number 
of meetings 

Public 
hearings 

Reports Reports 
produced by 

Chamber 
Support 

Total 

1989-1990 165 45 210 57 18 11 29 

1990-1991 185 54 239 45 16 24 40 

1991-1992 90 29 119 23 12 12 24 

1992-1993 141 52 193 34 18 28 46 

1993-1994 144 48 192 53 3 31 34 

1994-1995 126 37 163 36 16 18 34 

1995-1996 113 48 161 61 12 25 37 

1996-1997 129 40 169 59 11 21 32 

1997-1998 109 45 154 45 35 19 54 

1998-1999 - - 327 - 61 20 81 

1999-2000 - - 293 - 57 21 78 

2000-2001 - - 228 - 41 15 56 

2001-2002 - - 126 - 38 19 57 

2002-2003 230 38 268 81 31 19 50 

2003-2004 222 41 263 62 40 20 60 

2004-2005 152 35 187 38 27 20 47 

2005-2006 231 34 265 61 18 15 33 

2006-2007 232 36 268 69 21 16 37 

2007-2008 206 36 242 59 15 17 32 

2008-2009 221 31 252 61 23 13 36 

2009-2010 264 47 311 74 21 20 41 

2010-2011 230 37 267 57 25 16 41 

2011-2012 287 46 333 95 23 16 39 

2012-2013 182 28 210 54 21 11 32 

2013-2014 191 32 223 57 13 14 27 

2014-2015 178 34 212 60 17 19 36 

2015-2016 159 29 188 47 26 14 40 

2016-2017 161 26 187 32 16 17 36 

2017-2018 289 34 323 84 22 14 36 

2018-2019 323 39 362 93 25 19 44 

2019-2020 254 34 288 65 31 18 49 
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Consolidated committee statistics 2019-2020 

Table 27: Types of committee meetings 

Types of meetings Total 

Number of private meetings 212 

• with full attendance by committee 
members 

170 

Number of public hearings 65 

• with full attendance by committee 
members 

57 

Number of site visits/study tours 5 

Number of other kinds of meetings (briefings, round tables, 
workshops) 

6 

Total number of meetings 288 

Table 28: Hours of committee meetings 

Hours of meetings Total 

Hours of private meetings 136:20 

Hours of public hearings 181:42 

Hours of site visits/study tours 6:37 

Hours of other kinds of meetings 7:43 

Total hours of committee meetings 332:22 

Table 29: Inquiry outcomes 

Inquiry outcomes Total 

Number of witnesses 651 

Number of submissions 188 

Number of petitions 12 

Number of referrals 19 

Number of reports presented 49 

Number of statements made under SO246A 36 

Number of statutory appointments considered 128 

Number of bills considered 65 

Items of subordinate legislation considered 411 
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Standing committees 

Table 30: Standing committees 

 Administration 
and Procedure1 

Economic 
Development 

and Tourism 

Education, 
Employment and 

Youth Affairs 

Environment 
and Transport 

and 
City Services 

Health, Ageing 
and Community 

Services 

The Integrity  
Commission 

Justice and  
Community 

Safety 
(JCS) 

JCS (Legislative 
Scrutiny Role)1 

Planning and 
Urban 

Renewal 

Public Accounts 

Number of 
private 
meetings 

19 10 24 19 37 6 10 15 19 22 

Number of 
public 
hearings 

0 7 7 3 11 0 7 NA 2 12 

Number of 
site 
visits/study 
tours 

0 0 2 0 2 0 0 NA 0 0 

Number of 
other kinds 
of meetings 

0 0 0 0 4 0 0 NA 0 2 

Number of 
committee 
meetings 
(Total) 

19 17 33 22 54 6 17 15 21 36 

Hours of 
private 
meetings 

10:39 3:30 12:50 5:39 33:50 2:06 3:30 10:56 11:28 22:14 

Hours of 
public 
hearings 

0:00 19:28 18:01 16:57 32:04 0:00 19:28 0:00 9:44 37:18 

Hours of site 
visits/study 
tours 

0:00 0:00 3:20 0:00 2:17 0:00 0:00 0:00 0:00 0:00 

Hours of 
other kinds 
of meetings 

0:00 0:00 0:00 0:00 6:05 0:00 0:00 0:00 0:00 1:38 

Hours of 
committee 
meetings 
(Total) 

10:39 22:58 34:11 22:36 74:16 2:06 22:58 10:56 21:12 61:10 

Number of 
witnesses 

0 67 71 70 140 0 61 NA 28 109 

Number of 
submissions 

13 14 34 21 45 0 19 NA 28 0 

Number of 
petitions 

N/A 0 0 7 1 0 0 NA 4 0 

Number of 
referrals 

2 2 1 2 1 0 4 NA 3 2 

Number of 
reports 
presented 

4 3 3 4 3 0 3 14 4 6 

Number of 
statements 
made under 
SO246A 

1 1 4 10 3 0 4 3 9 1 

65 

 

 

Number of 
statutory 
appointments 
considered 

N/A 8 20 32 0 0 54 NA 10 4 

Number of 
bills 
considered 

N/A 0 0 0 0 0 0 65 0 0 

Items of 
subordinate 
legislation 
considered 

N/A 0 0 0 0 0 0 411 0 0 

1 Committees supported by Chamber Support 
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Standing committees 

Table 30: Standing committees 

 Administration 
and Procedure1 

Economic 
Development 

and Tourism 

Education, 
Employment and 

Youth Affairs 

Environment 
and Transport 

and 
City Services 

Health, Ageing 
and Community 

Services 

The Integrity  
Commission 

Justice and  
Community 

Safety 
(JCS) 

JCS (Legislative 
Scrutiny Role)1 

Planning and 
Urban 

Renewal 

Public Accounts 

Number of 
private 
meetings 

19 10 24 19 37 6 10 15 19 22 

Number of 
public 
hearings 

0 7 7 3 11 0 7 NA 2 12 

Number of 
site 
visits/study 
tours 

0 0 2 0 2 0 0 NA 0 0 

Number of 
other kinds 
of meetings 

0 0 0 0 4 0 0 NA 0 2 

Number of 
committee 
meetings 
(Total) 

19 17 33 22 54 6 17 15 21 36 

Hours of 
private 
meetings 

10:39 3:30 12:50 5:39 33:50 2:06 3:30 10:56 11:28 22:14 

Hours of 
public 
hearings 

0:00 19:28 18:01 16:57 32:04 0:00 19:28 0:00 9:44 37:18 

Hours of site 
visits/study 
tours 

0:00 0:00 3:20 0:00 2:17 0:00 0:00 0:00 0:00 0:00 

Hours of 
other kinds 
of meetings 

0:00 0:00 0:00 0:00 6:05 0:00 0:00 0:00 0:00 1:38 

Hours of 
committee 
meetings 
(Total) 

10:39 22:58 34:11 22:36 74:16 2:06 22:58 10:56 21:12 61:10 

Number of 
witnesses 

0 67 71 70 140 0 61 NA 28 109 

Number of 
submissions 

13 14 34 21 45 0 19 NA 28 0 

Number of 
petitions 

N/A 0 0 7 1 0 0 NA 4 0 

Number of 
referrals 

2 2 1 2 1 0 4 NA 3 2 

Number of 
reports 
presented 

4 3 3 4 3 0 3 14 4 6 

Number of 
statements 
made under 
SO246A 

1 1 4 10 3 0 4 3 9 1 

65 

 

 

Number of 
statutory 
appointments 
considered 

N/A 8 20 32 0 0 54 NA 10 4 

Number of 
bills 
considered 

N/A 0 0 0 0 0 0 65 0 0 

Items of 
subordinate 
legislation 
considered 

N/A 0 0 0 0 0 0 411 0 0 

1 Committees supported by Chamber Support 
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Select committees 

Table 31: Select committees 

 COVID-19 
pandemic 
response 

Estimates 
2019-2020 

Estimates 
2020-2021 

(disolved 
2/4/20) 

Fuel Pricing Privileges 2019 

Number of private meetings 17 6 2 6 0 

Number of public hearings 16 0 0 0 0 

Number of site 
visits/study tours 

1 0 0 0 0 

Number of other kinds 
of meetings 

0 0 0 0 0 

Number of committee 
meetings (Total) 

34 6 2 6 0 

Hours of private meetings 8:01 6:44 0:58 3:55 0:00 

Hours of public hearings 28:42 0:00 0:00 0:00 0:00 

Hours of site 
visits/study tours 

1:00 0:00 0:00 0:00 0:00 

Hours of other kinds of 
meetings 

0:00 0:00 0:00 0:00 0:00 

Hours of committee 
meetings (Total) 

37:43 6:44 0:58 3:55 0:00 

Number of witnesses 105 0 0 0 0 

Number of submissions 14 0 0 0 0 

Number of petitions 0 0 0 0 0 

Number of referrals 1 0 1 0 0 

Number of reports presented 2 1 0 1 1 

Number of statements made 
under SO246A 

0 0 0 0 0 

Number of statutory 
appointments considered 

0 0 0 0 0 

67 

 

 

Appendix 8: Broadcasting and web 
management 
Internet-related activity 

This graph compares visitor statistics for the three Assembly websites: the general Legislative 
Assembly site (www.parliament.act.gov.au), the Assembly on Demand site 
(aod.parliament.act.gov.au), and the Hansard site (www.hansard.act.gov.au). 

The Assembly on Demand site provides a single portal for viewing all Assembly and committee 
proceedings either live via webstreaming or later via a video on demand service. 

Visitor statistics are obtained through Google Analytics. Client use is measured in terms of unique 
sessions. If a user is inactive on the site for 30 minutes or more, future activity is attributed to a 
new session. 

The reduction in the number of sessions in 2019-2020 for the Legislative Assembly website is due 
to a technical glitch with the deployment of the new website, which resulted in no statistics 
being recorded between 26 April and 30 June 2020. 

Figure 6: Website user sessions for Assembly websites 
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Select committees 

Table 31: Select committees 

 COVID-19 
pandemic 
response 

Estimates 
2019-2020 

Estimates 
2020-2021 

(disolved 
2/4/20) 

Fuel Pricing Privileges 2019 

Number of private meetings 17 6 2 6 0 

Number of public hearings 16 0 0 0 0 

Number of site 
visits/study tours 

1 0 0 0 0 

Number of other kinds 
of meetings 

0 0 0 0 0 

Number of committee 
meetings (Total) 

34 6 2 6 0 

Hours of private meetings 8:01 6:44 0:58 3:55 0:00 

Hours of public hearings 28:42 0:00 0:00 0:00 0:00 

Hours of site 
visits/study tours 

1:00 0:00 0:00 0:00 0:00 

Hours of other kinds of 
meetings 

0:00 0:00 0:00 0:00 0:00 

Hours of committee 
meetings (Total) 

37:43 6:44 0:58 3:55 0:00 

Number of witnesses 105 0 0 0 0 

Number of submissions 14 0 0 0 0 

Number of petitions 0 0 0 0 0 

Number of referrals 1 0 1 0 0 

Number of reports presented 2 1 0 1 1 

Number of statements made 
under SO246A 

0 0 0 0 0 

Number of statutory 
appointments considered 

0 0 0 0 0 
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Appendix 8: Broadcasting and web 
management 
Internet-related activity 

This graph compares visitor statistics for the three Assembly websites: the general Legislative 
Assembly site (www.parliament.act.gov.au), the Assembly on Demand site 
(aod.parliament.act.gov.au), and the Hansard site (www.hansard.act.gov.au). 

The Assembly on Demand site provides a single portal for viewing all Assembly and committee 
proceedings either live via webstreaming or later via a video on demand service. 

Visitor statistics are obtained through Google Analytics. Client use is measured in terms of unique 
sessions. If a user is inactive on the site for 30 minutes or more, future activity is attributed to a 
new session. 

The reduction in the number of sessions in 2019-2020 for the Legislative Assembly website is due 
to a technical glitch with the deployment of the new website, which resulted in no statistics 
being recorded between 26 April and 30 June 2020. 

Figure 6: Website user sessions for Assembly websites 

 

  

139,473

61,574

35,593

188,535

63,182

39,565

150,685

29,118

37,118

Legislative Assembly

Hansard

Assembly on Demand

2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020

OFFICE OF THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY ANNUAL REPORT 2019–2020 75

200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   75200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   75 9/28/20   12:30 PM9/28/20   12:30 PM



 

 

Appendix 9: Library and reference services 
Table 32: Library services 

Service 2017-2018 2018-2019 2019-2020 

Number of publications catalogued 617 427 445 

Number of new records created - - 350 

Number of new holdings added - - 95 

Number of inter-library loan requests 55 84 401 

Table 33: Reference and information services 

Service 2017-2018 2018-2019 2019-2020 

Number of reference requests for information—
Assembly clients 

222 169 152 

Number of reference requests for information— 
ACT government clients 

66 48 76 

Number of reference requests for information— 
other clients 

40 49 43 

Table 34: Other services 

Service 2018-2019 2019-2020 

Visits to library intranet (hits) 10,824 1,6932 

TV and radio files uploaded to intranet 1,460 1,1243 

New publications distributed via current awareness service 1,960 916 

1 Interlibrary loan for print materials was suspended in March 2020 due to COVID-19. 
2 This number reflects total site visits to the new library website from 21 January to 30 June 2020. 
3 No TV files were uploaded to the intranet from 24 March-30 June 2020 due to COVID-19. 
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Appendix 10: Members of the Ninth 
Assembly 
BARR, Mr Andrew 

BERRY, Ms Yvette 

BURCH, Miss Candice (declared elected on 13 December 2017, to fill a casual vacancy) 

BURCH, Ms Joy 

CHEYNE, Ms Tara 

CODY, Ms Bec 

COE, Mr Alistair 

DOSZPOT, Mr Steve (deceased 25 November 2017) 

DUNNE, Mrs Vicki 

FITZHARRIS, Ms Meegan (resigned 8 July 2019) 

GENTLEMAN, Mr Mick 

GUPTA, Mr Deepak-Raj (declared elected on 23 July 2019, to fill a casual vacancy) 

HANSON, Mr Jeremy CSC 

JONES, Mrs Giulia 

KIKKERT, Mrs Elizabeth 

LAWDER, Ms Nicole 

LE COUTEUR, Ms Caroline 

LEE, Ms Elizabeth 

MILLIGAN, Mr James 

ORR, Ms Suzanne 

PARTON, Mr Mark 

PETTERSSON, Mr Michael 

RAMSAY, Mr Gordon 

RATTENBURY, Mr Shane 

STEEL, Mr Chris 

STEPHEN-SMITH, Ms Rachel 

WALL, Mr Andrew 
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Appendix 11: Office holders of the Ninth 
Assembly 
Table 35: Office holders of the Ninth Assembly 

Office Holder 

Speaker Ms Joy Burch 

Deputy Speaker Mrs Vicki Dunne1 

Assistant Speaker Ms Bec Cody 

Assistant Speaker Ms Elizabeth Lee 

Assistant Speaker Ms Suzanne Orr2 

Assistant Speaker Mr Mark Parton3,4 

Assistant Speaker Mr Michael Pettersson5,6 

Assistant Speaker Mr Chris Steel7 

 
1 Acting Speaker 8-12 July 2019, PM 7 August-8 August 2019, 28 October-1 November 2019, 

6-21 November 2019, 17 January 2020, 20-21 January 2020, 26 January-5 February 2020. 
2 Nominated 3 September 2018. Nomination revoked 9 September 2019. 
3 Nominated 16 May 2019. 
4 Acting Speaker 30 August-7 September 2019, 18-19 January 2020. 
5 Nominated 9 September 2019. 
6 Acting Speaker 30 September-5 October 2019. 
7 Nomination revoked 3 September 2018. 
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Appendix 12: Ministers as at 30 June 2020 
Table 36: Twelfth Barr Ministry 

Minister Ministry 

Andrew Barr Chief Minister 
Treasurer 
Minister for Social Inclusion and Equality 
Minister for Tourism and Special Events 
Minister for Trade, Industry and Investment 

Yvette Berry Deputy Chief Minister 
Minister for Education and Early Childhood Development 
Minister for Housing and Suburban Development 
Minister for the Prevention of Domestic and Family Violence 
Minister for Sport and Recreation 
Minister for Women 

Mick Gentleman Minister of Government Business 
Minister for Advanced Technology and Space Industries 
Minister for the Environment and Heritage 
Minister for Planning and Land Management 
Minister for Police and Emergency Services 
Minister for Urban Renewal 

Rachel Stephen-Smith Minister for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Affairs 
Minister for Children, Youth and Families 
Minister for Health 

Gordon Ramsay Attorney-General 
Minister for the Arts, Creative Industries and Cultural Events 
Minister for Building Quality Improvement 
Minister for Business and Regulatory Services 
Minister for Seniors and Veterans 

Chris Steel Minister for City Services 
Minister for Multicultural Affairs 
Minister for Recycling and Waste Reduction 
Minister for Roads and Active Travel 
Minister for Tertiary Education 
Minister for Transport 

Shane Rattenbury Minister for Climate Change and Sustainability 
Minister for Corrections and Justice Health 
Minister for Justice, Consumer Affairs and Road Safety 
Minister for Mental Health 

Suzanne Orr Minister for Community Services and Facilities 
Minister for Disability 
Minister for Employment and Workplace Safety 
Minister for Government Services and Procurement 
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Appendix 13: Remuneration of MLAs 
ACT Remuneration Tribunal determination No 1 of 2019, which commenced on 1 July 2019, 
provided that the base rate salary for all members of the Legislative Assembly shall be $168,492 
per annum. 

The determination also provided that a member holding any of the following offices would be 
entitled to the corresponding additional salary, as shown in Table 36. 

Table 37: Remuneration of MLAs 

Position Remuneration 

Chief Minister 185,341 

Deputy Chief Minister 134,793 

Minister 117,944 

Leader of the Opposition 117,944 

Presiding Officer 92,670 

Deputy Leader of the Opposition 33,698 

Deputy Presiding Officer 25,274 

Government Whip 16,849 

Opposition Whip 16,849 

Presiding member of a committee which is concerned with public affairs 
rather than domestic affairs of the Legislative Assembly 

16,849 
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Appendix 14: Non-executive members’ staff 
Table 38: Legislative Assembly members staff (LAMS) employment agreements 

Financial year No. of LAMS 
contracts 

No. of non-executive 
members 

Average contracts/ 
member 

1999-2000 63 12 5.25 

2000-2001 50 12 4.17 

2001-2002 (pre-election) 47 12 3.92 

2001-2002 (post-election) 67 13 5.15 

2001-2002 total 114 12.5 9.12 

2002-2003 149 12.5 11.92 

2003-2004 (prior to new staff structure) 61 12 5.08 

2003-2004 (translation to new staff 
structure) 

33 12 2.75 

2003-2004 (following new staff structure) 50 12 4.17 

2003-2004 total 144 12 12.00 

2005-2006 87 12 7.25 

2006-2007 120 12 10.00 

2007-2008 102 12 8.50 

2008-2009 (pre-election) 16 12 1.33 

2008-2009 (post-election) 98 12 8.17 

2008-2009 total 114 12 9.50 

2009-2010 71 12 5.91 

2010-2011 79 131 6.08 

2011-2012 59 121 4.92 

2012-2013 (pre-election) 12 12 1.00 

2012-2013 (post-election) 91 12 7.58 

2012-2013 total 103 12 8.58 

2013-2014 66 12 5.50 

2014-2015 77 11 7.00 

2015-2016 62 102 5.17 

2016-2017 (pre-election) 17 11 1.55 

2016-2017 (post-election) 101 18 5.61 

2016-2017 total 118 4 4 

2017-2018 109 173 6.06 

2018-2019 125 17 7.35 

2019-2020 120 17 7.10 
1 13th non-executive member from 2 June 2011 to 23 November 2011. 
2 11th non-executive member from 1 July 2015 to January 2016. 
3 18th non-executive member from October 2016 to 23 August 2018. 
4 Figures not provided due to increase in Assembly from 17 to 25 members. 
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Table 39: Number of non-executive members staff employed at each classification at 30 June 
2020 

Classification Number of staff Full-time equivalent (FTE) 

Senior Adviser Level 2 4 3.2 

Senior Adviser Level 1 11 9.3 

Adviser Level 2 5 3.5 

Adviser Level 1 (upper) 13 9.7 

Adviser Level 1 (lower) 48 22.1 

Total 81 47.8 

 

 

 

Appendix 15: Parliamentary visitors and 
delegations received 
Table 40: Visitors from other jurisdictions 

Date Name Place of origin 

22 January 2020 Tim Mercer, Clerk, Northwest Territories 
Legislative Assembly 

Obie Rutledge, Deputy Chief Clerk, Oregon State 
House of Representatives 

Canada 
 

United States 
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Appendix 16: Assembly Branch of the 
Commonwealth Parliamentary Association 
The Australian Capital Territory Legislative Assembly branch of the Commonwealth 
Parliamentary Association (CPA) did not meet during the year. However, a number of matters of 
interest were communicated to members through email and correspondence. Correspondence 
from the CPA headquarters and the Australian region was regularly circulated to members. The 
issues raised included twinning arrangements with the Parliament of Kiribati, proposed agenda 
items for future conferences, and invitations to events, conferences and seminars. In addition, 
members were advised of a number of webinars and other online resources that had been 
developed by the CPA to assist members during the COVID-19 pandemic crisis as face-to-face 
meetings, conferences, workshops and seminars were cancelled and future plans put on hold.  

Deputy Speaker, Vicki Dunne MLA’s three-year appointment as Treasurer of the CPA expired in 
September 2019. The Office provided support to her in the role until that date. 

During the year, the ACT branch was represented at the following events: 

• CPA Commonwealth Parliamentary Conference and Small Branches Conference, Uganda. 

• 38th CPA Australia and Pacific Regional Conference, Adelaide. 

• CPA Sustainable Economic Development Workshop, Malta. 

• Westminster Seminar, London. 

• CPA Cyber Security Workshop London. 

• CPA India Region Conference, India. 

• 10th Commonwealth Youth Parliament, India. 

On the resolution of the ACT branch of the association, it was agreed that the expenditure 
incurred from the Assembly’s budget for each CPA conference and seminar be included in the 
Assembly’s annual report. Direct net expenditure associated with the seminars and conferences 
attended during 2019-2020 was as follows: 

• CPA Commonwealth Parliamentary Conference and Small Branches Conference—Kampala, 
Uganda—22-29 September 2019—Vicki Dunne MLA ($435.27) and Mark Parton MLA 
($6,047.31) 

• 38th CPA Australia and Pacific Regional Conference—Adelaide—November 2019—Deepak-
Raj Gupta MLA ($1,714.89) and Mark Parton MLA ($1,587.53) 

• 68th Annual Westminster Seminar—London—25-29 November 2019—Michael Pettersson 
($8,745.60) 

• 10th Commonwealth Youth Parliament—Delhi, India—25-29 November 2019—Oscar and 
Joshua Gonzales ($1,080.00) 

• CPA Sustainable Economic Development Workshop—Valetta, Malta—28 January-1 
February 2020—Joy Burch MLA ($9,109.49). 

• CPA India Region Conference—Lucknow, India—15-19 January 2010—Deepak-Raj Gupta 
MLA ($7,623.48) 

• CPA Cyber Security Workshop—London—24-27 February 2020—Michael Pettersson MLA 
($6,627.02) 

The association membership subscription for the branch for the year was $15,215.37. 
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Appendix 17: Education program 
Table 41: Visitors to the Assembly in 2019-2020 compared with two previous reporting periods 

Visitors by group Number of participants 
2017-2018 

Number of participants 
2018-2019 

Number of participants 
2019-2020 

Community groups 697 353 61 

Community outreach 0 0 201 

Delegations 87 76 11 

Speaker’s citizenship 
evening 

122 109 77 

Public service seminar/ 
tour; includes teacher 
professional development 

246 205 260 

Seminars and conventions 38 31 0 

Work experience/ 
internship 

23 27 20 

School students (from 
individual school visits) 

1,009 1,092 868 

School students (school 
debates) 

341 364 90 

School students 
(constitutional 
convention) 

82 67 96 

Tours 96 104 164 

Open day 0 287 0 

Ceremonial sitting/ 
possum-skin cloak 

0 125 0 

Total 2,741 2,840 1,848 
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Appendix 18: Office of the Legislative 
Assembly financial statements and 
management discussion and analysis 
Management discussion and analysis 2019-2020 

Legislative overview 

The Office of the Legislative Assembly (the Office) is established by section 5 of the Legislative 
Assembly (Office of the Legislative Assembly) Act 2012 (the Act), which provides that the Office 
consists of the Clerk and staff of the Office.  

Section 6 of the Act states that the functions of the Office are to provide impartial advice and 
support to the Legislative Assembly, its committees and Members of the Assembly. 

The Office also has the role of providing public education about the functions of the Assembly 
and its committees. The Office may exercise any other function given to it under the Act or 
another Territory law. 

Pursuant to section 8 of the Act, the Clerk and the Office’s staff are not subject to direction by 
the Executive or any Minister in the exercise of their functions. The Clerk is responsible for the 
management of the Office pursuant to section 10 of the Act.  

Risk Management 

The Office maintains an ongoing program of risk assessment, treatment and review in 
accordance with the principles embodied in AS ISO 31000:2018. The Office’s internal audit 
committee continues to play a role in regularly reviewing the risk management program of the 
organisation, providing assurance to the Clerk of the Assembly in relation to several governance 
functions and contributing to the maintenance of an effective internal control framework across 
the Office. 

Reporting Entities 

The 2019-20 financial statements relate to the Controlled and Territorial entities administered 
by the Office. The financial information is based on the audited financial statements for 2018-19 
and  
2019-20, and the forward estimates advised to the Treasurer by the Speaker. 

  

 

 

Controlled Financial Performance 

Net Cost of Services 

The Net Cost of Services is the total expenditure of the Office less Total Own Source Revenue. It 
is summarised in the table on the following page.  

Comparison to Budget1 

 Actual 
2018-2019 

$m 

Actual 
2019-2020 

$m 

Original 
budget 

2019-2020 
$m 

Forward 
estimate 

2020-2021 
$m 

Forward 
estimate 

2021-2022 
$m 

Forward 
estimate 

2022-2023 
$m 

Forward 
estimate 

2023-2024 
$m 

Expenditure 10.783 10.791 11.340 11.464 11.668 11.856 11.973 

Own Source Revenue 0.675 0.599 0.604 0.606 0.608 0.610 0.612 

Net Cost of Services 10.108 10.192 10.736 10.858 11.060 11.246 11.361 

The Office’s Net Cost of Services of $10.192m was less than budget by $0.544m. This was mainly 
in the areas of employee expenses including superannuation and supplies and services. The 
underspend was due to difficulties in filling vacancies throughout the year and the impact on 
parts of the Office’s operations of the COVID-19 global pandemic. The major areas impacted by 
the COVID-19 global pandemic were the cessation of public education programs and the 
cancellation of committee travel and committee hearings held in public. 

Comparison to Prior Year 

The Net Cost of Services of $10.192m was comparable with the prior year result of $10.108m. 

Future Trends 

The Office’s future budget estimates (see above) include funding to continue its legislative 
functions outlined earlier in this document. 

Total Expenditure 

Employee expenses including superannuation ($6.723m: 62.3 percent) and supplies and services 
($3.620m: 33.5 percent) represent 95.8 percent of the Office’s total expenditure. 

The largest components of supplies and services were:  

• information technology running costs ($0.884m: 24.4 percent); 

• building management ($0.798m: 22.0 percent);  

• accommodation rental ($0.526m: 14.5 percent); and. 

• consultants, contractors and professional services ($0.292m: 8.1 percent). 

 
1 The forward estimate for 2023-2024 is based on the recommended appropriation advised to the 
Treasurer by the Speaker. The Budget for 2020-2021 that would contain the 2023-2024 forward estimates 
has been delayed due to the COVID-19 global pandemic. 
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Appendix 18: Office of the Legislative 
Assembly financial statements and 
management discussion and analysis 
Management discussion and analysis 2019-2020 

Legislative overview 

The Office of the Legislative Assembly (the Office) is established by section 5 of the Legislative 
Assembly (Office of the Legislative Assembly) Act 2012 (the Act), which provides that the Office 
consists of the Clerk and staff of the Office.  

Section 6 of the Act states that the functions of the Office are to provide impartial advice and 
support to the Legislative Assembly, its committees and Members of the Assembly. 

The Office also has the role of providing public education about the functions of the Assembly 
and its committees. The Office may exercise any other function given to it under the Act or 
another Territory law. 

Pursuant to section 8 of the Act, the Clerk and the Office’s staff are not subject to direction by 
the Executive or any Minister in the exercise of their functions. The Clerk is responsible for the 
management of the Office pursuant to section 10 of the Act.  

Risk Management 

The Office maintains an ongoing program of risk assessment, treatment and review in 
accordance with the principles embodied in AS ISO 31000:2018. The Office’s internal audit 
committee continues to play a role in regularly reviewing the risk management program of the 
organisation, providing assurance to the Clerk of the Assembly in relation to several governance 
functions and contributing to the maintenance of an effective internal control framework across 
the Office. 

Reporting Entities 

The 2019-20 financial statements relate to the Controlled and Territorial entities administered 
by the Office. The financial information is based on the audited financial statements for 2018-19 
and  
2019-20, and the forward estimates advised to the Treasurer by the Speaker. 

  

 

 

Controlled Financial Performance 

Net Cost of Services 

The Net Cost of Services is the total expenditure of the Office less Total Own Source Revenue. It 
is summarised in the table on the following page.  

Comparison to Budget1 

 Actual 
2018-2019 

$m 

Actual 
2019-2020 

$m 

Original 
budget 

2019-2020 
$m 

Forward 
estimate 

2020-2021 
$m 

Forward 
estimate 

2021-2022 
$m 

Forward 
estimate 

2022-2023 
$m 

Forward 
estimate 

2023-2024 
$m 

Expenditure 10.783 10.791 11.340 11.464 11.668 11.856 11.973 

Own Source Revenue 0.675 0.599 0.604 0.606 0.608 0.610 0.612 

Net Cost of Services 10.108 10.192 10.736 10.858 11.060 11.246 11.361 

The Office’s Net Cost of Services of $10.192m was less than budget by $0.544m. This was mainly 
in the areas of employee expenses including superannuation and supplies and services. The 
underspend was due to difficulties in filling vacancies throughout the year and the impact on 
parts of the Office’s operations of the COVID-19 global pandemic. The major areas impacted by 
the COVID-19 global pandemic were the cessation of public education programs and the 
cancellation of committee travel and committee hearings held in public. 

Comparison to Prior Year 

The Net Cost of Services of $10.192m was comparable with the prior year result of $10.108m. 

Future Trends 

The Office’s future budget estimates (see above) include funding to continue its legislative 
functions outlined earlier in this document. 

Total Expenditure 

Employee expenses including superannuation ($6.723m: 62.3 percent) and supplies and services 
($3.620m: 33.5 percent) represent 95.8 percent of the Office’s total expenditure. 

The largest components of supplies and services were:  

• information technology running costs ($0.884m: 24.4 percent); 

• building management ($0.798m: 22.0 percent);  

• accommodation rental ($0.526m: 14.5 percent); and. 

• consultants, contractors and professional services ($0.292m: 8.1 percent). 

 
1 The forward estimate for 2023-2024 is based on the recommended appropriation advised to the 
Treasurer by the Speaker. The Budget for 2020-2021 that would contain the 2023-2024 forward estimates 
has been delayed due to the COVID-19 global pandemic. 
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Comparison to Budget 

Total expenditure of $10.791m was $0.549m (4.8 percent) less than originally budgeted for the 
reasons outlined previously in ‘Net Cost of Services – Comparison to Budget’. 

Comparison to Prior Year 

Total expenditure of $10.791m was comparable with the prior year of $10.783m. 

Future Trends 

This is discussed previously in ‘Net Cost of Services – Future Trends’. 

Own Source Revenue 

The most significant component of ‘Own Source Revenue’ is Grants and Contributions from 
other ACT entities ($0.533m: 89.0 percent). The major categories were:  

• the value of accommodation rental ($0.261m: 49.0 percent) relating to the proportion of 
space within the Legislative Assembly building occupied by Office staff; and 

• legislative drafting services provided by the Parliamentary Counsel’s Office to  
non-Executive MLAs and one Executive MLA ($0.235m: 44.1 percent). 

Comparison to Budget and Prior Year 

The Office's ‘Own Source Revenue’ was comparable with the budget and prior year. 

Controlled Financial Position 

Total Assets 

Total assets of $6.301m consist mainly of cash and cash equivalents ($2.963m: 47.0 percent) and 
plant and equipment ($2.856m: 45.3 percent). 

Comparison to Budget and Prior Year 

Total assets of $6.301m were comparable with the budget ($6.124m) and the prior year 
($6.428m). 

Future Trends 

The Office will continue to monitor its current assets to ensure it has sufficient coverage of its 
employee benefit liabilities. Any funds over and above this liability coverage may be made 
available to undertake strategic projects across the Office. 

  

 

 

Total Liabilities 

The Office’s total liabilities of $2.431m consist mostly of current and non-current employee 
benefit liabilities ($2.259m: 92.9 percent) and payables ($0.146m: 6.0 percent). 

Comparison to Budget 

Total liabilities of $2.431m were lower than the budget ($2.732m) as employee benefit liabilities 
were impacted by the departure of several staff with significant leave balances. 

Comparison to Prior Year 

Total liabilities of $2.431m were comparable with the prior year ($2.453m). 

Future Trends 

The Office will continue to closely monitor and manage its employee benefits liabilities in the 
future to ensure that staff are not building and maintaining excessive leave balances. 

Territorial Statement of Income and Expenses 

Income 

Territorial income is largely Payment for Expenses on Behalf of the Territory to meet the cost of 
salaries and related employee entitlements for non-Executive members and their staff.  

Payment for Expenses on Behalf of the Territory of $9.345m was $0.287m (3.0 percent) less than 
originally budgeted mainly due to non-Executive members not spending their full staff salary 
allocations. 

Expenditure 

Territorial expenditure is largely employee expenses and superannuation ($9.384m: 
89.6 percent). 

Comparison to Budget 

Total expenditure was $1.067m (9.3 percent) less than budgeted. Employee and superannuation 
expenses were lower than budget by $0.474m (4.8 percent) as discussed above in ‘Total 
Income’. Depreciation expense was $0.610m (50.2 percent) less than budget. The budget 
assumed that a higher level of assets would be depreciated for the full financial year. This did not 
eventuate as projects were not completed until near the end of the financial year. 

Comparison to Prior Year 

Total expenditure of $10.465m was higher than the prior year ($10.102m) largely due to an 
increase in employee expenses stemming from additional staffing, the adoption of a new 
enterprise bargaining agreement and several termination payments made during the financial 
year. 

Future Trends 

Future appropriations are budgeted to increase in line with wage price indexation. The Office 
will continue to monitor these appropriations to assess whether they are enough to maintain the 
effective operations of the non-Executive members and their staff. 
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Comparison to Budget 

Total expenditure of $10.791m was $0.549m (4.8 percent) less than originally budgeted for the 
reasons outlined previously in ‘Net Cost of Services – Comparison to Budget’. 

Comparison to Prior Year 

Total expenditure of $10.791m was comparable with the prior year of $10.783m. 

Future Trends 

This is discussed previously in ‘Net Cost of Services – Future Trends’. 

Own Source Revenue 

The most significant component of ‘Own Source Revenue’ is Grants and Contributions from 
other ACT entities ($0.533m: 89.0 percent). The major categories were:  

• the value of accommodation rental ($0.261m: 49.0 percent) relating to the proportion of 
space within the Legislative Assembly building occupied by Office staff; and 

• legislative drafting services provided by the Parliamentary Counsel’s Office to  
non-Executive MLAs and one Executive MLA ($0.235m: 44.1 percent). 

Comparison to Budget and Prior Year 

The Office's ‘Own Source Revenue’ was comparable with the budget and prior year. 

Controlled Financial Position 

Total Assets 

Total assets of $6.301m consist mainly of cash and cash equivalents ($2.963m: 47.0 percent) and 
plant and equipment ($2.856m: 45.3 percent). 

Comparison to Budget and Prior Year 

Total assets of $6.301m were comparable with the budget ($6.124m) and the prior year 
($6.428m). 

Future Trends 

The Office will continue to monitor its current assets to ensure it has sufficient coverage of its 
employee benefit liabilities. Any funds over and above this liability coverage may be made 
available to undertake strategic projects across the Office. 

  

 

 

Total Liabilities 

The Office’s total liabilities of $2.431m consist mostly of current and non-current employee 
benefit liabilities ($2.259m: 92.9 percent) and payables ($0.146m: 6.0 percent). 

Comparison to Budget 

Total liabilities of $2.431m were lower than the budget ($2.732m) as employee benefit liabilities 
were impacted by the departure of several staff with significant leave balances. 

Comparison to Prior Year 

Total liabilities of $2.431m were comparable with the prior year ($2.453m). 

Future Trends 

The Office will continue to closely monitor and manage its employee benefits liabilities in the 
future to ensure that staff are not building and maintaining excessive leave balances. 

Territorial Statement of Income and Expenses 

Income 

Territorial income is largely Payment for Expenses on Behalf of the Territory to meet the cost of 
salaries and related employee entitlements for non-Executive members and their staff.  

Payment for Expenses on Behalf of the Territory of $9.345m was $0.287m (3.0 percent) less than 
originally budgeted mainly due to non-Executive members not spending their full staff salary 
allocations. 

Expenditure 

Territorial expenditure is largely employee expenses and superannuation ($9.384m: 
89.6 percent). 

Comparison to Budget 

Total expenditure was $1.067m (9.3 percent) less than budgeted. Employee and superannuation 
expenses were lower than budget by $0.474m (4.8 percent) as discussed above in ‘Total 
Income’. Depreciation expense was $0.610m (50.2 percent) less than budget. The budget 
assumed that a higher level of assets would be depreciated for the full financial year. This did not 
eventuate as projects were not completed until near the end of the financial year. 

Comparison to Prior Year 

Total expenditure of $10.465m was higher than the prior year ($10.102m) largely due to an 
increase in employee expenses stemming from additional staffing, the adoption of a new 
enterprise bargaining agreement and several termination payments made during the financial 
year. 

Future Trends 

Future appropriations are budgeted to increase in line with wage price indexation. The Office 
will continue to monitor these appropriations to assess whether they are enough to maintain the 
effective operations of the non-Executive members and their staff. 
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Territorial Financial Position 

Total Assets 

Comparison to Budget and Prior Year 

Total assets of $34.830m were higher than budget ($28.723m) and the prior year ($29.327m) 
due to the revaluation increment of $5.190m in the land and building assets. 

Future Trends 

The value of Territorial assets is expected to increase with the capital funding for the finalisation 
of the Members entrance redesign and the upgrade of part of the Assembly building’s heating, 
ventilation and cooling system included in the budget.  

Total Liabilities 

Comparison to Budget and Prior Year 

Total liabilities of $0.765m were largely consistent with budget ($0.898m) and the prior year 
($0.662m). 

Future Trends 

Funding is included in the 2020-21 budget for employee leave payouts if they are required 
following the October 2020 ACT Election. 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
To the Members of the ACT Legislative Assembly 
Audit opinion 
I have audited the financial statements of the Office of the Legislative Assembly for the year ended 
30 June 2020 which comprise the: 

• Controlled financial statements – operating statement, balance sheet, statement of changes 
in equity, statement of cash flows and controlled statement of appropriation; 

• Territorial financial statements – statement of income and expenses on behalf of the 
Territory, statement of assets and liabilities on behalf of the Territory, statement of changes 
in equity on behalf of the Territory, statement of cash flows on behalf of the Territory and 
territorial statement of appropriation; and 

• Notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
In my opinion, the financial statements: 

(i) present fairly, in all material respects, the Office of the Legislative Assembly’s financial 
position as at 30 June 2020, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then 
ended; and 

(ii) are presented in accordance with the Financial Management Act 1996 and comply with 
Australian Accounting Standards.  

Basis for opinion 
I conducted the audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities 
under the standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements’ section of this report.  

I am independent of the Office of the Legislative Assembly in accordance with the ethical 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (Code). I have also fulfilled my 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion.  
Responsibilities of the Office of the Legislative Assembly for the financial statements 
The Clerk of the Legislative Assembly is responsible for: 

• preparing and fairly presenting the financial statements in accordance with the 
Financial Management Act 1996 and relevant Australian Accounting Standards; 

• determining the internal controls necessary for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements so that they are free from material misstatements, whether due to error 
or fraud; and 

• assessing the ability of the Office of the Legislative Assembly to continue as a going concern 
and disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements. 
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Territorial Financial Position 

Total Assets 

Comparison to Budget and Prior Year 

Total assets of $34.830m were higher than budget ($28.723m) and the prior year ($29.327m) 
due to the revaluation increment of $5.190m in the land and building assets. 

Future Trends 

The value of Territorial assets is expected to increase with the capital funding for the finalisation 
of the Members entrance redesign and the upgrade of part of the Assembly building’s heating, 
ventilation and cooling system included in the budget.  

Total Liabilities 

Comparison to Budget and Prior Year 

Total liabilities of $0.765m were largely consistent with budget ($0.898m) and the prior year 
($0.662m). 

Future Trends 

Funding is included in the 2020-21 budget for employee leave payouts if they are required 
following the October 2020 ACT Election. 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
To the Members of the ACT Legislative Assembly 
Audit opinion 
I have audited the financial statements of the Office of the Legislative Assembly for the year ended 
30 June 2020 which comprise the: 

• Controlled financial statements – operating statement, balance sheet, statement of changes 
in equity, statement of cash flows and controlled statement of appropriation; 

• Territorial financial statements – statement of income and expenses on behalf of the 
Territory, statement of assets and liabilities on behalf of the Territory, statement of changes 
in equity on behalf of the Territory, statement of cash flows on behalf of the Territory and 
territorial statement of appropriation; and 

• Notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
In my opinion, the financial statements: 

(i) present fairly, in all material respects, the Office of the Legislative Assembly’s financial 
position as at 30 June 2020, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then 
ended; and 

(ii) are presented in accordance with the Financial Management Act 1996 and comply with 
Australian Accounting Standards.  

Basis for opinion 
I conducted the audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities 
under the standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements’ section of this report.  

I am independent of the Office of the Legislative Assembly in accordance with the ethical 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (Code). I have also fulfilled my 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion.  
Responsibilities of the Office of the Legislative Assembly for the financial statements 
The Clerk of the Legislative Assembly is responsible for: 

• preparing and fairly presenting the financial statements in accordance with the 
Financial Management Act 1996 and relevant Australian Accounting Standards; 

• determining the internal controls necessary for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements so that they are free from material misstatements, whether due to error 
or fraud; and 

• assessing the ability of the Office of the Legislative Assembly to continue as a going concern 
and disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements. 

OFFICE OF THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY ANNUAL REPORT 2019–2020 91

200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   91200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   91 9/28/20   12:31 PM9/28/20   12:31 PM



 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements  
Under the Financial Management Act 1996, the Auditor-General is responsible for issuing an audit 
report that includes an independent opinion on the financial statements of the Office of the 
Legislative Assembly. 

My objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes my opinion.  
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of the financial statements.  
As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;  

• obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the Office of the Legislative Assembly’s internal controls; 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Office of the Legislative Assembly; 

• conclude on the appropriateness of the Office of the Legislative Assembly’s use of the going 
concern basis of accounting and, based on audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Office of the Legislative Assembly’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that 
a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in this report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my 
opinion. I base my conclusions on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of this report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Office of the Legislative Assembly to 
cease to continue as a going concern; and 

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether they represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

I communicate with the Clerk of the Office of the Legislative Assembly regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

 
 
Ajay Sharma 
Assistant Auditor-General, Financial Audit 
24 August 2020 
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Office of the Legislative Assembly 

Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 
 
 

Statement of Responsibility 
 
 
 
 
 
In my opinion, the financial statements agree with the Office of the Legislative 
Assembly’s accounts and records and fairly reflect the financial operations of the 
Office of the Legislative Assembly for the year ended 30 June 2020 and the financial 
position on that date. 
 
 
 

 
Tom Duncan   
Clerk of the Legislative Assembly   
21 August 2020   
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Office of the Legislative Assembly 

Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 
 
 

Statement by the Chief Finance Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
In my opinion, the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
Australian Accounting Standards and agree with the Office of the Legislative 
Assembly’s accounts and records and fairly reflect the financial operations of the 
Office of the Legislative Assembly for the year ended 30 June 2020 and the financial 
position on that date. 
 
 
 

 
Malcolm Prentice  
Chief Finance Officer  
Office of the Legislative Assembly  
21 August 2020  
 
 
 
 
  

OFFICE OF THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY ANNUAL REPORT 2019–2020 95

200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   95200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   95 9/28/20   12:31 PM9/28/20   12:31 PM



 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Office of the Legislative Assembly 
 

Controlled Financial Statements 
 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 
 

 

OFFICE OF THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY ANNUAL REPORT 2019-2096

200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   96200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   96 9/28/20   12:31 PM9/28/20   12:31 PM



 
 

Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Operating Statement 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
Note 
No. 

Actual 
2020 

$’000 

Original 
Budget  

2020 
$’000 

Actual 
2019 

$’000 
Income     
     
Revenue      
Controlled Recurrent Payments  10,291 10,291 10,062 
Investment Revenue  36 40 49 
Grants and Contributions 3 533 520 566 
Other Revenue  30 44 60 
Total Revenue  10,890 10,895 10,737 
     
Total Income  10,890 10,895 10,737 
     
Expenses      
Employee Expenses 4 5,759 5,945 5,729 
Superannuation Expenses 5 964 1,247 826 
Supplies and Services  6 3,620 3,742 3,862 
Depreciation and Amortisation 7 447 401 351 
Other Expenses  1 5 15 
Total Expenses   10,791 11,340 10,783 
     
Operating Surplus/(Deficit)  99 (445) (46) 
     
Other Comprehensive Income 
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit 

or loss     
Decrease in the Asset Revaluation Surplus  (239) - - 
Other Comprehensive Income  - 75 - 
Total Other Comprehensive Income  (239) 75 - 
     
Total Comprehensive (Deficit)  (140) (370) (46) 

 

The above Operating Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Balance Sheet 

As at 30 June 2020 

 

 
Note 
No. 

Actual 
2020 

$’000 

Original 
Budget  

2020 
$’000 

Actual 
2019 

$’000 
Current Assets     
Cash and Cash Equivalents 8 2,963 2,292 2,575 
Receivables   22 21 32 
Other Assets  66 42 91 
Total Current Assets  3,051 2,355 2,698 
     

Non-Current Assets     
Plant and Equipment 9 2,856 3,401 3,209 
Intangible Assets 10 394 73 521 
Capital Works in Progress  - 295 - 
Total Non-Current Assets  3,250 3,769 3,730 
     
Total Assets  6,301 6,124 6,428 
     
Current Liabilities     
Payables 11 146 181 386 
Employee Benefits 12 2,157 2,411 1,948 
Lease Liabilities  26 27 - 
Total Current Liabilities  2,329 2,619 2,334 
     
Non-Current Liabilities     
Employee Benefits 12 102 113 119 
Total Non-Current Liabilities  102 113 119 
     
Total Liabilities  2,431 2,732 2,453 
     
Net Assets  3,870 3,392 3,975 
     
Equity     
Accumulated Funds  2,875 2,158 2,741 
Asset Revaluation Surplus  995 1,234 1,234 
Total Equity  3,870 3,392 3,975 

 

The above Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.   
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Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Statement of Changes in Equity 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

  
Accumulated 

Funds 

Asset 
Revaluation 

Surplus 
Total 

Equity Original  

  

Actual 
2020 

$’000 

Actual 
2020 

$’000 

Actual 
2020 

$’000 

Budget 
2020 

$’000 
      
Balance at 1 July 2019  2,741 1,234 3,975 3,727 
      
Comprehensive Income      
Operating Surplus/(Deficit)  99 - 99 (445) 
Other Comprehensive Income  - - - 75 
Decrease in Asset Revaluation Surplus  - (239) (239) - 
Total Comprehensive Surplus/(Deficit)  99 (239) (140) (370) 
      
Transactions Involving Owners Affecting 

Accumulated Funds      
Capital Injections  35 - 35 35 
Total Transactions Involving Owners Affecting 

Accumulated Funds  35 - 35 35 
      
Balance at 30 June 2020  2,875 995 3,870 3,392 

      

  
Accumulated 

Funds 

Asset 
Revaluation 

Surplus 
Total 

Equity 

  

Actual 
2019 

$’000 

Actual 
2019 

$’000 

Actual 
2019 

$’000 
     
Balance at 1 July 2018  2,674 1,234 3,908 
     
Comprehensive Income     
Operating (Deficit)  (46) - (46) 
Total Comprehensive (Deficit)  (46) - (46) 
     
Transactions Involving Owners Affecting 

Accumulated Funds     
Capital Injections  113 - 113 
Total Transactions Involving Owners Affecting 

Accumulated Funds  113 - 113 
     
Balance at 30 June 2019  2,741 1,234 3,975 

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Statement of Cash Flows 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
Note 
No. 

Actual 
2020 

$’000  

Original 
Budget  

2020 
$’000 

Actual 
2019 

$’000  
Cash Flows from Operating Activities     
Receipts     
Controlled Recurrent Payments  10,291 10,291 10,062 
Interest Received  36 40 74 
Goods and Services Tax Credits  340 288 315 
Other  35 - 51 
Total Receipts from Operating Activities  10,702 10,619 10,502 
     

Payments     
Employees  5,559 5,607 5,726 
Superannuation  945 1,147 846 
Supplies and Services  3,347 3,739 3,235 
Goods and Services Tax Paid to Suppliers  344 226 335 
Total Payments from Operating Activities  10,195 10,719 10,142 
Net Cash Inflows/(Outflows) from Operating Activities 15 507 (100) 360 
     

Cash Flows from Investing Activities     
Receipts     
Proceeds from the Sale/Maturity of Investments  - 1,863 3,104 
Total Receipts from Investing Activities  - 1,863 3,104 
     

Payments     
Purchase of Plant and Equipment  116 105 181 
Purchase of Investments  - 1,675 845 
Total Payments from Investing Activities  116 1,780 1,026 
Net Cash (Outflows)/Inflows from Investing Activities  (116) 83 2,078 
     

Cash Flows from Financing Activities     
Receipts     
Capital Injections  35 35 113 
Total Receipts from Financing Activities  35 35 113 
     

Payments     
Repayment of Finance Lease Liabilities  38 29 - 
Total Payments from Financing Activities  38 29 - 
Net Cash (Outflows)/Inflows from Financing 
Activities  (3) 6 113 
     

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash   388 (11) 2,551 
Cash at the Beginning of the Reporting Period  2,575 2,303 24 
Cash at the End of the Reporting Period 15 2,963 2,292 2,575 
     

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.   
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Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Controlled Statement of Appropriation 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

  

Original 
Budget 

2020 
$’000 

Total 
Appropriated 

2020 
$’000 

Appropriation 
Drawn 

2020 
$’000 

Appropriation 
Drawn 

2019 
$’000 

Controlled Recurrent Payments  10,291 10,291 10,291 10,062 a 
Capital Injections  35 35 35 113 b 
Total Controlled Appropriation  10,326 10,326 10,326 10,175 
      
The above Controlled Statement of Appropriation should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

 
Accounting Policy for Appropriations 

Controlled Recurrent Payments are revenue received from the ACT Government to fund the costs of the 
operations and principal activities outlined in Note 1 Objectives of the Office of the Legislative Assembly. 
They are recorded as revenue on receipt. 

Capital injections are revenue received from the ACT Government to expand the Office’s artwork and 
library collections. Capital injections are recorded as equity contributions from owners. 

Column Heading Explanations 

The Original Budget column shows the amounts that appear in the Statement of Cash Flows in the Budget 
Papers. This amount also appears in the Statement Cash Flows. 

The Total Appropriated column is inclusive of all appropriation variations occurring after the Original 
Budget. 

The Appropriation Drawn is the total amount of appropriation received by the Office during the year. This 
amount appears in the Statement Cash Flows. 

Variances between ‘Original Budget’, ‘Total Appropriated’ and ‘Appropriation Drawn’. 

a) The appropriation drawn for controlled recurrent payments was $229,000 higher the prior year largely 
reflecting the indexation of administrative and employee related expenses of the Office. 

b) The appropriation drawn for capital injections was $78,000 lower than the prior year due to the 
completion of the Procedural Document Production System and the receipt of a one-off capital 
injection for the new enterprise bargaining agreement in 2018-19. 
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Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Controlled Note Index of the Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

Note 1  Objectives of the Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Note 2  Basis of Preparation of the Financial Statements 
   
 Income Notes 
Note 3  Grants and Contributions 
   
 Expense Notes 
  
Note 4  Employee Expenses 
Note 5  Superannuation Expenses 
Note 6  Supplies and Services 
Note 7  Depreciation and Amortisation 
   
 Asset Notes 
Note 8  Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Note 9  Plant and Equipment 
Note 10  Intangible Assets 
   
 Liability Notes 
Note 11  Payables 
Note 12  Employee Benefits 
   
 Other Notes 
Note 13  Financial Instruments 
Note 14  Commitments 
Note 15  Cash Flow Reconciliation 
Note 16  Budgetary Reporting 
Note 17  Related Party Disclosures 
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Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

NOTE 1. OBJECTIVES OF THE OFFICE OF THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY 

Operations and Principal Activities 

The Australian Capital Territory (Self-Government) Act 1988 [Commonwealth] (the Self-Government Act) 
established the Australian Capital Territory as a body politic under the Crown. The Self-Government Act 
stipulates that there shall be a Legislative Assembly for the ACT and gives the Assembly power to make laws 
for the peace, order and good government of the Territory. Provisions of the Self-Government Act also 
govern the constitution of the Assembly, its procedures and obligations. 

The Office of the Legislative Assembly (the Office) was established by the Legislative Assembly (Office of 
the Legislative Assembly) Act 2012 (the Act). Pursuant to section 5 of the Act, the Office consists of the Clerk 
and the staff of the Office. The Clerk is responsible for the management of the Office (section 10).  

Section 6 of the Act established the functions of the Office as being to provide impartial advice and support 
to the Legislative Assembly and its committees, and members of the Assembly. The Office also has the 
function of providing public education about the functions of the Assembly and committees and may 
exercise any other function given to it under the Act or another territory law. 

NOTE 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

LEGISLATIVE REQUIREMENT 

The Financial Management Act 1996 (FMA) requires the preparation of annual financial statements for 
ACT Government agencies. The FMA and the Financial Management Guidelines issued under the Act 
require the Office’s financial statements to include: 

(i) an Operating Statement for the year; 

(ii) a Balance Sheet as at the end of the year; 

(iii) a Statement of Changes in Equity for the year; 

(iv) a Statement of Cash Flows for the year; 

(v) a Statement of Appropriation for the year; 

(vi) the significant accounting policies adopted for the year; and 

(vii) other statements as necessary to fairly reflect the financial operations of the Office during the 
year and its financial position at the end of the year. 

These general-purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with: 

(i) Australian Accounting Standards (as required by the FMA); and 

(ii) ACT Accounting and Disclosure Policies. 
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Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

NOTE 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED 

IMPACT OF THE COVID-19 GLOBAL PANDEMIC ON THE OFFICE’S FINANCIAL RESULTS 

The Office has assessed the impact of the COVID-19 global pandemic on its Controlled and Territorial 
financial results. 

Controlled financial results 

The impact on the controlled entity has been minimal. Investment revenue is lower than budget and the 
prior year largely due to interest rates falling in a slowing economy. Other revenue is also lower than budget 
and the prior year as the Office closed its facilities for public bookings and cancelled education seminars. 
There has been an increase in cleaning costs as the Office has undertaken additional cleaning in high traffic 
areas of its buildings. None of these items have had a material impact on the operating result. There has 
been no impact on balance sheet items. 

Territorial financial results 

There has been no impact on the income and expenses in the territorial entity. The Office originally 
intended to have the Members Entrance Redesign project completed in 2019-20. However, the lead 
contractor on the project has encountered some delays with sourcing materials from overseas which has 
resulted in the project completion being delayed to 2020-21. The remaining funding to complete this 
project has also been rolled into the 2020-21 Budget to complete the capital works. 

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY - APPLICATION OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and AASB 1058 Income of Not for Profit Entities replaces 
AASB 118 Revenue, and AASB 1004 Contributions and related interpretations for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019 for not-for-profit-entities. 

The Office has adopted AASB 1058 to recognise its material revenue streams (income from appropriation 
and grants and contributions). There has been no impact to the balances in the Office’s financial statements 
from this change in accounting policy.  

AASB 16 Leases supersedes AASB 117 Leases and related interpretations for reporting periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2019. The impact on the Office’s financial statements from the adoption of AASB 16 
Leases has been immaterial, with right-of-use-assets (two executive vehicles) and lease liabilities of $26,000 
being recorded on the Balance Sheet. The Operating Statement impact of the adoption of AASB 16 was to 
remove operating lease payments for these vehicles from supplies and services and to record depreciation 
on the vehicles. These amounts were not material to either the Operating Statement or the Balance Sheet. 

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ISSUED WHICH ARE NOT YET EFFECTIVE 

The Office has reviewed the new and revised Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have been 
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board that are applicable to future reporting periods. The 
Office has assessed that these new and revised standards will have no impact on the Office’s operations 
and does not plan to adopt them early. 
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Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

NOTE 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED 

CONTROLLED AND TERRITORIAL ITEMS 

The Office produces Controlled and Territorial financial statements. The Controlled financial statements 
include income, expenses, assets and liabilities over which the Office has control. The Territorial financial 
statements include income, expenses, assets and liabilities that the Office administers on behalf of the 
ACT Government but does not control. 

The purpose of the distinction between Controlled and Territorial is to enable an assessment of the Office’s 
performance against the decisions it has made in relation to the resources it controls, while maintaining 
accountability for all resources under its responsibility. 

The basis of preparation described applies to both Controlled and Territorial financial statements except 
where specified otherwise. 

ACCRUAL ACCOUNTING 

The financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. The financial statements 
are prepared according to the historical cost convention, except for property, plant and equipment which 
are valued at fair value in accordance with (re)valuation policies applicable to the Office during the reporting 
period. 

CURRENCY 

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Office’s functional currency. 

INDIVIDUAL NOT-FOR-PROFIT REPORTING ENTITY 

The Office is an individual not-for-profit reporting entity. 

REPORTING PERIOD 

These financial statements state the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Office 
for the year ending 30 June 2020 together with the financial position of the Office at 30 June 2020. 

COMPARATIVE FIGURES 

(a) Budget Figures 

To facilitate a comparison with the Budget Papers, as required by the FMA, budget information for  
2019-20 has been presented in the financial statements. Budget numbers in the financial statements are 
the original budget numbers that appear in the Budget Papers.  

(b) Prior Year Comparatives 

Comparative information has been disclosed in respect of the previous period for amounts reported in the 
financial statements, except where an Australian Accounting Standard does not require comparative 
information to be disclosed.  

Where the presentation or classification of items in the financial statements is amended, the comparative 
amounts have been reclassified where practical. Where a reclassification has occurred, the nature, amount 
and reason for the reclassification is provided. 

The Office has applied the modified retrospective approach to the adoption of AASB 16 Leases and 
comparative information is not restated.  
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Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

NOTE 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED 
 

(c) Rounding 

All amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000). Use of 
“-” represents zero amounts or amounts rounded down to zero. 

ASSETS – CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT 

Assets are classified as current where they are expected to be realised within 12 months after the reporting 
date. Assets which do not fall within the current classification are classified as non-current. 

LIABILITIES – CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT 

Liabilities are classified as current where they are due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting 
date or the Office does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 
12 months after the reporting date. Liabilities which do not fall within the current classification are classified 
as non-current. 

NOTE 3. GRANTS AND CONTRIBUTIONS 

Accounting Policy for Grants and Contributions 

Goods and services received free of charge from ACT Government agencies are recorded as a revenue and 
expense in the Operating Statement at fair value. The revenue is separately disclosed under grants and 
contributions, with the expense being recorded in the line item to which it relates. Services that are received 
free of charge are only recorded in the Operating Statement if they can be reliably measured and would 
have been purchased if not provided to the Office free of charge. 

Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates – Grants and Contributions 

The Office has made a significant judgement in estimating the value of grants and contributions. The 
Legislative Assembly building is part of the Office’s Territorial operation. A section of this building is used by 
the Office’s committee and chamber support services. The office space is provided by the Office’s Territorial 
operation to its controlled operation free of charge. 

The Office has estimated the value of the office space provided free of charge primarily based on a valuation 
of the Legislative Assembly building prepared by an independent valuer. The estimation considers factors 
such as the net lettable area, assessed market rental and size of the area occupied by the Office. 

 
2020 

$’000 
2019 

$’000 
Revenue from ACT Government Entities   
Legislative Drafting Services a 235 292 
Legal Services 37 19 
Accommodation Rental 261 255 
Total Gains and Contributions 533 566 
   
a) Legislative drafting services are demand driven and are not predictable from year to year as they depend on the 

number of requests predominately made by members to the ACT Parliamentary Counsel’s Office. 
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Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

NOTE 3. GRANTS AND CONTRIBUTIONS - CONTINUED 

A breakdown of the total Legislative Drafting Services by recipient is provided below. 

  
2020 

$’000 
2019 

$’000 
 Recipient   
 Ms Cheyne 23 - 
 Ms Cody 9 - 
 Mr Coe 18 106 
 Mrs Jones 42 28 
 Ms Lawder 6 12 
 Ms Le Couteur 71 31 
 Ms Lee 9 - 
 Mr Parton 3 10 
 Mr Pettersson 30 18 
 Mr Rattenbury 4 14 
 Mr Wall 4 32 
 Other Members 2 31 
 Office of the Legislative Assembly 14 10 
 Total 235 292 

 

NOTE 4. EMPLOYEE EXPENSES 

Employee benefits include: 

• short-term employee benefits such as wages and salaries, annual leave loading, and applicable  
on-costs, if expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual 
reporting period in which the employees render the related services; 

• other long-term benefits such as long service leave and annual leave; and 

• termination benefits.  

On-costs include annual leave, long service leave, superannuation and other costs that are incurred when 
employees take annual leave and long service leave. 

(See Note 12: Employee Benefits for accrued wages and salaries, and annual and long service leave). 

 
2020 

$’000 
2019 

$’000 

Wages and Salaries  5,028 4,935 
Annual Leave Expense  431 458 
Long Service Leave Expense  216 245 
Workers’ Compensation Insurance Premium 29 32 
Other Employee Benefits and On-Costs 55 59 
Total Employee Expenses 5,759 5,729 
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Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

NOTE 5. SUPERANNUATION EXPENSES 

Accounting Policy for Superannuation 

Employees of the Office have different superannuation arrangements depending on the type of 
superannuation scheme available at the time of commencing employment, including both defined benefit 
and defined contribution superannuation scheme arrangements. 

For employees who are members of the defined benefit Commonwealth Superannuation Scheme (CSS) 
and Public Sector Superannuation Scheme (PSS), the Office makes employer superannuation contribution 
payments to the Territory Banking Account. The Office also makes productivity superannuation 
contribution payments on behalf of these employees to the Commonwealth Superannuation Corporation, 
which is responsible for administration of the schemes. 

For employees who are members of defined contribution superannuation schemes (the Public Sector 
Superannuation Scheme Accumulation Plan (PSSAP) and schemes of employee choice), the Office makes 
employer superannuation contribution payments directly to the employees’ relevant superannuation 
fund. 

All defined benefit employer superannuation contributions are recognised as expenses on the same basis 
as the employer superannuation contributions made to defined contribution schemes. The accruing 
superannuation liability obligations are expensed as they are incurred and extinguished as they are paid. 

Superannuation Liability Recognition 

For the Office employees who are members of the defined benefit CSS or PSS, the employer 
superannuation liabilities for superannuation benefits payable upon retirement are recognised in the 
financial statements of the Superannuation Provision Account.  

 
2020 

$’000 
2019 

$’000 
Superannuation Contributions to the Territory Banking Account a 536 431 
Productivity Benefit 58 61 
Superannuation Payments for the PSSAP 29 36 
Superannuation to External Providers b 341 298 
Total Superannuation Expenses 964 826 
 
a) The increase is largely attributable to an increase in the contribution rate for PSS members from 22.8% to 25.5% 

from 1 July 2019. 

b) The increase is mostly due to new staff joining fund of choice schemes and an increase in the contribution rate 
from 1 July 2019 from 10.75% to 11.0%. 

  

OFFICE OF THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY ANNUAL REPORT 2019-20108

200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   108200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   108 9/28/20   12:31 PM9/28/20   12:31 PM



Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

NOTE 6. SUPPLIES AND SERVICES 

Insurance 

Major risks are insured through the ACT Insurance Authority and reported below as Insurance Premium. The 
excess payable, under these arrangements, varies depending on each class of insurance held. 

Repairs and Maintenance 

Maintenance expenses which do not increase the service potential of an asset are expensed and included in the 
Building Management line item below. 

Rental Expenses 

Rental expenses consist of grants and contributions from the Territorial entity for Office staff being 
accommodated in the Assembly building and a standard non-specialised lease with ACT Property Group.  

 
2020 

$’000 
2019 

$’000 
Information Technology Running Costs a 884 786 
Building Management  798 786 
Rental Expenses 526 515 
Consultants, Contractors and Professional Services b 292 536 
Printing and Stationery 102 108 
Legal Services and Legislative Drafting c 272 311 
Staff Training and Services  69 100 
Recording and Transcription d 130 182 
Library Materials  69 63 
Insurance Premium 55 55 
Travel e  122 90 
Telephone 51 68 
Hospitality and Functions 16 27 
Internal and External Audit Fees f  65 58 
Advertising  31 29 
Assembly Broadcasting 61 54 
Other  77 94 
Total Supplies and Services 3,620 3,862 
 

a) Information technology running costs have increased in 2019-20 as the Office developed digital solutions to its 
workflows in the Parliamentary Services and Business Support branches. 

b) Consultants, Contractors and Professional Services were lower in 2019-20 as the prior year included consultants involved 
in the establishment of the ACT Integrity Commission. 

c) Legislative drafting services are received free of charge from the Justice and Community Safety Directorate. The services 
decreased in 2019-20 as it is demand driven by members of the Assembly and fluctuates from year to year  
(See Note 3 – Grants and Contributions). 

d) Recording and transcription services decreased in 2019-20 largely because the number of committee hearings fell 
following the onset of the COVID-19 global pandemic. 

e) The increase in travel was due to the attendance of several Members at programs conducted by the Commonwealth 
Parliamentary Association. 

f) External audit fees paid to the ACT Audit Office for the financial statements were $45,571 ($44,418 in 2018-19). No 
other services were provided by the ACT Audit Office. 
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Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

NOTE 7. DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION 

Accounting Policy for Depreciation and Amortisation 

Accounting Depreciation is applied to physical assets such as plant and equipment. Amortisation is used in 
relation to intangible assets. Heritage assets have an unlimited useful life and are therefore not depreciated. 

Plant and equipment including those under finance lease and leasehold improvements are depreciated over the 
estimated useful life of the assets or the unexpired period of the lease, whichever is the shorter. 

All depreciation is calculated after first deducting any residual values which remain for each asset. Amortisation 
is calculated on the useful life of the intangible assets. 

Depreciation/amortisation for non-current assets is shown in the table below. 

Class of Asset Depreciation/Amortisation 
Method 

Useful Life (Years) 

Plant and Equipment 
Right-of-Use Plant and Equipment 
Leasehold Improvements 
Intangibles - Computer Software 

Straight Line 
Straight Line 
Straight Line 
Straight Line 

 

2-20 
2 

10 
5 

 

 
2020 

$’000 
2019 

$’000 
Depreciation   
Plant and Equipment 132 144 
Right-of-Use Plant and Equipment 38 - 
Leasehold Improvements 150 149 
Total Depreciation 320 293 
 
Amortisation   
Intangible Assets 127 58 
Total Amortisation 127 58 
   
Total Depreciation and Amortisation 447 351 
 

NOTE 8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash at bank and cash on hand. 

 
2020 

$’000 
2019 

$’000 
Cash at Bank a 2,962 2,574 
Cash on Hand 1 1 
Total Cash 2,963 2,575 
   
Weighted Average Interest rate – Cash at Bank 1.52% 2.35% 
   
a) The increase in cash at bank is due to the Office recording an operating surplus rather than the predicted deficit. 
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Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

NOTE 9. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Accounting Policy for Plant and Equipment 

Included in plant and equipment are the following classes of assets - plant and equipment, leasehold 
improvements and heritage assets. 

• Plant and equipment includes office equipment, furniture and fittings and right-of-use assets. 

• Leasehold improvements include the fit-out of the tenancy in the North Building and the associated assets 
included at this site. 

• Heritage assets are defined as those non-current assets that the Territory intends to preserve indefinitely 
because of their unique historical, cultural or environmental attributes. A common feature of heritage assets 
is that they cannot be replaced, and they are not usually available for sale or for redeployment. Heritage 
assets held by the Office include an art and library collection. 

Acquisition and Recognition of Plant and Equipment 

Plant and equipment assets are initially recorded at cost. Where plant and equipment assets are acquired at no 
cost, or minimal cost, cost is its fair value as at the date of acquisition.  

Plant and equipment and leasehold improvements with a minimum value of $2,000 are capitalised. 

Measurement of Plant and Equipment After Initial Recognition 

Plant and equipment, leasehold improvements and heritage assets are measured at fair value. The fair value 
measurement of property, plant and equipment is discussed in Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates 
– Fair Value of Assets. 

Plant and equipment except for right-of-use assets, leasehold improvements and heritage assets are revalued 
every 3 years. However, if at any time management considers that the carrying amount of an asset materially 
differs from its fair value, then the asset will be revalued regardless of when the last valuation took place. Any 
accumulated depreciation relating to plant and equipment, leasehold improvements and heritage assets at the 
date of revaluation is written back against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated 
to the revalued amount of the asset. 

Right-of-use assets are initially measured at cost. After the commencement date, right-of-use assets are 
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated losses and adjusted for any re-measurement 
of the lease liability. 

Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates – Fair Value of Assets 

Furniture, plant and equipment (excluding audio visual and broadcasting equipment), artworks and other 
collectables were valued using the market approach that reflects recent transaction prices for similar assets and 
comparable sales in an active market. 

The library collection was valued using the market approach that reflects recent transaction prices for library 
assets in active and thinly traded markets.  

Leasehold improvements and plant equipment (audio visual and broadcasting equipment only) were valued using 
the cost approach that reflects the cost to a market participant to construct assets of comparable utility adjusted 
for obsolescence. The fair value of these items of plant and equipment is affected by the obsolescence of the 
assets and the consumption of their economic benefits over time. 

Valuation of Non-Current Assets 

Jones Lang LaSalle Advisory Services Pty Ltd performed revaluations of the Office’s land and building. All members 
of the valuation team are Certified Practising Valuers of the Australian Property Institute. The latest valuation 
was performed as at 30 June 2020. 
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Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

NOTE 9. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – CONTINUED 
 2020 

$’000 
2019 

$’000 
Plant and Equipment   
Plant and Equipment at Fair Value 738 1,140 
Less: Accumulated Depreciation - (285) 
 738 855 
   
Right-of-Use Plant and Equipment at Cost 64 - 
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (38) - 
 26 - 
Total Plant and Equipment 764 855 
   
Leasehold Improvements   
Leasehold improvements at Fair Value  829 1,197 
Less: Accumulated Depreciation - (299) 
Total Leasehold Improvement 829 898 
   
Heritage Assets   
Artwork and Other Collectables at Fair Value 821 784 
Library Collection at Fair Value 442 672 
Total Heritage Assets 1,263 1,456 
   
Total Plant and Equipment 2,856 3,209 
 

Reconciliation of Plant and Equipment 
The following table shows the movement of Plant and Equipment during 2019-20. 

 

Plant and 
Equipment 

$’000 

Leasehold 
Improvements 

$’000 

Heritage 
Assets 
$’000 

Total 
$’000 

Carrying Amount at the Beginning of the 
Reporting Period 855 898 1,456 3,209 

Additions 171 - 35 206 
Disposals - - - - 
Depreciation (170) (150) - (320) 
Revaluation (Decrement)/Increment (92) 81 (228) (239) 
Carrying Amount at the End of the Reporting 

Period 764 829 1,263 2,856 
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Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

NOTE 9. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – CONTINUED 

Reconciliation of Plant and Equipment 
The following table shows the movement of Plant and Equipment during 2018-19. 

 

Plant and 
Equipment 

$’000 

Leasehold 
Improvements 

$’000 

Heritage 
Assets 
$’000 

Total 
$’000 

Carrying Amount at the Beginning of the 
Reporting Period 953 1,047 1,422 3,422 

Additions 46 - 49 95 
Disposals - - (15) (15) 
Depreciation (144) (149) - (293) 
Carrying Amount at the End of the Reporting 

Period 855 898 1,456 3,209 
 
Fair Value Hierarchy 

The Office is required to classify plant and equipment into a Fair Value Hierarchy that reflects the significance 
of the inputs used in determining their fair value. The Fair Value Hierarchy is made up of the following three 
levels:  

• Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Office 
can access at the measurement date; 

• Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset 
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and 

• Level 3 – inputs that are unobservable for particular assets or liabilities. 

Details of the Office’s property, plant and equipment at fair value and information about the Fair Value 
Hierarchy as at 30 June 2020 are shown below. 

 
 Classification According to the Fair Value Hierarchy  

2020 

Level 1 
$’000 

Level 2 
$’000 

Level 3 
$’000 

Total 
$’000 

Plant and Equipment at Fair Value     

Plant and Equipment - 677 61 738 
Leasehold Improvements - - 829 829 
Heritage Assets - 821 442 1,263 
 - 1,498 1,332 2,830 
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Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

NOTE 9. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – CONTINUED 
 Classification According to the Fair Value Hierarchy  

2019 

Level 1 
$’000 

Level 2 
$’000 

Level 3 
$’000 

Total 
$’000 

Plant and Equipment at Fair Value     

Plant and Equipment - 584 111 695 
Leasehold Improvements - - 898 898 
Heritage Assets - 784 672 1,456 
 - 1,368 1,681 3,049 
 
Transfers Between Categories 

No assets have been reclassified in 2019-20. 

Valuation Techniques, Inputs and Processes 

Level 2 Valuation Techniques and Inputs 

Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates – Fair Value of Assets 

The Office has made the following significant estimates regarding the fair value of its assets. The fair value 
of assets is subject to management assessment between formal valuations. 

Valuation Technique: Plant and Equipment – (furniture and certain plant and equipment) and Heritage 
Assets – (artworks and other collectables) – the valuation technique used is the market approach that 
reflects recent transaction prices for similar assets and comparable sales in an active market. The valuation 
takes into account any known market impacts of COVID-19. There has not been a material impact on the 
fair value of assets. 

Inputs: Prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving comparable 
assets were considered. 

Level 3 Valuation Techniques and Significant Unobservable Inputs 

Valuation Technique: Heritage Assets – (library collection) the valuation technique used to value the library 
collection is the market approach that reflects recent transaction prices for library assets in active and 
thinly traded markets.  

Significant Unobservable Inputs: Heritage Assets – (library collection) due to the characteristics of the 
library collection, there was insufficient market evidence of directly comparable transactions to determine 
fair value. Reference was made to transactions with limited levels of comparability and adjusted by the 
valuer using professional judgement to take account of the differing characteristics. These adjustments 
were evaluated for reasonableness against academic and market research as well as the value for other 
library collection assets held by other entities. 

Valuation Technique: Plant and Equipment – (plant and equipment) were measured using the cost 
approach that reflects the cost to a market participant to construct assets of comparable utility adjusted 
for obsolescence. 

Significant Unobservable Inputs: Plant and Equipment – (plant and equipment) in determining the value of 
plant and equipment, regard was given to the age and condition of the assets, their estimated replacement 
cost and current use. This required the use of data internal to the Office. The fair value of plant and 
equipment is affected by the obsolescence of the assets and the consumption of their economic benefits 
over time. 

OFFICE OF THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY ANNUAL REPORT 2019-20114

200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   114200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   114 9/28/20   12:31 PM9/28/20   12:31 PM



Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

NOTE 9. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – CONTINUED 

Fair Value Measurements using Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3) 

  

2020 

Plant and 
Equipment 

$’000 

Leasehold 
Improvements 

$’000 

Heritage 
Assets 
$’000 

Total 
$’000 

Fair Value at the Beginning of the Reporting 
Period 111 898 672 1,681 

Additions  - - 5 5 
Depreciation (8) (150) - (158) 
Revaluation (Decrement)/Increment (42) 81 (235) (196) 
Fair Value at the End of the Reporting Period 61 829 442 1,332 
     

2019 

Plant and 
Equipment 

$’000 

Leasehold 
Improvements 

$’000 

Heritage 
Assets 
$’000 

Total 
$’000 

Fair Value at the Beginning of the Reporting 
Period 128 1,047 667 1,842 

Additions  - - 5 5 
Depreciation (17) (149) - (166) 
Fair Value at the End of the Reporting Period 111 898 672 1,681 
     

NOTE 10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Accounting Policy for Intangible Assets 

The Office’s intangible assets are comprised of externally acquired computer software for internal use. 
Externally acquired computer software is recognised and capitalised when: 

(i) it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the software 
will flow to the Office; 

(ii) the cost of the software can be measured reliably; and 
(iii) the acquisition cost is equal to or exceeds $50,000. 

Capitalised computer software has a finite useful life. Software is amortised on a straight-line basis over its 
useful life for a period not exceeding 5 years. Intangible Assets are measured at cost. 

 
2020 

$’000 
2019 

$’000 
Computer Software   
Externally Purchased Software   
Computer Software at Cost 684 684 
Less: Accumulated Amortisation (290) (163) 
Total Externally Purchased Software 394 521 
   
Total Computer Software  394 521 
   
Total Intangible Assets  394 521 
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NOTE 10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS – CONTINUED 

Reconciliation of Intangible Assets 

The following table shows the movement of the Intangible Assets. 

 2020 2019 
 $’000 $’000 
   

Carrying Amount at the Beginning of the Reporting Period 521 231 
Additions - 347 
Amortisation (127) (57) 
Carrying Amount at the End of the Reporting Period 394 521 
 

NOTE 11. PAYABLES 

Accounting Policy for Payables 

Payables are initially recognised at fair value based on the transaction cost and subsequent to initial 
recognition at amortised cost, with any adjustments to the carrying amount being recorded in the 
Operating Statement. All amounts are normally settled within 30 days after the invoice date. Payables 
include Trade Payables and Accrued Expenses.  

 2020 
$’000 

2019 
$’000 

Current Payables   

Trade Payables a 51 220 
Accrued Expenses 95 166 
Total Current Payables 146 386 
   
Total Payables 146 386 
 

 
a) Trade payables and accrued expenses were lower than the previous year mainly due to a whole-of-government 

change to payment terms from 30 days to 14 days as part of the economic stimulus response to the COVID-19 
global pandemic. This resulted in invoices being paid more quickly and hence less payables at year-end. 

 
Classification of ACT Government/Non-ACT Government Payables 
 2020 

$’000 
2019 

$’000 
Payables with ACT Government Entities   
Trade Payables 11 21 
Accrued Expenses 66 82 
Total Payables with ACT Government Entities 77 103 
   
Payables with Non-ACT Government Entities   
Trade Payables 40 199 
Accrued Expenses 29 84 
Total Payables with Non-ACT Government Entities 69 283 
   
Total Payables 146 386 
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NOTE 12. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

Accounting Policy for Employee Benefits 

Wages and Salaries 

Accrued wages and salaries are measured at the amount that remains unpaid to employees at the end of 
the reporting period. 

Annual and Long Service Leave – Office of the Legislative Assembly staff 

Annual and long service leave, including applicable on-costs that are not expected to be wholly settled 
before twelve months after the end of the reporting period when the employees render the related 
service, are measured at the present value of estimated future payments to be made in respect of services 
provided by employees up to the end of the reporting period.  

Consideration is given to the future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods 
of service. At the end of each reporting period, the present value of future annual leave and long service 
leave payments is estimated using market yields on Commonwealth Government bonds with terms to 
maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash flows. 

Annual leave liabilities have been estimated on the assumption they will be wholly settled within three 
years. In 2019-20, the rate used to estimate the present value of future: 

• Payments for annual leave is 100.9% (101.6% in 2018-19); and 

• Payments for long service leave is 113.6% (110.1% in 2018-19). 

The long service leave liability is estimated with reference to the minimum period of qualifying service. For 
employees with less than the required minimum period of seven years of qualifying service, the probability 
that employees will reach the required minimum period has been considered in estimating the provision 
for long service leave and applicable on-costs. 

The provision for annual leave and long service leave includes estimated on-costs. As these on-costs only 
become payable if the employee takes annual and long service leave while in-service, the probability that 
employees will take annual and long service leave while in-service has been considered in estimating the 
liability for on-costs. 

Annual leave and long service leave liabilities are classified as current liabilities in the Balance Sheet where 
there are no unconditional rights to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months. 
Conditional long service leave liabilities are classified as non-current because the Office has an 
unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite 
years of service. 

Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates – Employee Benefits 

Significant judgements have been applied in estimating the liability for employee benefits. The estimated 
liability for annual and long service leave requires a consideration of the future wage and salary levels, 
experience of employee departures, probability that leave will be taken in service and periods of service. 
The estimate also includes an assessment of the probability that employees will meet the minimum service 
period required to qualify for long service leave and that on-costs will become payable.  

The significant judgements and assumptions included in the estimation of annual and long service leave 
liabilities include an assessment by an actuary. The Australian Government Actuary performed this 
assessment in April 2019. The assessment by an actuary is performed every three years. However, it may 
be performed more frequently if there is a significant contextual change in the parameters underlying the 
2019 report. The next actuarial review is expected to be undertaken by early 2022. 

 
  

OFFICE OF THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY ANNUAL REPORT 2019–2020 117

200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   117200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   117 9/28/20   12:31 PM9/28/20   12:31 PM



Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

NOTE 12. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS – CONTINUED 

 
2020 

$’000 
2019 

$’000 
Current Employee Benefits   
Annual Leave 599 551 
Long Service Leave  1,465 1,353 
Accrued Salaries  93 44 
Total Current Employee Benefits  2,157 1,948 
   
Non-Current Employee Benefits   
Long Service Leave 102 119 
Total Non-Current Employee Benefits 102 119 
   
Total Employee Benefits 2,259 2,067 
   

 
2020 

$’000 
2019 

$’000 
Estimate of when Leave is Payable   
Estimated Amount Payable within 12 Months   
Annual Leave 345 429 
Long Service Leave 160 144 
Accrued Salaries 93 44 
Total Employee Benefits Payable within 12 Months 598 617 
   
Estimated Amount Payable after 12 Months   
Annual Leave 254 122 
Long Service Leave 1,407 1,328 
Total Employee Benefits Payable after 12 Months 1,661 1,450 
   
Total Employee Benefits 2,259 2,067 
 

At 30 June 2020, the Office employed 54.6 full time equivalent (FTE) staff (51.9 FTE staff at 30 June 2019). 

NOTE 13. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. 

The Office’s cash is held in floating interest rate arrangements and the Office has no financial liabilities 
subject to floating interest rates. Accordingly, the Office is exposed only to movements in interest receivable; 
it is not exposed to movements in interest payable. 

There have been no changes in risk exposure or processes for managing risk since last financial reporting 
period. 
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NOTE 13. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED 
Sensitivity Analysis 

A sensitivity analysis has not been undertaken for the interest rate risk of the Office as it has been 
determined that the possible impact on income and expenses or total equity from fluctuations in interest 
rates is immaterial.  

Credit Risk 

Cash is held with high credit quality financial institution (the Westpac Bank). The Office has assessed its credit 
risk for receivables and determined that high proportions are ACT Government agencies with strong credit 
worthiness. Remaining debtors are assessed as immaterial. 

There have been no changes in credit risk exposure since the last reporting period. 

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Office will encounter difficulties in meeting obligations associated with 
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. 

The Office’s main financial obligations relate to the purchase of supplies and services. These financial 
obligations are usually met within 30 days of receipt of a tax invoice or receipt of the goods and services. 

The main source of cash to pay these obligations is appropriation (Controlled Recurrent Payments) from the 
ACT Government, which is paid on a fortnightly basis during the year. The Office manages its liquidity risk 
through forecasting appropriation drawdown requirements to enable payment of anticipated obligations. 

The Office’s exposure to liquidity risk and the management of this risk have not changed since the previous 
reporting period.  

Price Risk 

Price risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
unit prices. The Office no longer has an exposure to price risk following the redemption of its investments in 
the Cash Enhanced Fund in 2018-19. 

 

NOTE 14. COMMITMENTS 

Other Commitments 

Other commitments contracted at reporting date that have not been recognised as liabilities are payable 
shown below. All amounts shown in the commitments note are inclusive of Goods and Services Tax. 

 2020 
$’000 

2019 
$’000 

Within one year 750 627 
Later than one year but not later than five years 242 307 
Total Other Commitments 992 934 
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NOTE 15. CASH FLOW RECONCILIATION 

a) Reconciliation of Cash at the End of the Reporting Period in the Statement of Cash Flows to the 
Equivalent Items in the Balance Sheet. 

 
2020 

$’000 
2019 

$’000 

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents Recorded in the Balance Sheet 2,963 2,575 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Reporting Period as 

Recorded in the Statement of Cash Flows 2,963 2,575 
   

b) Reconciliation of Operating Surplus/(Deficit) to Net Cash Inflows from Operating Activities 

 
2020 

$’000 
2019 

$’000 
Operating Surplus/(Deficit) 99 (46) 
   

Add/(Less) Non-Cash Items   
Depreciation of Plant and Equipment 320 293 
Amortisation of Intangible Assets  127 58 
Write-off of Non-Current Assets - 15 
   

Cash Before Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities 546 320 
   
Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities    
Decrease/(Increase) in Receivables 10 (5) 
(Increase) in Other Assets (5) (13) 
(Decrease)/Increase in Payables  (236) 93 
Increase/(Decrease) in Employee Benefits 192 (35) 
Net Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities (39) 40 
   
Net Cash Inflows from Operating Activities 507 360 
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NOTE 16. BUDGETARY REPORTING 

Significant Judgements and Estimates – Budgetary Reporting 

Significant judgements have been applied in determining what variances are considered as ‘major 
variances’. Variances are major variances if both of the following criteria are met:  

• The line item is a significant line item: where either the line item actual amount accounts for 
more than 10% of the relevant associated category (Income, Expenses and Equity totals) or more 
than 10% of the sub-element (e.g. Current Liabilities and Receipts from Operating Activities 
totals) of the financial statements; and  

• The variances (original budget to actual) are greater than plus (+) or minus (-) 2.5% and $500,000 
of the budget for the financial statement line item. 

 
Balance Sheet 

Line Items 
Actual 

 
2019-20 

$’000 

Original 
Budget 1 
2019-20 

$’000 

Variance 
 
 

$’000 

Variance 
 
 

% 

Variance Explanation 

 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,963 2,292 671 29.3 A higher balance was 
available at year-end due to 

lower than budgeted 
expenses during the year.  

Plant and Equipment 2,856 3,401 (545) (16.0) The asset revaluation 
decrement at 30 June 2020 

was not anticipated in the 
budget. 

Statement of Cash 
Flows Line Items 

     

Sale of Investments 
 
 
Purchase of Investments 
 

0 
 
 

0 

1,863 
 
 

1,675 

(1,863) 
 
 

(1,675) 

(100.0) 
 
 

(100.0) 

The budget numbers were 
not removed from the 

budget following the 
closure of the Cash 

Enhanced Fund account in 
November 2018. 

 

 

1 Original Budget refers to the amounts presented to the Legislative Assembly in the original budgeted 
financial statements in respect of the reporting period Budget Statements. These amounts have not been 
adjusted to reflect supplementary appropriation or appropriation instruments. 
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NOTE 17. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 

A related party is a person that controls or has significant influence over the reporting entity or is a member 
of the Key Management Personnel (KMP) of the reporting entity or its parent entity. It includes their close 
family members and entities in which the KMP or/and their close family members individually or jointly 
have controlling interests. 

KMP are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the entity, directly or indirectly. 

(a) Key Management Personnel 

(i) Details of compensation 

The Office is controlled by an Executive Management Committee comprising the Clerk of the Legislative 
Assembly and four other senior staff members. The Office does not have a Minister.  

Total Compensation for the Clerk and others assessed to be KMP of the Office is set out in the table below. 

 2020 
$’000 

2019 
$’000 

Short-term employee benefits 912 899 
Post-employment benefits 194 151 
Other long-term benefits 36 34 

Total Compensation to Key Management Personnel paid by the Office 1,142 1,084 

 

(ii) Transactions with KMP of the Office (i.e. the Clerk and other staff designated as KMP) 

There were no transactions with the KMP of the Office other than compensation provided above.  

(iii) Transactions with other related parties - KMP’s close family members and organisations in which 
the KMP and/or their close family members have controlling interests (individually or jointly) 

There were no transactions that occurred with KMP’s close family members and/or related entities that 
were material to the Office’s financial statements. 

(b) Transactions with ACT Government Controlled Entities 

Aggregate details of transactions with ACT Government agencies are found in various notes throughout 
the controlled and territorial financial statements. 
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Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Statement of Income and Expenses on Behalf of the Territory 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
Note 
No. 

Actual 
2020 

$’000 

Original 
Budget  

2020 
$’000 

Actual 
2019 

$’000 
Income     
Revenue     
Payment for Expenses on Behalf of the Territory  9,345 9,632 8,945 
Grants and Contributions  437 441 434 
Other Revenue  - - 6 
Total Revenue  9,782 10,073 9,385 
     
Total Income  9,782 10,073 9,385 
     
Expenses      
Employee Expenses 19 8,378 8,896 8,116 
Superannuation Expenses 20 1,006 962 937 
Supplies and Services 21 477 460 488 
Depreciation  604 1,214 561 
Total Expenses  10,465 11,532 10,102 
     
Operating (Deficit)  (683) (1,459) (717) 
 

Other Comprehensive Income 
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit 

or loss     
Increase in the Asset Revaluation Surplus  5,190 - - 
Total Other Comprehensive Income  5,190 - - 
     
Total Comprehensive Surplus/(Deficit)  4,507 (1,459) (717) 

 

 
The above Statement of Income and Expenses on Behalf of the Territory should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. 
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Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Statement of Assets and Liabilities on Behalf of the Territory 

As at 30 June 2020 

 
Note 
No. 

Actual  
2020 

$’000 

Original 
Budget  

2020 
$’000 

Actual  
2019 

$’000 
Current Assets     
Cash and Cash Equivalents  81 154 75 
Receivables  26 8 6 
Total Current Assets  107 162 81 
     
Non-Current Assets     
Property, Plant and Equipment 22 34,200 28,561 29,246 
Capital Works in Progress  523 - - 
Total Non-Current Assets  34,723 28,561 29,246 
     
Total Assets  34,830 28,723 29,327 
     
Current Liabilities     
Payables  10 100 65 
Employee Benefits 23 755 798 597 
     
Total Liabilities  765 898 662 
     
Net Assets  34,065 27,825 28,665 

     
Equity     
Accumulated Funds  15,957 14,907 15,747 
Asset Revaluation Surplus  18,108 12,918 12,918 
Total Equity  34,065 27,825 28,665 

     
The above Statement of Assets and Liabilities on Behalf of the Territory should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes.   

 
  

OFFICE OF THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY ANNUAL REPORT 2019–2020 125

200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   125200863 Assembly Annual Report_rev2.indd   125 9/28/20   12:31 PM9/28/20   12:31 PM



 

 
 

Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Statement of Changes in Equity on Behalf of the Territory 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
Accumulated 

Funds 

Asset 
Revaluation 

Surplus 
Total 

Equity Original 

  

Actual 
2020 

$’000 

Actual 
2020 

$’000 

Actual 
2020 

$’000 

Budget 
2020 

$’000 
      
Balance at 1 July 2019  15,747 12,918 28,665 27,856 
      

Comprehensive Income      
Operating (Deficit)  (683) - (683) (1,459) 
Increase in Asset Revaluation Surplus  - 5,190 5,190 - 
Total Comprehensive (Deficit)  (683) 5,190 4,507 (1,459) 
      

Transactions Involving Owners 
Affecting Accumulated Funds      

Capital Injections  893 - 893 1,428 
Total Transactions Involving Owners 

Affecting Accumulated Funds  893 - 893 1,428 
      
Balance at 30 June 2020  15,957 18,108 34,065 27,825 
 

  
Accumulated 

Funds 

Asset 
Revaluation 

Surplus 
Total 

Equity  

  

Actual 
2019 

$’000 

Actual 
2019 

$’000 

Actual 
2019 

$’000  
      
Balance at 1 July 2018  15,406 12,918 28,324  
      

Comprehensive Income      
Operating (Deficit)  (717) - (717)  
Total Comprehensive (Deficit)  (717) - (717)  

  
   

 

Transactions Involving Owners 
Affecting Accumulated Funds      

Capital Injections  1,058 - 1,058  
Total Transactions Involving Owners 

Affecting Accumulated Funds  1,058 - 1,058  
      
Balance at 30 June 2019  15,747 12,918 28,665  
 

The above Statement of Changes in Equity on Behalf of the Territory should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.   
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Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Statement of Cash Flows on Behalf of the Territory 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
Note 
No. 

Actual 
2020 

$’000 

Original 
Budget  

2020 
$’000 

Actual 
2019 

$’000 
Cash Flows from Operating Activities     
Receipts     
Cash from Government for Expenses on Behalf of the 

Territory  9,345 9,632 8,945 
Goods and Services Tax Credits  71 30 91 
Other  - - 6 
Total Receipts from Operating Activities  9,416 9,662 9,042 
     
Payments      
Employees  8,247 9,045 7,917 
Superannuation  995 551 933 
Supplies and Services  60 35 134 
Goods and Services Tax Paid to Suppliers  94 5 88 
Total Payments from Operating Activities  9,396 9,636 9,072 
Net Cash Inflows/(Outflows) from Operating 

Activities 25 20 26 (30) 
     
Cash Flows from Investing Activities     
Payments     
Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment  907 1,428 1,055 
Total Payments from Investing Activities  907 1,428 1,055 
Net Cash (Outflows) from Investing Activities  (907) (1,428) (1,055) 
     
Cash Flows from Financing Activities     
Receipts     
Capital Injections  893 1,428 1,058 
Total Receipts from Financing Activities  893 1,428 1,058 
Net Cash Inflows from Financing Activities  893 1,428 1,058 
     
Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and Cash 
Equivalents   6 26 (27) 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the 

Reporting Period  75 128 102 
     
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the 

Reporting Period 25 81 154 75 
     
The above Statement of Cash Flows on Behalf of the Territory should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.   
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Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Territorial Statement of Appropriation 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 

Original 
Budget 

2020 
$’000 

Total 
Appropriated 

2020 
$’000 

Appropriation 
Drawn 

2020 
$’000 

Appropriation 
Drawn 

2019 
$’000 

Expenses on Behalf of the Territory 9,632 9,632 9,345 a 8,945 
Capital Injections 1,428 1,428 893 b 1,058 
Total Territorial Appropriation 11,060 11,060 10,238 10,003 

     
The above Territorial Statement of Appropriation should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

     
Accounting Policy for Appropriations 

Expenses on Behalf of the Territory are received by the Office to fund expenses incurred on behalf of the 
Territory with the main expenses being the employee and superannuation costs of non-Executive 
Members and their staff. It is recognised as revenue on receipt. 

Capital injections are received from the ACT Government for capital works associated with the Assembly 
building. Capital injections are recorded as equity contributions. 

Column Heading Explanations 

The Original Budget column shows the amounts that appear in the Statement of Cash Flows in the Budget 
Papers. This amount also appears in the Statement of Cash Flows on Behalf of the Territory. 

The Total Appropriated column is inclusive of all appropriation variations occurring after the Original 
Budget. 

The Appropriation Drawn is the total amount, which was received by the Office during the year in 
Appropriation. These amounts appear in the Statement of Cash Flows on Behalf of the Territory. 

Variances between ‘Original Budget’, ‘Total Appropriated’ and ‘Appropriation Drawn’. 

a) The appropriation drawn for Expenses on Behalf of the Territory was $287,000 less than the total 
appropriated due mainly to non-Executive members not fully utilising their staff salary allocations. 

b) The appropriation drawn for Capital Injections was $535,000 less than the total appropriated due 
mainly to the delays associated with the Members Entrance Redesign project. This funding has been 
transferred to the 2020-21 financial year as part of the budget process. 
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Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

NOTE 18. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – TERRITORIAL 

The basis of preparation of the financial statements is contained in Note 2 Basis of Preparation of the 
Financial Statements and applies to both the Controlled and Territorial financial statements. The accounting 
policies outlined from Note 3 Grants and Contributions to Note 16 Budgetary Reporting apply equally to the 
Controlled and Territorial financial statements.  

GOING CONCERN 

At 30 June 2020, the Office’s Territorial current liabilities ($765,000) exceeded its Territorial current assets 
($107,000) by $658,000. However, this is not considered a liquidity risk as its cash needs are funded through 
appropriation by the ACT Government on a cash-needs basis. This is consistent with the whole-of-
Government cash management regime, which requires excess cash balances to be held centrally rather 
than within individual agency bank accounts. The 2019-20 Territorial financial statements have been 
prepared on a going concern basis as the Office has been funded for the 2020-21 financial year. 

NOTE 19. EMPLOYEE EXPENSES – TERRITORIAL 

 
2020 

$’000 
2019 

$’000 
Wages and Salaries 7,825 7,591 
Annual Leave Expense 348 359 
Long Service Leave Expense  97 103 
Workers’ Compensation Insurance 24 33 
Termination Expense a 48 5 
Other Employee Benefits and On-Costs 36 25 
Total Employee Expenses 8,378 8,116 
 
a) Several termination payments were paid to staff who ceased employment under Section 13(1) of the Legislative 

Assembly (Members’ Staff) Act 1989 compared to only one payment in the prior year. 

NOTE 20. SUPERANNUATION EXPENSES – TERRITORIAL 

 
2020 

$’000 
2019 

$’000 
Superannuation Contributions to the Territory Banking Account 127 102 
Productivity Benefit  7 7 
Superannuation Contributions paid to External Providers 872 828 
Total Superannuation Expenses 1,006 937 
 

NOTE 21. SUPPLIES AND SERVICES – TERRITORIAL 

 
2020 

$’000 
2019 

$’000 
Consultants, Contractors and Professional Services 40 54 
Building Management a 437 434 
Total Supplies and Services 477 488 
 
a) The corresponding amount appears as grants and contributions in the Statement of Income and Expenses on Behalf 

of the Territory. 
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Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

NOTE 22. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – TERRITORIAL 

Accounting Policy for Plant and Equipment – Territorial 

Property, plant and equipment includes the ACT Legislative Assembly building, building improvements and 
the land upon which the building sits. 

Major Cyclical Maintenance – Assembly Building 

The Office undertakes major cyclical maintenance on the Assembly building. Where the maintenance leads 
to an upgrade increasing the service potential of the existing building, the cost is capitalised. 

Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates – Fair Value of Assets 

Land and buildings have been valued at fair value using the capitalisation approach, discounted cash flow 
and market approach. The capitalisation approach and discounted cash flow converts future cash flows to 
a single current amount through an appropriate discount rate, having regard to current market 
expectations about those future amounts. The market approach considered transactions and pricing data 
that has occurred in the principal market in arriving at fair value. 

Valuation of Non-Current Assets 

Jones Lang LaSalle Advisory Services Pty Ltd performed revaluations of the Office’s land and building. All 
members of the valuation team are Certified Practising Valuers of the Australian Property Institute. The 
latest valuation was performed as at 30 June 2020. 

Depreciation 

Depreciation is applied to physical assets such as buildings and building improvements. All depreciation is 
calculated after first deducting any residual values which remain for each asset. 

Depreciation for non-current assets is shown in the table below. 

Class of Asset Depreciation Method Useful Life (Years) 
Buildings 
Building Improvements 

Straight Line 
Straight Line 

42 
25 

 
 
 

2020 
$’000 

2019 
$’000 

Land and Building   
Land at Fair Value 5,000 4,650 
Total Land Assets 5,000 4,650 
   
Building at Fair Value 29,200 23,850 
Less: Accumulated Depreciation  - (1,060) 
 29,200 22,790 
   
Building Improvements at Cost - 1,842 
Less: Accumulated Depreciation - (36) 
 - 1,806 
   
Total Building 29,200 24,596 
   
Total Land and Building 34,200 29,246 
   
Total Property, Plant and Equipment 34,200 29,246 
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Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

NOTE 22. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – TERRITORIAL - CONTINUED 

2019-20 Reconciliation of Property, Plant and Equipment 

The following table shows the movement of Property, Plant and Equipment. 

 
Land 

$’000 
Building 

$’000 
Total 
$’000 

Carrying Amount at the Beginning of the Reporting Period 4,650 24,596 29,246 
Revaluation Increment 350 4,840 5,190 
Additions  - 368 368 
Depreciation - (604) (604) 
Carrying Amount at the End of the Reporting Period 5,000 29,200 34,200 

2018-19 Reconciliation of Property, Plant and Equipment 

The following table shows the movement of Property, Plant and Equipment. 

 
Land 

$’000 
Building 

$’000 
Total 
$’000 

Carrying Amount at the Beginning of the Reporting Period 4,650 24,099 28,749 
Additions  - 1,058 1,058 
Depreciation - (561) (561) 
Carrying Amount at the End of the Reporting Period 4,650 24,596 29,246 

Fair Value Hierarchy 

The Office is required to classify property, plant and equipment into the level in the Fair Value Hierarchy 
that best reflects the significance of the inputs used in determining their fair value. The levels are: 

• Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
Office can access at the measurement date; 

• Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset 
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and 

• Level 3 – inputs that are unobservable for particular assets or liabilities. 

Transfers Between Categories 
All the Office’s property, plant and equipment is valued using Level 2 valuation techniques and inputs. 
There have been no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the reporting period. 

Level 2 Valuation Techniques and Inputs 

Valuation Technique: The capitalisation approach, discounted cash flow and market approach have been 
utilised to determine fair value. The capitalisation approach and discounted cash flow converts future cash 
flows to a single current amount through an appropriate discount rate having regard to current market 
expectations about those future amounts. The market approach considered transactions and pricing data 
that has occurred in the principal market in arriving at fair value. The valuation takes into account any 
known market impacts of COVID-19. There has not been a material impact on the fair value of assets. 
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Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

NOTE 22. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – TERRITORIAL - CONTINUED 

Inputs: Prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving comparable land 
and buildings were considered. Regard was given to: 

• the Crown Lease terms and tenure, the Australian Capital Territory Plan and the National Capital 
Plan, where applicable, as well as current zoning; 

• market cash flows from transaction of comparable assets, adjusted to reflect the expected 
circumstances that a market participant would take into consideration; and 

• market capitalisation rates as represented by the income produced by an investment property, 
expressed as a percentage and derived from recent market transactions. 

NOTE 23. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS – TERRITORIAL 

Accounting Policy for Employee Benefits - Territorial 

Annual and Long Service Leave – Legislative Assembly members’ staff 

Legislative Assembly members’ staff are employed under the ACT Legislative Assembly Members’ Staff 
Enterprise Agreement 2018-2021. Entitlements under this Agreement are the same as those for Office 
staff, therefore the accounting policy in Note 12 Employee Benefits applies equally to members’ staff, 
except as stated below. 

Under the ACT Legislative Assembly Members’ Staff Enterprise Agreement 2018-2021 employees may elect 
to receive an annual allowance instead of accruing long service leave. Most employees have chosen to 
receive this allowance. Employees who elect to accrue long service leave, whose employment is 
terminated otherwise than because of death, will receive payment for any pro-rata entitlement following 
the completion of one year of service. 

 
2020 

$’000 
2019 

$’000 
Current Employee Benefits   
Annual Leave a 531 442 
Long Service Leave  82 89 
Accrued Salaries b 142 66 
Total Current Employee Benefits 755 597 
   

Total Employee Benefits 755 597 
   

a) Annual leave has risen due to the increase in the number of full-time equivalent staff in 2020 referred to below.  

b) Due to the timing of the last pay fortnight in 2020, more days were accrued than in 2019. 

All employee leave entitlements and accrued salaries are payable within 12 months. 

As at 30 June 2020, the Office’s Territorial entity employed 46.7 full time equivalent (FTE) staff (41.3 FTE 
at 30 June 2019). 
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Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

NOTE 24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – TERRITORIAL 

Financial assets and liabilities are carried at amortised cost. The carrying amounts approximate fair value. 
They are non-interest bearing.  

The Office’s Territorial entity is not exposed to any interest rate, credit or price risk. 

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Office will encounter difficulties in meeting obligations associated with 
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. 

The Office can request additional appropriation (Payment for Expenses on Behalf of the Territory) in order 
to meet its Territorial payables. This ensures the Office has enough liquidity to meet is emerging financial 
liabilities. 

The Office’s exposure to liquidity risk and the management of this risk have not changed since the previous 
reporting period.  

NOTE 25. CASH FLOW RECONCILIATION – TERRITORIAL 
(a) Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Reporting Period in the Statement of 

Cash Flows on Behalf of the Territory to the Related Items in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities 
on Behalf of the Territory 

 
2020 

$’000 
2019 

$’000 
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents Disclosed on the Statement of Assets 

and Liabilities on Behalf of the Territory 81 75 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Reporting Period as 

Recorded in the Statement of Cash Flows on Behalf of the Territory 81 75 
   

(b) Reconciliation of the Operating (Deficit) to Net Cash Inflows/(Outflows) from Operating Activities 

 
2020 

$’000 
2019 

$’000 
   

Operating (Deficit) (683) (717) 
   

Add/(Less) Non-Cash Items   
   

Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment 604 561 
   

Cash Before Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities (79) (156) 
   

Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities    
(Increase) in Receivables (26) - 
(Decrease) in Payables (33) (40) 
Increase in Employee Benefits 158 166 
Net Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities 99 126 

   
Net Cash Inflows/(Outflows) from Operating Activities 20 (30) 
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Office of the Legislative Assembly 
Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

NOTE 26. BUDGETARY REPORTING – TERRITORIAL 

Significant Judgements and Estimates – Budgetary Reporting 

These same judgements and estimates disclosed in Note 16 Budgetary Reporting applies to this note. 

Statement of Assets and 
Liabilities on Behalf of The 

Territory Line Items 

Actual 
 

2019-20 
$’000 

Original 
Budget 1 
2019-20 

$’000 

Variance 
 
 

$’000 

Variance 
 
 

% 

Variance 
Explanation 

Property, plant and 
equipment 

34,200 28,561 5,639 19.7 The asset revaluation 
increase of the 

Assembly building was 
not included in the 

budget. 

Statement of Cash Flows 
on Behalf of the Territory 

Line Items 

     

Payments for Property, Plant 
and Equipment 
 
Capital Injections 

907 
 
 

893 

1,428 
 
 

1,428 

(521) 
 
 

(535) 

(36.5) 
 
 

(37.5) 

Payments for property, 
plant and equipment 
and capital injections 

were lower than 
budget due to delays in 

the completion of the 
Members Entrance 

Redesign project. 
 

 

1 Original Budget refers to the amounts presented to the Legislative Assembly in the original budgeted 
financial statements in respect of the reporting period Budget Statements. These amounts have not been 
adjusted to reflect supplementary appropriation or appropriation instruments. 
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